INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each original is also photographed in one exposure and is included in reduced form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

UMI

A Bell & Howell Information Company 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor MI 48106-1346 USA 313/761-4700 800/521-0600 ļ

Analyses of a genic male-sterile mutant in soybean

by

Wei Jin

A dissertation submitted to the graduate faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Plant Physiology

Major Professors: Harry T. Horner and Reid G. Palmer

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

1997

Copyright © Wei Jin, 1997. All rights reserved

UMI Number: 9814654

Copyright 1997 by Jin, Wei

All rights reserved.

UMI Microform 9814654 Copyright 1998, by UMI Company. All rights reserved.

This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

UMI 300 North Zeeb Road Ann Arbor, MI 48103

Graduate College Iowa State University

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation of

Wei Jin

has met the dissertation requirements of Iowa State University

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Committee Member

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Committee Member

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Committee Member

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Co-major Professor

Signature was redacted for privacy.

Co-major Professor

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Program

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

1

For my grandparents, parents, uncle, mother-in-law, and friends who have never failed to support me, encourage me and believe in me even when I did not. And for my husband, Patrick, and my daughter, Jane, who have sometimes patiently but always lovingly put up with me for over four and half years and are teaching me what is important in life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
Dissertation Organization	1
Project Goals	2
Literature Review	2
References	23
CHAPTER 2. GENETICS AND CYTOLOGY OF A NEW GENIC MALE-STER	ILE
SOYBEAN [GLYCINE MAX (L.) MERR.]	43
Abstract	43
Introduction	44
Materials and Methods	45
Results	49
Discussion	61
Acknowledgments	67
References	67
CHAPTER 3. MOLECULAR MAPPING OF A MALE-STERILE GENE	
IN SOYBEAN	72
Abstract	72
Introduction	73
Materials and Methods	75
Results	78
Discussion	79
Acknowledgments	83
References	83
CHAPTER 4. ANALYSIS AND MAPPING OF GENE FAMILIES ENCODING	
β-1,3-GLUCANASES OF SOYBEAN	89
Abstract	89
Introduction	90
Materials and Methods	92
Results	95
Discussion	101
Acknowledgments	112
Keterences	112

CHAPTER 5. GENETIC MAPPING OF THE FR1 (ROOT FLUORESCENCE)	
LOCUS IN SOYBEAN [GLYCINE MAX (L.) MERR.] USING SSR MARKERS	
AND BULKED SEGREGANT ANALYSIS	117
Abstract	117
Introduction	118
Materials and Methods	120
Results	122
Discussion	124
Acknowledgments	127
References	132
CHAPTER 6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	137
APPENDIX: PATENT APPLICATION	140
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	158

J

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Dissertation Organization

This dissertation consists of a general introduction (Chapter 1), four individual manuscripts (Chapters 2, 3, 4, and 5) and general conclusions (Chapter 6). Chapter 1 outlines and introduces the project goals and literature review. Chapter 2 documents the genetics and development of a new genic male-sterile soybean mutant, and examines the possible mechanism of male sterility. This mutant is controlled by a single recessive gene, which is not allelic to any of the known malesterile genes. Male sterility is caused by the retention of callose during microsporogenesis. This manuscript has been published in Sexual Plant Reproduction 10: 13-21, 1997. Permission has been granted from Springer-Verlag to include this copyrighted material in the dissertation. The manuscript presented as Chapter 3 involves molecular mapping of the male-sterility gene and will be submitted to Crop Science. The manuscript presented as Chapter 4 involves a detailed cloning, classification, sequencing, and mapping of β -1,3-glucanase gene families in soybean. This manuscript will be submitted to The Proceedings of National Academy of Science USA. The manuscript presented as Chapter 5 deals with molecular mapping of the Fr1 (root fluorescence) locus by bulked segregant analysis and will be submitted to Theoretical and Applied Genetics. Chapter 6 summarizes the entire male sterility project.

Project Goals

The male-sterile mutant was obtained from Midwest Oilseeds, Inc., through a grant to H. T. Horner and R. G. Palmer. The mutant was considered to be cytoplasmic male sterile. The mutant has high seed set compared to other known genic male-sterile soybean mutants. High seed set is a very important feature in considering male-sterile systems for hybrid seed production.

Therefore, goals of this dissertation were: 1) to study this male-sterile mutant genetically, i.e. to determine if this mutant was a cytoplasmic male sterile or a genic male sterile; 2) to study the biological mechanism of male sterility; 3) to determine the genomic location of the male-sterile gene; 4) to understand the molecular basis for male sterility; and 5) to isolate the candidate gene for male sterility. Results obtained from these studies might lead to the identification of the ms gene and its biochemical process that is responsible for male sterility.

Literature Review

Male Sterility

Male sterility in plants is an important agronomic phenomenon of particular value when breeding for hybrid vigor (heterosis). In higher plants, normal pollen development can be disrupted in a variety of ways that cause male sterility. Nuclear gene mutations affecting male cell development are designated as genic male sterile (gms). Most of them are recessive, and expressed in sporophytic tissues. A large number of independent nuclear gene mutations which result in male sterility have

been identified in many plant species. For example, there are about 60 nuclear genes that affect male fertility for maize, 55 for tomato, 48 for barley, 24 for pea, 12 for pepper, 10 for cotton, 6 for soybean, and 4 for rice (for a review, see Horner and Palmer, 1995). The other form of male sterility is called cytoplasmic male sterility (cms), which is caused by cytoplasmic gene mutations (Laser and Lersten, 1972; Levings, 1993, Williams and Levings, 1992). This type of sterility is maternally inherited and generally leads to complete sterility under normal environmental conditions.

Mechanisms of Male Sterility

General mechanisms

Nuclear male-sterile mutants have been observed in more than 175 plant species. Even more have been obtained by using mutagens (Kaul, 1988). The many loci identified and their phenotypic diversity indicate that male fertility is a complex developmental process involving many types of tissue and the coordination of a large number of genes. These include the formation of stamens from the meristem; the development of pollen in the anther locules; the timely release of pollen; and finally, the interaction of the male and female gametes to attain fertilization. Mutations can be obtained that disrupt any of these processes, giving rise to male-sterile plants. For example, stamens that are either not formed or formed abnormally will result in male sterility (structural ms, Johns et al., 1981); the filament and anther development are normal, but the abnormalities may occur during microsporogenesis or microgametogenesis, which result in male sterility (sporogenous ms, Kaul, 1988); or pollen is produced but is either not released from

the anther or is unable to reach the stigma and initiate fertilization (functional ms, Kaul, 1988). In this dissertation, the emphasis is on the sporogenous ms.

Successful pollen development comprises three major developmental stages; sporogenesis, or the differentiation of the sporogenous cells and meiosis, the postmeiotic development of free microspores, and microspore mitosis (McCormick, 1993). Any abnormality in these processes can lead to male sterility. Sporogenesis takes place inside anther locules. The tapetum is the innermost layer of the anther wall. The tapetal cells are closely associated with the cells of the sporogenous layer (Mariani et al., 1990). The tapetum plays important roles in microspore development (Echlin, 1971): it provides nutrients for the developing microspores and pollen; it produces sporopollenin which is deposited on the outer walls of the released microspores (Mascarenhas, 1990); and it produces the enzyme callase which degrades the callose walls of the microspore tetrads that are the products of meiosis. After the microspores are released from the tetrads, sporopollenin produced by the tapetum is deposited on the thin walls of the released microspores. Tapetaly derived material, such as flavonols also are deposited on the walls of the microspores and pollen, and are thought to be important for microspore/pollen wall development, pollen germination, and pollen-stigma interactions (Mo et al., 1992). Many authors suggest that disruption in one or more of these process could interfere with microspore and pollen development, and release of the pollen from the anthers (Shivanna et al., 1997) that would lead to male sterility. The sporogenous malesterile mutants are likely to define genes that trigger the archesporial cells to become sporogenous; some of these genes are likely to define members of

transduction chains that initiate sporogenesis. Genes required for the function of tapetum and male-specific meiosis are likely to constitute the vast majority of the sporogenous male-fertility genes. A large number of tapetum- and anther-specific genes already have been isolated based on their tissue-specific expression in tapetum or pollen (Goldberg et al., 1993; McCormick, 1993; Twell et al., 1990). By making a construct of the promoters of these tissue-specific genes with reporter genes such as GUS, an in vivo system for testing the function of these male-fertility genes can be constructed.

In several crops including tomato (Stevens and Rick, 1986), corn (Coe et al., 1987), and soybean (Graybosch and Palmer, 1988) and experimental systems [e.g., *Arabidopsis* (Chaudhury, 1993; Dawson et al., 1993)], a large number of ms mutants with defects at various stages of microsporogenesis have been identified. In most ms systems, microspore abortion occurs between meiosis and the final maturation stages; however, breakdown at premeiotic stages also is known to occur (Bhandari, 1984; Kaul, 1988; Laser and Lersten, 1972).

Soybean male-sterile mutants

Genic male sterility has been used in some soybean breeding studies (Brim and Stuber, 1973; Lewers et al; 1996; Lewers and Palmer, 1997), but so far it has not been used for commercial production of hybrid seed because large quantities of hybrid seed cannot be produced. Six genic male-sterile mutations (*ms*1, *ms*2, *ms*3, *ms*4, *ms*5, and *ms*6) have been reported in soybean (Palmer et al., 1992). All of these are nuclear gene mutations and inherited as monogenic recessive traits. All genic-male sterile mutations, except *ms*5, arose spontaneously in field plantings or

breeding populations. The *ms*5 mutation was induced through mutagensis (Buss, 1983). A cytoplasmic male-sterile mutation has been reported but not confirmed in soybean (Sun et al., 1994).

Studies on the genetics and developmental reproductive biology of most of the soybean mutants have been reviewed (Graybosch and Palmer, 1988; Palmer et al., 1992). In soybean, male sterility may result from dysfunction of either the tapetum or the reproductive cells, or both. For the *ms1 ms1* mutant, male sterility is caused by the absence of cytokinesis resulting in the production of quadrinucleate microspores. These quadrinucleate cells produce walls of sporopollenin and engorge with reserve materials in the same fashion as viable pollen grains. However, these modified pollen grains are not released readily from the anther (Albertsen and Palmer, 1979).

The process of postmeiotic cytokinesis also is influenced by the *ms4* mutation, but pollen wall differentiation is abnormal as well (Delannay and Palmer, 1982; Graybosch and Palmer, 1985b). In soybean mutants *ms*2 (Graybosch and Palmer, 1985a), *ms*3 (Palmer et al., 1980; Buntman and Horner, 1983), and ms (Jin et al., 1997), male sterility is due to abortion of microspores caused by failure of callose dissolution at the tetrad stage. There are several studies in other species which indicate that male sterility was due to failure of callose dissolution at the proper stage (Eschrich, 1961; Frankel et al., 1969; Izhar and Frankel, 1971; Mepham and Lane, 1969; Stieglitz and Stern, 1973; Tsuchiya et al., 1995; Warmke and Overman, 1972; Worrall et al., 1992). Therefore, the association between callose dissolution and tapetum is an important factor causing male sterility. Mutation at the soybean

*ms*6 locus affected the proper differentiation and function of the primary tapetal layer. In male-sterile *ms*6 *ms*6 plants, all layers of the anther wall including the epidermis, endothecium, and the two parietal layers, expressed cell hypertrophy, and degenerated tapetal cells were still present in mature anthers. Subsequently, tapetum malfunction leads to microspore degeneration at the tetrad stage (Skorupska and Palmer, 1989).

Cloning of Male-Sterility Genes

Although some aspects of the function of the ms gene products can be inferred from genetic studies, a molecular understanding of their biochemical functions must await molecular cloning. Two different strategies have been used to clone the malefertility gene, map-based cloning and gene tagging. Four genes have been isolated that produce a male-sterile phenotype when mutated, but their gene products do not provide obvious clues to the roles that these genes play during pollen development. For example, Moffatt and Somerville (1988) isolated an adenine phosphoribosyl transferase (aprt-) Arabidopsis mutant, but how a lesion in a nucleic acid salvage pathway disrupts pollen development is unclear. The ms2 gene (isolated by gene tagging) from Arabidopsis contains a small region homologous to a wheat mitochrondrial ORF (Aarts et al., 1993), but no function has been ascribed to this mitochondrial region or to the gene product of the ms2 gene. Later study (Aarts et al., 1997) showed that it is also similar to a protein of 493 amino acids encoded by the jojoba (Simmondsia chinensis) fatty acyl reductase (JJFAR) gene (Metz et al., 1994). The enzyme is involved in reduction of fatty acyl groups to fatty alcohol groups, this may be one of the steps in the formation of sporopollenin. In maize, a

male-sterile gene designated *Ms45* was cloned (transposon tagging) (Albertsen et al., 1996) that showed 33% homology, over 256 amino acids, with strictosidine synthase. Although the action of strictosidine synthase in the indole alkaloid pathway is understood, it is not clear whether or how indole sythesis might be involved in pollen development. Gorman et al. (1996) identified a YAC clone with an insert size of ~610 Kb that contains the *ms*14 gene in tomato. All of these examples serve to illustrate the complexities of male gametophyte development. Therefore, it probably will be necessary to isolate and characterize a large number of male-sterile gene products in order to develop a comprehensive understanding of the sporophytic contribution(s) to pollen development, and the functional roles of malefertility genes.

Map-based cloning is a reasonable strategy for isolation of male-sterile genes in soybean since the technique requires only that the target gene has a clear phenotype and that its position on a genetic map be known. Map-based cloning has been used successfully to isolate target genes from *Arabidopsis* (Arondel et al., 1992; Bent et al., 1994; Giraudat et al., 1992; Putterill et al., 1995) and tomato (Gorman et al., 1996; Martin et al., 1993). This technique involves identifying markers closely linked to the target locus, determining the physical genetic relationship (Kb/cM) in the target region, isolating clones that contain the locus from a large insert library and confirming the locus by complementation of the recessive phenotype with the dominant allele. Thus identification of markers closely linked to the target cloning.

Molecular Mapping

Molecular markers

Many types of DNA markers have been developed and applied in genetic studies. RFLP (Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms) uses restriction enzymes to cut DNA into small fragments of different lengths. The different sizes of fragments can be separated by gel electrophoresis (Southern, 1975). This size difference is called a polymorphism (Kochert, 1994). Variation in the sizes of allelic DNA fragment(s) results from loss or gain of a restriction site, due to point mutations, deletions, insertions, translocations, unequal crossing over, or replication slippage (Kochert, 1994; Lavi et al., 1994). There are advantages to RFLP markers; for example, they are codominant markers, and detectable in all tissues and at all developmental stages, but analysis requires considerable labor-intensive isolation of DNA suitable for DNA blot analysis.

RAPD (Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA) employs random DNA primers in polymerase chain reactions (PCR) to rapidly generate polymorphic markers that can be used to create genetic linkage maps. RAPDs are scored for the presence or absence of a single allele, and are usually dominant markers. The advantages of RAPD markers are technically simple, quick to perform, require only a small amount of DNA, and involve no radioactivity (Waugh and Powell, 1992). But RAPD is not as dependable as other markers because of poor reproducibility.

SCARs (Sequence Characterized Amplified Regions) are generated by cloning and sequencing RAPD fragments or other DNA fragments of interest, and designing specific primers that are complementary to the ends of the original RAPD or other

DNA fragments (Paran et al., 1993). SCARs may be dominant polymorphisms (one fragment amplified) or may show codominant polymorphisms.

SSR (Single Sequence Repeat), or microsatellite DNAs, are short segments of DNA consisting of a small number of repeated nucleotide sequences such as (CA)n, (AAT)n, and (AGAT)n (Tautz and Renz, 1984). Polymorphisms result from different numbers of tandem repeats of a core DNA sequence. SSR combines the advantages of the other markers, highly polymorphic, single locus markers, which are very abundant (Wang et al., 1994), reproducible, and easily amenable to genetic analysis (Lavi et al., 1994; Morgante and Olivieri, 1993).

The technique of AFLPs (Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphisms) is similar to that used in RFLP analysis (Lin and Kuo, 1995; Zabeau and Voss, 1992) but it is PCR based. Because each locus is represented by the presence or absence of one band, AFLP is a dominant marker.

The technical difficulty, reliability, level of polymorphism, marker inheritance, and amount of DNA required of the molecular markers have been compared (Andersen and Fairbanks, 1990; Beckmann and Soller, 1986; Rafalski and Tingey, 1993a; Walton, 1993; Waugh and Powell, 1992). Different types of markers complement each other. Therefore, the combined use of various types of markers is helpful.

Importance of mapping a gene

Genetic mapping allows study of any morphological, physiological, or developmental process in which genetic variants exist (Paterson and Wing, 1993). Genetic mapping provides information about the number of genes influencing a trait, the locations of genes on the chromosomes, and the effects of variation in dosage of these genes. The availability of molecular markers tightly linked to the ms gene should provide plant breeders with an efficient method for rapid transfer of the ms gene to elite soybean germplasm. Molecular marker-assisted selection (MAS) may be especially useful for the traits that are difficult to detect, such as male sterility. Male-sterile genes have been mapped in rice (Subudhi et al., 1997; Wang et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 1994) and tomato (Gorman et al., 1996). Finally, mapping a gene is the first step toward "map-based cloning" of genes responsible for specific phenotypes.

Mapping simply-inherited traits

The chromosomal location of a mutation is determined by identifying nearby genetic markers which are co-transmitted from parent to progeny with the mutated gene. Mapping genes is very time consuming and labor-intensive. In recent years, several approaches have been developed to simplify and accelerate the mapping of discrete mutations with molecular markers. One early approach, was the use of "near-isogenic lines" (NIL), which were created by plant breeders, often for the purpose of introducing a valuable gene from a wild species to a crop plant. NILs are developed by backcrossing, e.g. crossing a "donor genotype" carrying a specific trait of interest to a "recipient" with generally desirable attributes. By recurrently selecting for the trait of interest, and repeatedly crossing to the recipient, donor chromatin is progressively eliminated except for a small amount which is closely-linked to the trait under selection. By comparing the backcross-derived stock to the original recurrent parent, one can determine the likely location of the target gene simply by identifying

DNA markers that reveal the donor allele in the backcross-derived stock (Young et al., 1988).

Although near-isogenic lines are efficient mapping tools, they require many breeding cycles to produce. A molecular approach called "Bulked Segregant Analysis" (BSA) provides a faster alternative (Michelmore et al., 1991; Giovannoni et al., 1991). The principle of DNA pooling strategies is the grouping of informative individuals together so that a particular genomic region can be studied against a randomized genetic background of unlinked loci. The first example of this approach involved genes for resistance to lettuce downy mildew (Michelmore et al., 1991). Use of BSA to map genes minimizes the number of independent DNA samples which must be analyzed, and simultaneously provides information on polymorphisms between the parents and possible linkage between a marker and targeted gene. This process can reduce cost by several-fold, particularly when used with PCRbased markers.

DNA pooling can be very useful even when the location of the gene already is known. Map-based cloning of a gene is aided by having a large number of different DNA markers near the gene, to pinpoint it to as small a region as possible. One can use DNA markers flanking the gene to develop alternative DNA pools with different genotypes near the gene, thereby targeting a search of additional DNA markers to a very specific chromosomal region.

Soybean molecular mapping

Several molecular genetic maps have been constructed in soybean (Apuya et al., 1988; Lark et al., 1993; Rafalski and Tingey, 1993b; Shoemaker et al., 1997).

Many traits have been identified and mapped with molecular markers since then. Examples are phytophthora resistance (Diers et al., 1992a; Polzin et al., 1994b), root fluorescence (*Fr2*) (Devine et al., 1993), cyst nematode resistance (Concibido et al., 1994; Webb et al., 1995; Weisemann et al., 1992), mosaic virus resistance (Yu et al., 1994), nodulation (Landau-Ellis et al., 1991; Polzin et al., 1994a), mildew resistance (Polzin et al., 1994a), linolenic acid content (Brummer et al., 1995), palmitic acid content (Nickell et al., 1994), hard seediness (Keim et al., 1990), seed protein and oil contents (Diers et al., 1992b; Lark et al., 1994; Mansur et al., 1993), fatty acid content (Diers and Shoemaker, 1992), and iron-deficiency chlorosis (Diers et al., 1992c). However, none of the male-sterile genes have been mapped in soybean.

β -1,3-Glucanase

 β -1,3-glucanases are involved in the breakdown and turnover of β -linked glucans which are very important from both basic and applied research perspectives. They are involved in various important physiological processes, such as microspore development, seed germination, cell growth, and defense against pathogens (Abeles et al., 1971; Ballance et al., 1976; Bucciaglia and Smith, 1994; Chang et al., 1992; Cote et al., 1991; Fry, 1989). They are expressed in many tissues in both spatialand temporal-specific manners. The wide-spread, complex, and varied expression patterns suggest that β -1,3-glucanases are involved in other unidentified physiological processes. As β -1,3-glucanases are major components of plant cell walls, it is likely that β -1,3-glucanases are involved in many physiological roles, since

any process that might involve altering the structure and function of cell walls could involve β -1,3-glucanases.

The β -1,3-glucanases are regulated by numerous growth regulators (e.g., gibberellin, auxin, cytokinin, ethylene, and abscisic acid) (Felix and Meins, 1986; Mohnen et al., 1985) and pathogen attack (fungal, bacterial, and viral), biotic elicitors (e.g., pathogen extracts, lipids, β -glucans, and salicylic acid), abiotic elicitors (e.g., mercury ions and ozone), and wounding. These diverse forms of regulation apparently reflect the diversity of roles in which β -1,3-glucanases are involved.

The β-1,3-glucanases belong to large gene families, some of which have been well characterized in tobacco and several other species. The gene families can be subdivided into five broad categories based upon protein isoelectric point, expression pattern, and sequence similarity (Bucciaglia and Smith, 1994; Linthorst et al., 1990; Ori et al., 1990; Payne et al., 1990; Shinshi et al., 1988; Van den Bulcke et al., 1989). The best characterized class containing the basic isoforms, is induced by either pathogen infection or ethylene treatment, exhibits developmental regulation (Felix and Meins 1986), and appears to be localized primarily in the vacuole of the cell (Van den Bulcke et al., 1989; Koltunow et al., 1990). RNAs of this class accumulate in mature leaves and roots and in response to pathogen invasion (reviewed by Linthorst, 1991). The role of these genes in the plant defense response or development has not been determined, although the gene products can inhibit the growth of fungi (Mauch et al., 1989).

The second class of β -1,3-glucanases, which includes the pathogenesis-related proteins PR-2, PR-N, PR-O, and PR-35 (Kaufmann et al., 1987; Van den Bulcke et al., 1989), also is induced by pathogens and appears to be localized in the extracellular space (Ward et al., 1991). These gene products do not accumulate in healthy leaves but are induced in response to pathogen invasion.

The third class of β -1,3-glucanases, which includes the pathogenesis-related protein PR-Q' (Payne et al., 1990), also is induced by pathogens and appears to be localized in the extracellular compartment. The fourth class of β -1.3-glucanases is acidic, sp41a and sp41b, accumulating to high levels in the transmitting tract of the style and is not pathogen inducible (Ori et al., 1990).

The fifth class of β -1,3-glucanase, is a secreted, acidic anther β -1,3-glucanase and seems to be expressed in the tapetum (Bucciaglia and Smith, 1994) and is involved in dissolution of callose around the tetrads.

A related gene family of monocots, the β -1,3; 1,4-glucanases, encodes proteins similar to β -1,3-glucanases. In barley, these proteins are produced in the scutellum and aleurone of germinating seeds, where they catalyze the hydrolysis of a β -1,3; 1,4-glucan, a major component of endosperm cell walls (Fincher et al., 1986).

In addition to the previous classification system, β -1,3-glucanases also are classified into two groups depending on the nature of their enzymatic action on β -1,3-glucans. Endoglucanases cleave the substrate into short-chain, reducing sugars whereas exoglucanases hydrolysis release single glucose units. These different end

products are the basis of assays, which can distinguish between endo- and exoglucanase activities.

β -1,3-glucans

As β -1,3-glucanases hydrolyze β -1,3-glucans, it is obvious that information about β -glucans is highly relevant. The β -1,3-glucans are found in various forms and major components of plant cell walls. The β -1,3-glucans are macromolecular carbohydrates composed principally of glucosyl residues linked by β -glycosidic bonds. β -glucan, sometimes called callose, has only β -1,3-linkages. β -glucan accumulation is developmentally, spatially, and environmentally regulated, and it functions in a variety of physiological processes (reviewed by Stone, 1984).

β -1,3-glucanases involved in flowering

 β -1,3-glucanases are expressed in various floral tissues. Several of them which are involved in flowering, originally were identified as stress related due to their structural and enzymatic similarities to stress-related β -1,3-glucanases (Neale et al., 1990). Some β -1,3-glucanases are expressed specifically in the flowers, such as the one expressed in anthers and it is involved in release of microspore tetrads (Bucciaglia and Smith, 1994), and sp41, which is expressed in the pistil (Lotan et al., 1989; Ori et al., 1990).

β-1,3-glucanases and microspore development

During microspore development, microsporocytes undergo meiosis to form tetrads of haploid microspores. In all higher plants the tetrad of microspores is surrounded by a callose wall, a β -1,3-glucan polymer. As meiosis occurs, callose

also accumulates along the cellular plates until each individual microspore of the tetrad is enclosed in a thick callose wall. The proposed functions of the callose walls are: 1) chemical isolation of the developing gametes from sporophytic tissue (Heslop-Harrison and Mackenzie, 1967); 2) mechanical isolation of the meiocytes and tetrads (Waterkeyn and Bienfait, 1970); 3) protection from environmental and osmotic stress (Bhandari, 1984); and 4) providing a surface upon which the outerwall, or exine, is assembled (Waterkeyn and Bienfait, 1970). Degraded callose also could provide a source of glucose for postmeiotic development. At a critical developmental stage, the callose is degraded by the β -1,3-glucanases (Frankel et al., 1969) which are secreted by the tapetal cells (Stieglitz and Stern, 1973). The microspores then are released into the anther locule and eventually develop into pollen grains (for review, see McCormick, 1993). The build-up of callose around the microsporocytes and tetrads and its subsequent rapid dissolution is one of the most cytologically dramatic, and clearly distinguishable events in microsporogenesis. The developmental importance of correct expression of β -1,3-glucanase is underscored by the occurrence of mutants where premature or delayed callase activity results in microspore abortion and male sterility. The timing of β -1,3-glucanase activity seems to be critical for the normal development of microspores (Frankel et al., 1969). Premature breakdown of callose was observed in male-sterile sorghum (Warmke and Overman, 1972), in cms petunia (Izhar and Frankel, 1971), and transgenic tobacco (Tsuchiya et al., 1995; Worrall et al., 1992). Absent or delayed callose degradation was reported in ms2 soybean (Graybosch and Palmer, 1985a), ms3 soybean (Buntman and Horner, 1983), ms soybean (Jin et al., 1997), cms Capsicum

(Horner and Rogers, 1974), cms *Helianthus* (Horner, 1977), *Lolium* (Hayward and Manthiratna, 1972), and *Pisum* (Gottschalk and Kaul, 1974). Recently, putative genes encoding an anther-specific β -1,3-glucanase (*A6*) were reported in *Brassica napus* (Hird et al., 1993), *Arabidopsis thaliana* (*A6, A9*) (Hird et al., 1993; Paul et al., 1992), and *Nicotiana tobacum* (*Tag1*) (Bucciaglia and Smith 1994). But no glucanase activity has been associated with *A6* and *A9* proteins in *Brassica* and *Arabidopsis* (Hird et al., 1993).

β -1,3-glucanases in other floral tissues

A 41-kDa β -1,3-glucanase called sp41 is expressed in tobacco pistils (stigmas/styles) (Lotan et al., 1989; Ori et al., 1990). Sp41 expression did not seem to be a result of a stress response. Its expression can be detected even before the flower buds were opened. The sp41 β -1,3-glucanase is structurally distinct from previously characterized β -1,3-glucanases. Sp41 is glycosylated with a very large (~9 kDa) glycos moiety. The glycosylation has no apparent effect on enzymatic activity (Ori et al., 1990). The specific high-level expression of sp41 in the transmitting tract strongly suggests that it plays a significant role. Two possible functions of sp41 have been proposed: the first is that it is involved in facilitating or regulating pollen-tube growth (Richards, 1986); the second role may be as a constitutive defense against pathogen attack, because the pistil is open and vulnerable to pathogens that may exploit this nutrient-rich channel to access the plant, in particular the developing seeds.

β -1,3-glucanases involved in germination

The β -1,3-glucanases associated with germination have been studied most extensively in barley and rye (Ballance et al., 1976; Manners and Marshall, 1969). It has been proposed that the β -1,3-glucanases expressed during germination are involved in defense of the seed against pathogen attack, especially fungal pathogens (Hoj et al., 1989). Evidence that the barley β -1,3-glucanase is expressed in a defense-related fashion in leaves gives support to this proposal (Jutidamrongphan et al., 1991).

β-1,3-glucanases involved in growth

The β -1,3-glucanases are thought to be involved in plant growth, playing a role in altering the composition and viscoelastic properties of the cell wall matrix and thereby causing or making cell expansion and growth (Goldberg, 1977; 1980; Hoson and Nevins, 1989; Nevins et al., 1977; Wong and Maclachlan, 1979; Zarra and Masuda, 1979). A model for the role of β -1,3-glucanases in promoting growth has been described by Fry (1989). The β -1,3-glucan is part of young and actively growing plant cell walls. This β -1,3-glucan forms hydrogen bonds both to itself and to other cell wall components. This bonding stabilizes the wall, resulting in a physical hindrance to turgor-mediated cell expansion. The β -1,3-glucanases act to cleave the β -1,3-glucan and thereby reduce the cell wall rigidity. Cell expansion and growth driven by turgor pressure results; however, to date, no specific β -1,3-glucanases involved in growth have been identified. It may be because their identification is inherently difficult.

β -1,3-glucanases and phloem transport, tissue ripening and abscission

The β -1,3-glucan has been proposed to regulate phloem transport by plugging the sieve plates (Currier, 1957; Fulcher and McCully, 1976). Also β -1,3-glucan often is a transient component of cell walls during development and cell division (Fulcher and McCully, 1976). How β -1,3-glucanases may be involved in phloem transport is not clear. The β -1,3-glucanase activity is associated with fruit ripening, but how it is regulated is unknown (Hinton and Pressey, 1980). The β -1,3-glucanase expression is induced in bean leaf abscission zones, stems, and petioles upon treatment with ethylene (Del Campillo and Lewis, 1992a). This expression could be related to defense against pathogens at the site of abscission because a number of other pathogenesis-related proteins such as PR1 and chitinase also were expressed (Del Campillo and Lewis, 1992b). However, β -1,3-glucanases might also play a role in facilitating abscission by degrading β -1,3-glucans in the abscission zone.

Pathogenesis-related β **-1,3-glucanases**

Plants have evolved various ways for defending themselves against hostile environments that include pathogens such as viruses, fungi, bacteria, and insects. Production of pathogenesis-related proteins, such as β -1,3-glucanases and chitinases is one of the ways that plants respond to pathogen attack. β -1,3glucanases were proposed to be involved in plant defense as early as 1971 (Abeles et al., 1971). There are a number of reports of the coordinate expression of β -1,3glucanases at the level of transcription in response to viral, bacterial, and fungal infection (Beffa et al., 1993; Beffa et al., 1996; Bol et al., 1990; Dong et al., 1991; Edington et al., 1991; Keen and Yoshikawa, 1983; Linthorst et al., 1990; Meins and Ahl, 1989; Moore and Stone, 1972; Shinshi et al., 1987; Takeuchi et al., 1990; Tuzun et al., 1989; Van den Bulcke et al., 1989; Van Loon, 1983; Vogeli et al., 1988; Vogeli-Lange et al., 1988). These β -1,3-glucanases are divided into acidic PI and basic PI groups (Legrand et al., 1987). The acidic and basic β -1,3-glucanases show differences in their regulation in response to pathogen attack, and tissue-specific and developmental expression patterns (Memelink et al., 1990). The acidic enzymes are secreted and are thought to play an important role in encountering and destroying fungal pathogens. The basic enzymes are located in the vacuole and also are thought to play a role in defense.

The level and onset of β -1,3-glucanase expression often is positively correlated with the level of pathogen resistance. Muskmelon and tomatoes infected with *Fusarium oxysporum* showed a higher and more rapid expression of β -1,3-glucanase in resistant than in susceptible varieties (Ferraris et al., 1987; Netzer and Kritzman, 1979). Tomato plants resistant to the fungal pathogen *Cladosporium fulvum* produced β -1,3-glucanase earlier than susceptible varieties (Joosten and Dewit, 1989). Maize β -1,3-glucanase expression is induced by the fungus *Exserohilum trucicum*, and the level of expression is correlated positively with the resistance levels of near-isogenic lines (Jondle et al., 1989). These correlations suggest that β -1,3-glucanases play an important role in achieving defense, but the mechanisms involved are not clear. There is no evidence to suggest that β -1,3-glucanase genes represent plant resistance genes of the type described by the

gene-for-gene model of plant-pathogen interactions (Godiard et al., 1994; Jones, 1994; Staskawicz et al., 1995). A general model states that upon pathogen attack, the β -1,3-glucanases release small β -1,3-glucans. These β -1,3-glucans elicit increased β -1,3-glucanase and other defense-related gene expression by an unknown signal transduction pathway (Kombrink et al., 1988; Lamb et al., 1989; Mauch and Staehelin, 1989; Takeuchi et al., 1990).

Over 37 plant β -1,3-glucanase gene sequences have been published. The published sequences reveal several highly conserved amino acids that are possibly important for enzyme function. Plant β -1,3-glucanases are typically encoded by moderately sized gene families. There are about 12 β -1,3-glucanase genes in tobacco (Linthorst et al., 1990). The β -1,3-glucanase sequences are being used to study genome and gene family evolution (Sperisen et al., 1991). As more sequences become available, the amino acids involved in the catalytic site, the functions of the genes, and gene family evolution should become even more apparent. The functions of β -1,3-glucanases are just speculations. It is difficult to determine their functions because no mutations in β -1,3-glucanases have been found. Possibly this is due in part because the gene families are relatively large, therefore, making loss of function mutations less apparent. There is little genetic analysis of these genes, either to determine map position or function because mutants have not been identified.

References

- Aarts MGM, Dirkse WG, Steikema WJ, Pereira A (1993) Transposon tagging of a male sterility gene in Arabidopsis. Nautre 363: 715-717
- Aarts MGM, Hodge R, Kalantidis K, Florack D, Wilson ZA, Mulligan BJ, Stiekema WJ, Scott R, Pereira A (1977) The Arabidopsis MALE STERILITY 2 protein shares similarity with reductases in elongation/condensation complexes. Plant J 12: 615-623.
- Abeles FB, Bosshart RP, Forrence LE, Habig WH (1971) Preparation and purification of glucanase and chitinase from bean leaves. Plant Physiol 47: 129-134
- Albertsen MC, Fox TW, Trimnell MR (1996) Cloned genes and mutants of male fertility in maize. In: 14th International Congress of Sexual Plant Reproduction, Lorne Victoria, Australia, 18-23 Feb. 1996. pp1 (Abstract)
- Albertsen MC, Palmer RG (1979) A comparative light- and electron-microscopic study of microsporogenesis in male-sterile (*ms1*) and male-fertile soybeans [*Glycine max* (L.). Merr.]. Am J Bot 66: 253-265
- Andersen WR, Fairbanks DJ (1990) Molecular markers: important tools for plant genetic resource characterization. Diversity 6: 51-53
- Apuya NR, Frazier BL, Keim P, Roth EJ, Lark KG (1988) Restriction fragment length polymorphisms as genetic markers in soybean, *Glycine max* (L.) Merrill. Theor Appl Genet 75: 889-901

- Arondel V, Lemieux B, Hwang I, Gibson S, Goodman HN, Somerville CR (1992)
 Map-based cloning of gene controlling omega-3 fatty acid desaturation in
 Arabidopsis. Science 258: 1353-1355
- Ballance GM, Meredith WOS, Laberge DE (1976) Distribution and development of endo-β-glucanase activities in barley tissues during germination. Can J Plant Sci 56: 459-466
- Beckmann JS, Soller M (1986) Restriction fragment length polymorphisms and genetic improvement of agricultural species. Euphytica 35: 111-124
- Beffa RS, Neuhaus JM, Meins F (1993) Physiological compensation in antisense transformants: sepcific induction of an "ersatz" glucan endo-1,3-β-glucosidase in plants infected with necrotizing viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90: 8792-8796
- Beffa RS, Hofer RM, Thomas M (1996) Decreased susceptibility to viral disease of β-1,3-glucanase-deficient plants generated by antisense transformation. Plant Cell 8: 1001-1011
- Bent AF, Kunkel BN, Dahlbcck D, Brown KL, Schmidt R, Giraudat J, Leung J, Staskawicz BJ (1994) RPS2 of *Arabidopsis thaliana*: a leucine-rich repeat class of plant disease resistance genes. Science 265: 1856-1859
- Bhandari NN (1984) The microsporangium. In: Johri BM (ed.), Embryology of angiosperms. Springer, New York, NY, pp 53-121
- Bol JF, Linthorst HJM, Cornelissen BJC (1990) Plant pathogenesis-related proteins induced by viral infection. Annu Rev Phytopathol 28: 113-138
- Brim CA, Stuber CW (1973) Application of genetic male sterility to recurrent selection schemes in soybeans. Crop Sci 13: 528-530

- Brummer EC, Nickell AD, Wilcox JR, Shoemaker RC (1995) Mapping the *Fan* locus controlling linolenic acid content in soybean oil. J Hered 86: 245-247
- Bucciaglia P, Smith A (1994) Cloning and characterization of Tag1, a tobacco anther 1,3-β-glucanase expressed during tetrad dissolution. Plant Mol Biol 24: 903-914
- Buntman DJ, Horner HT (1983) Microsporogenesis of normal and male sterile (*ms3*) mutant soybean (*Glycine max*). Scanning Electron Microsc 1983: 913-922
- Buss GR (1983) Inheritance of a male-sterile mutant from irradiated Essex soybeans. Soybean Genet Newsl 10: 104-108
- Chang MM, Hadwiger LA, Horovitz D (1992) Molecular characterization of pea β-1,3-glucanase induced by *Fusarium solani* and chitosan challenge. Plant Mol Biol 20: 609-618
- Chaudhury AM (1993) Nuclear genes controlling male fertility. Plant Cell 5: 1277-1283
- Coe EH, Hoisington DA, Neuffer MG (1987) Linkage map of corn (*Zea mays*) (2n = 20). Maize Genet Coop Newsl 61: 116-123
- Concibido VC, Denny RL, Boutin SR, Hautea JH, Young ND (1994) DNA marker analysis of loci underlying resistance to soybean cyst nematode (*Heterodera glycines* Ichinohe). Crop Sci 34: 240-246
- Cote F, Cutt JR, Asselin A, Klessig DF (1991) Pathogenesis-related acidic β-1,3glucanase genes of tobacco are regulated by both stress and developmental signals. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 4: 173-181

Currier HB (1957) Callose substance in plant cells. Am J Bot 44: 478-488

- Dawson J, Wilson ZA, Aarts MGM, Braithwaite AF, Briarty LG, Mulligan BJ (1993) Microspore and pollen development in six male-sterile mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Can J Bot 71: 629-638
- Del Campillo E, Lewis LN (1992a) Identification and kinetics of accumulation of proteins induced by ethylene in bean abscission zones. Plant Physiol 98: 955-961
- Del Campillo E, Lewis LN (1992b) Occurrence of 9.5 cellulase and other hydrolases in flower reproductive organs undergoing major cell wall disruption. Plant Physiol 99: 1015-1020
- Delannay X, Palmer RG (1982) Genetics and cytology of the *ms4* male-sterile soybean. J Hered 73: 219-223
- Devine TE, Weisemann JM, Matthews BF (1993) Linkage of the *Fr2* locus controlling soybean root fluorescence and four loci detected by RFLP markers. Theor Appl Genet 85: 921-925
- Diers, BW, Mansur L, Imsande J, Shoemaker RC (1992a) Mapping phytophthora resistance loci in soybean with restriction fragment length polymorphism markers. Crop Sci 32: 377-383
- Diers BW, Keim P, Fehr WR, Shoemaker RC (1992b) RFLP analysis of soybean seed protein and oil content. Theor Appl Genet 83: 608-612
- Diers BW, Rodriguez de Cianzio S, Shoemaker RC (1992c) Possible identification of quantitative trait loci affecting iron efficiency in soybean. J Plant Nutr 15: 2127-2136

- Diers BW, Shoemaker RC (1992) Restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of soybean fatty acid content. JAOCS 69: 1242-1247
- Dong X, Mindrinos M, Davis KR, Ausubel FM (1991) Induction of *Arabidopsis* defense genes by virulent and avirulent *Pseudomonas syringae* strains and by a cloned avirulence gene. Plant Cell 3: 61-72
- Echlin P (1971) The role of the tapetum during microsporogenesis of angiosperms. In: Heslop-Harrison J (ed) Pollen Development and Physiology, Butterworth, London, pp 41-61
- Edington BV, Lamb CJ, Dixon RA (1991) cDNA cloning and characterization of a putative 1,3-β-D-glucanase transcript induced by fungal elicitor in bean cell suspension cultures. Plant Mol Biol 16: 81-94
- Eschrich W (1961) Untersuchungen β-ber den ab- und aufbau der callose. Z Bot 49: 153-218
- Felix G, Meins F (1986) Developmental and hormonal regulation of 1,3-β-glucanase in tobacco. Planta 167: 206-211
- Ferraris L, Abbattista Gentile I, Matta A (1987) Activation of glycosidases as a consequence of infection stress in *Fusarium wilt* of tomato. J Phytopathol 118: 317-325
- Fincher GB, Lock PA, Morgan MM, Lingelbach K, Wettenhall REH, Mercer JFB, Brandt A, Thomsen KK (1986) Primary structure of the (1,3; 1,4)-β-D-glucan 4glucohydrolase from barley aleurone. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83: 2081-2085
- Frankel R, Izhar S, Nitsan J (1969) Timing of callase activity and cytoplasmic male sterility in *Petunia*. Biochem Genet 3: 451-455

- Fry SC (1989) Cellulases, hemicellulases and auxin-stimulated growth: a possible relationship. Physiol Plant 75: 532-536
- Fulcher RG, McCully ME, Setterfield G, Sutherland J (1976) β-1,3-glucans may be associated with cell plate formation during cytokinesis. Can J Bot 54: 539-542
- Giraudat J, Hauge BM, Valon C, Smalle J, Parcy F, Goodman HM (1992) Isolation of the *Arabidopsis ABI3* gene by positional cloning. Plant Cell 4: 1251-1261
- Giovannoni JJ, Wing RA, Ganal MW, Tanksley SD, (1991) Isolation of molecular markers from specific chromosomal intervals using DNA pools from existing mapping populations. Nucl Acids Res 19: 6553-6558
- Godiard L, Grant MR, Dietrich RA, Kiedrowski S, Dangl JL (1994) Perception and response in plant disease resistance. Curr Opinion Genet Dev 4: 662-671
- Goldberg R (1977) On possible connections between auxin-induced growth and cell wall glucanase activities. Plant Sci Lett 8: 233-242
- Goldberg R (1980) Cell wall polysaccharidase activities and growth processes, a possible relationship. Physiol Plant 50: 261-264
- Goldberg RB, Beals TP, Sanders PM (1993) Anther development: basic principles and practical applications. Plant Cell 5: 1217-1229
- Gorman SW, Banasiak D, Fairley C, McCormick S (1996) A 610 Kb YAC clone harbors 7 cM of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) DNA that includes the male sterile 14 gene and a hotspot for recombination. Mol Gen Genet 251: 52-59
- Gottschalk W, Kaul MLH (1974) The genetic control of microsporogenesis in higher plants. Nucleus (Calcutta) 17: 133-166
Graybosch RA and Palmer RG (1985a) Male sterility in soybean (*Glycine max*) I Phenotypic expression of the *ms2* mutant. Am J Bot 72: 1738-1750

- Graybosch RA and Palmer RG (1985b) Male sterility in soybean (*Glycine max*) II. Phenotypic expression of the ms4 mutant. Am J Bot 72: 1751-1764
- Graybosch RA and Palmer RG (1988) Male sterility in soybean-an overview. Am J Bot 75: 144-156
- Hayward MD, Manthiratna MAPP (1972) Pollen development and variation in the genus *Lilium* I. Pollen size and tapetal relationships in male-fertiles and male-steriles. Z Pflanzenzucht 67: 131-144
- Heslop-Harrison J, Mackenzie A (1967) Autoradiography of soluble [2-¹⁴C] thymidine derivatives during meiosis and microsporogenesis in *Lilium* anthers. J Cell Sci 2: 387-400
- Hinton DM, Pressey R (1980) Glucanases in fruits and vegetables. J Am Soc Hort Sci 105: 499-502
- Hird DL, Worrall, D, Hodge R, Smartt S, Paul W, Scott R (1993) The anther-specific protein encoded by the *Brassica napus* and *Arabidopsis thaliana* A6 gene displays similarity to β-1,3-glucanases. Plant J 4: 1023-1033
- Hoj PB, Hartman DJ, Morrice NA, Doan DNP, Fincher GB (1989) Purification of β1,3-glucan endohydrolase isoenzyme II from germinated barley and
 determination of its primary structure from a cDNA clone. Plant Mol Biol 13: 3142

Horner HT, Jr (1977) A comparative light- and electron-microscopic study of microsporogenesis in male-fertile and cytoplasmic male-sterile sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Am J Bot 64: 745-759

- Horner HT, Jr, Rogers MA (1974) A comparative light- and electron-microscopic study of microsporogenesis in male-sterile pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.). Can J Bot 52: 435-441
- Horner HT, Palmer RG (1995) Mechanisms of genic male sterility. Crop Sci 35: 1527-1535
- Hoson T, Nevins DJ (1989) β-D-glucan antibodies inhibit auxin-induced cell elongation and changes in the cell wall of *Zea* coleoptile segments. Plant Physiol 90: 1353-1358
- Izhar S, Frankel R (1971) Mechanism of male sterility in petunia: the relationship between pH, callase activity in anthers, and the breakdown of the microsporogenesis. Theor Appl Genet 41: 104-108
- Jin W, Horner HT, and Palmer RG (1997) Genetics and cytology of a new genic male-sterile soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]. Sex Plant Reprod 10: 13-21
- Johns CW, Delannay X, Palmer RG (1981) Structural sterility controlled by nuclear mutations in angiosperms. The Nucleus (Calcutta) 24: 97-105
- Jondle DJ, Coors JG, Duke SH (1989) Maize leaf β-1,3-glucanase activity in relation to resistance to *Exserohilum turcicum*. Can J Bot 67: 263-266
- Jones JDG (1994) Resistance crumbles? A plant disease resistance gene, of the kind involved in 'gene for gene' interactions with pathogens, has been cloned and found to encode a putative serine/threonine kinase. Curr Biol 4: 67-69

- Joosten MHAJ, Dewit PJGM (1989) Identification of several pathogenesis-related proteins in tomato leaves inoculated with *Cladosporium fulvum* (syn. *Fulvia fulva*) as 1,3-β-glucanases and chitinases. Plant Physiol 89: 945-951
- Jutidamrongphan W, Anderson JB, Mackinnon G, Manner JM, Simpson RS, Scott KJ (1991) Induction of β-1,3-glucanase in barley in response to infection by fungal pathogens. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 4: 234-238
- Kaul MLH (1988) Male sterility in higher plants. In: Monographs on Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 10. Springer Verlag, Berlin, pp 15-22
- Kauffmann S, Legrand M, Geoffroy P, Fritig B (1987) Biological function of pathogenesis-related proteins: four PR proteins of tobacco have 1,3-β-glucanase activity. EMBO J 6: 3209-3212
- Keen NT, Yoshikawa M (1983) β -1,3-endoglucanase from soybean releases elicitoractive carbohydrates from fungus cell walls. Plant Physiol 71: 460-465
- Keim P, Diers BW, Shoemaker RC (1990) Genetic analysis of soybean hard seededness with molecular markers. Theor Appl Genet 79: 465-469
- Kochert G (1994) RFLP technology. In: Phillips RL and Vasil IK (eds) DNA-Based Markers in Plants. Kluwer Academic Publishers
- Koltunow AM, Truettner J, Cox KH, Wallroth M, Goldberg RB (1990) Different temporal and spatial gene expression patterns occur during anther development. Plant Cell 2: 1201-1224
- Kombrink E, Schroder M, Hahlbrock K (1988) Several "pathogenesis-related" proteins in potato are 1,3-β-glucanases and chitinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85: 782-786

- Lamb CJ, Lawton MA, Dron M, Dixon RA (1989) Signals and transduction mechanisms for activation of plant defenses against microbial attack. Cell 56: 215-224
- Landau-Ellis D, Angermuller S, Shoemaker RC, Gresshoff PM (1991) The genetic locus controlling supernodulation in soybean (*Glycine max* L.) co-segregates tightly with a cloned molecular marker. Mol Gen Genet 228: 221-226
- Lark KG, Orf J, Mansur LM (1994) Epistatic expression of quantitative trait loci (QTL) in soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.] determined by QTL association with RFLP alleles. Theor Appl Genet 88: 486-489
- Lark KG, Weisemann JM, Matthews BF, Palmer RG, Chase K, Macalma T (1993) A genetic map of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) using an intraspecific cross of two cultivars: 'Minsoy' and 'Noir I'. Theor Appl Genet 86: 901-906
- Laser KD, Lersten NR (1972) Anatomy and cytology of microsporogenesis in cytoplasmic male sterile angiosperms. Bot Rev 38: 425-454
- Lavi U, Cregan P, Schaap T, Hillel J (1994) Application of DNA markers for identification and breeding of perennial fruit crops. Plant Breed Rev 10: 195-226
- Legrand M, Kauffmann S, Goeffroy P, Fritig B (1987) Biological function of pathogenesis-related proteins: four tobacco pathogenesis-related proteins are chitinases. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84: 6750-6754
- Levings CS III (1993) Thoughts on cytoplasmic male sterility in cms-T maize. Plant Cell 5: 1285-1290.

- Lewers KS, Martin SK St., Hedges BR, Widrlechner MP, Palmer RG (1996) Hybrid soybean seed production: comparison of three methods. Crop Sci 36: 1560-1567
- Lewers KS, and Palmer RG. (1997) Recurrent selection in soybean. Plant Breed Rev 15: 275-313
- Lin J, Kuo J (1995) AFLP TM: A novel PCR-based assay for plant and bacterial DNA fingerprinting. Focus 17: 66-70
- Linthorst HJM (1991) Pathogenesis-related proteins of plants. Crit Rev Plant Sci 10: 123-150
- Linthorst HJM, Melchers LS, Mayer A, Van Roekel JSC, Cornelissen C, Bol JF (1990) Analysis of gene families encoding acidic and basic β-1,3-glucanases of tobacco. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87: 8756-8760
- Lotan T, Ori N, Fluhr R (1989) Pathogenesis-related proteins are developmentally regulated in tobacco flowers. Plant Cell 1: 881-887

Manners DJ, Marshall JJ (1969) Studies on carbohydrate metabolizing enzymes. XXII. The β -1,3-glucanase system of malted barley. J Inst Brew 75: 550-561

- Mansur LM, Lark KG, Kross H, Oliveira A (1993) Interval mapping of quantitative trait loci for reproductive, morphological, and seed traits of soybean (*Glycine max* L.). Theor Appl Genet 86: 907-913
- Mariani C, De Beucheleer M, Truettner J, Leemanas J, Goldberg RB (1990) Induction of male sterility in plants by a chimeric ribonuclease gene. Nature 347: 737-741

- Martin GB, Brommonschenkel SH, Chunwongse J, Frary A, Ganal MW, Spivey R, Wu T, Earle ED, Tanksley SD (1993) Map-based cloning of a protein kinase gene conferring disease resistance in tomato. Science 262: 1432-1436
- Mascarenhas, JD (1990) Gene activity during pollen development. Ann Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 41: 317-338
- Mauch F, Staehelin LA (1989) Functional implications of subcellular localization of ethylene-induced chitinase and β-1,3-glucanase in bean leaves. Plant Cell 1:
 447-457

McCormick S (1993) Male gametophyte development. Plant Cell 5: 1265-1275

- Meins F, Ahl P (1989) Induction of chitinase and β-1,3-glucanase in tobacco plants infected with *Pseudomonas tabaci* and *Phytophthora parasitica* var. *Nicotianae*. Plant Sci 61: 155-161
- Memelink J, Linthorst HJM, Schilperoort RA, Hoge JHC (1990) Tobacco genes encoding acidic and basic isoforms of pathogenesis-related proteins display different expression patterns. Plant Mol Biol 14: 119-126
- Mepham RH, Lane GR (1969) Formation and development of the tapetal periplasmodium in *Tradescantia bracteata*. Protoplasma 68: 446-452
- Metz JG, Pollard MR, Lassner MW (1994) Fatty acyl reductases. US patent 5,370,996
- Michelmore RW, Paran I, Kesseli RW (1991) Identification of markers linked to disease-resistance genes by bulked segregation analysis: a rapid method to detect makers in specific genomic regions by using segregating populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88: 9828-9832

- Mo Y, Nagel C, Taylor LP (1992) Biochemical complementation of chalcone synthase mutants defines a role for flavonols in functional pollen. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 89: 7213-7217
- Moffatt BA, Somerville C (1988) Positive selection for male-sterile mutants of *Arabidopsis* lacking adenine phosphoribosyl transferase activity. Plant Physiol 86: 1150-1154
- Mohnen D, Shinshi H, Felix G, Meins F (1985) Hormonal regulation of β-1,3glucanase messenger RNA levels in cultured tobacco tissues. EMBO J 4: 1631-1635
- Moore AE, Stone BA (1972) Effect of infection with TMV and other viruses on the level of a β-1,3-glucanase hydrolase in leaves of *Nicotiana glutinosa*. Virology 50: 791-798
- Morgante M, Olivieri AM (1993) PCR-amplified microsatellites as markers in plant genetics. Plant J 3: 175-182
- Neale AD, Wahleithner JA, Lund M, Bonnett HT, Kelley A, Meeks-Wagner, Peacock WJ, Dennis ES (1990) Chitinase, β-1,3-glucanase, osmotin, and extensin are expressed in tobacco explants during flower formation. Plant Cell 2: 673-684
- Netzer D, Kritzman G (1979) β-1,3-glucanase activity and quantity of fungus in relation to *Fusarium wilt* in resistant and susceptible near isogenic lines of muskmelon. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 14: 47-55
- Nevins DJ, Huber DJ, Yamamoto R, Loescher WH (1977) β-1,3-glucan of Avena coleoptile cell walls. Plant Physiol 60: 617-621

- Nickell AD, Wilcox JR, Lorenzen LL Cavins JF, Guffy RG, Shoemaker RC (1994) The *Fap2* locus in soybean maps to linkage group D. J Hered 85: 160-162
- Ori N, Sessa G, Lotan T, Himmelhoch S, Fluhr R (1990) A major stylar matrix polypeptide (sp41) is a member of the pathogenesis-related protein superclass. EMBO J 9: 3429-3436
- Palmer RG, Albertsen MC, Horner HT, Skorupska H (1992) Male sterility in soybean and maize: developmental comparisons. The Nucleus (Calcutta) 35: 1-18
- Palmer RG, Johns CW, Muir PS (1980) Genetics and cytology of the *ms3* malesterile soybean. J Hered 71: 343-348
- Paran I, Michelmore RW (1993) Development of reliable PCR-based markers linked to downy mildew resistance genes in lettuce. Theor Appl Genet 85: 985-993
- Paterson AH, Wing RA (1993) Genome mapping in plants. Curr Opin Biotech 4: 142-147
- Paul W, Hodge R, Smartt S, Draper J, Scott R (1992) The isolation and characterization of the tapetum-specific *Arabidopsis thaliana* A9 gene. Plant Mol Biol 19: 611-622
- Payne G, Ward E, Gaffney T, Ahl Goy P, Moyer M, Harper A, Meins F Jr., Ryals J (1990) Evidence for a third structural class of β-1,3-glucanase in tobacco. Plant Mol Biol 15: 797-808
- Polzin KM, Lohnes DG, Nickell CD, Shoemaker RC (1994a) Integration of *Rps2*, *Rmk*, and *Rj2* into linkage group J of soybean molecular map. J Hered 85: 300-303

- Polzin KM, Lorenzen LL, Olson TC, Shoemaker RC (1994b) An unusual polymorphic locus useful for tagging *Rps1* resistance alleles in soybean. Theor Appl Genet 89: 226-232
- Putterill J, Robson F. Lee K, Simon R, Coupland G (1995) The CONSTANS gene of *Arabidopsis* promotes flowering and encodes a protein showing similarities to zinc finger transcription factors. Cell 80: 847-857
- Rafalski JA, Tingey SV (1993a) Genetic diagnostics in plant breeding: RAPDs, microsatellites and machines. Trend Genet 9: 275-280
- Rafalski JA, Tingey SV (1993b) RFLP map of soybean (*Glycine max*) 2n = 40. In: O'Brien SJ (ed.) Genetic maps: locus maps of complex genomes. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York, pp 6.149-6.156
- Richards AJ (1986) Plant Breeding Systems. George Allen and Unwin Ltd., London, pp 529
- Shinshi H, Mohnen D, Meins F (1987) Regulation of a plant pathogenesis-related enzyme: inhibition of chitinase and chitinase mRNA accumulation in cultured tobacco tissues by auxin and cytokinin. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 84: 89-93
- Shinshi H, Wenzler H, Neuhaus J, Felix G, Meins F (1988) Evidence for N-and Cterminal processing of a plant defense-related enzyme: primary structure of tobacco prepro-β-1,3-glucanase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85: 5541-5545
- Shivanna KR, Cresti M, Ciampolini F (1997) Pollen development and pollen-pistil interaction. In: KR Shivanna and VK Sawhney (eds.) Pollen Biotechnology for Crop Production and Improvement. Cambridge University Press, pp 15-40

- Shoemaker RC, Polzin KM, Lorenzen LL, Specht JE (1997) Molecular genetic mapping of soybean. In: DPS Verma and R C Shoemaker (eds.) Soybean:
 Genetics, Molecular Biology and Biotechnology. CAB International, Wallingford, U.K., pp 37-56
- Skorupska H, Palmer RG (1989) Genetics and cytology of the *ms6* male-sterile soybean. J Hered 80: 304-310
- Southern EM (1975) Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. J Mol Biol 98: 503-517
- Sperisen C, Ryals J, Meins F (1991) Comparison of cloned genes provides evidence for intergenomic exchange of DNA in the evolution of a tobacco glucan endo-β-1,3-glucanase gene family. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88: 1820-1824
- Staskawicz BJ, Ausubel FM, Baker BJ, Ellis JG, Jones JDG (1995) Molecular genetics of plant disease resistance. Science 268: 661-667
- Stevens, MA, Rick CM (1986) Genetics and breeding. In: Atherton JG and Rudich J (eds.), The Tomato Crop. Chapman and Hall, London, pp 35-109
- Stieglitz H, Stern H (1973) Regulation of β -1,3-glucanase activity in developing anthers of *Lilium*. Develop Biol 34: 169-173
- Stone BA (1984) Noncellulosic β-glucans in cell walls, In: Noncellulosic β-glucans in Cell Walls, Kugger WM, Bartnieki-Garcia S (eds.) University of California, Riverside, p 52
- Subudhi P.K., Borkakati RP, Virmani SS, and Huang N (1997) Molecular mapping of a thermosensitive genetic male sterility gene in rice using bulked segregant analysis. Genome 40: 188-194

- Sun H. Linmei Z, H Mei (1994) Cytoplasmic-nuclear male sterile soybean line from interspecific crosses between *G. max* and *G. soja*. Proc. World Soybean Research Conference V, Chiang Mai, Thailand, Feb. 21-27,. Kasetsart University Press, pp 99-102
- Takeuchi Y, Yoshikawa M, Takeba G, Tanaka K, Shibata D, Horino O (1990) Molecular cloning and ethylene induction of mRNA encoding a phytoalexin elicitor-releasing factor, β-1,3-endoglucanase, in soybean. Plant Physiol 93: 673-682
- Tautz D, Renz M (1984) Simple sequences are ubiquitous repetitive components of eukaryotic genomes. Nucleic Acids Res 12: 4127-4138
- Tsuchiya T, Toriyama K, Yoshikawa M, Ejiri S, Hinata K (1995) Tapetum-specific expression of the gene for an endo-β-1,3-glucanase causes male sterility in transgenic tobacco. Plant Cell Physiol 36: 487-494
- Tuzun S, Nageswara RM, Vogeli U, Scharkl CL, Kuc J (1989) Induced systemic resistance to blue mold: early induction and accumulation of β-1,3-glucanases, chitinases, and other pathogenesis-related proteins (b-proteins) in immunized tobacco. Phytopathology 79: 979-983
- Twell D, Yamaguchi J, McCormic S (1990) Pollen-specific gene expression in transgenic plants: coordinate regulation of two different tomato gene promoters during microsporogenesis. Development 109: 705-713
- Van den Bulcke M, Bauw G, Castresana C, Van Montagu M, Vandekerckhove J (1989) Characterization of vacuolar and extracellular β-1,3-glucanases of

tobacco: evidence for a strictly compartmentalized plant defense system. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 86: 2673-2677

- Van Loon LC (1983) The induction of pathogenesis-related proteins by pathogens and specific chemicals. Neth J Plant Pathol 89: 265-273
- Vogeli-Lange R, Hansen-Gehri A, Boller T, Meins F (1988) Induction of the defenserelated glucanohydrolases, β-1,3-glucanase and chitinase, by tobacco mosaic virus infection of tobacco leaves. Plant Sci 54: 171-176
- Vogeli U, Meins F, Boller T (1988) Co-ordinated regulation of chitinase and β-1,3glucanase in bean leaves. Planta 174: 364-372
- Walton M, (1993) Molecular markers: Which ones to use? Seed World 131: 22-29
- Wang J., Wang B, Zhang G, Mu T, Huang N (1995) Tagging and mapping of a rice photo-sensitive genic male sterile (PGMS) gene (Abstract). In: Plant Genome III: Proceedings of the Third International Conference on the Status of Plant Genome Research, San Diego, CA., 15-19 Jan. 1995. Scherago International, Inc. pp 84
- Wang Z, Weber JL, Zhong G, Tanksley SD (1994) Survey of plant short tandem DNA repeats. Theor Appl Genet 88: 1-6
- Ward ER, Payne GB, Moyer MB, Williams SC, Dincher SS, Sharkey KC, Beck JJ, Tayor HT, Ahl-Goy P, Meins F, Ryals JA (1991) Differential regulation of β-1,3glucanase messenger RNAs in response to pathogen infection. Plant Physiol 96: 390-397
- Warmke HE, Overman MA (1972) Cytoplasmic male-sterility in sorghum I. Callose behavior in fertile and sterile anthers. J Hered 63: 103-108

- Waterkeyn L, Bienfait A (1970) On a possible function of the callosic special wall in *Ipomoea purpurea* (L.) Roth. Grana 10: 13-20
- Waugh R, Powell W (1992) Using RAPD markers for crop improvement. Tib Tech 10: 186-191
- Webb DM, Baltazar BM, Rao-Arelli AP, Schupp J, Clayton K, Keim P, Beavis WD (1995) Genetic mapping of soybean cyst nematode race-3 resistance loci in the soybean PI 437.654. Theor Appl Genet 91: 574-581
- Weisemann JM, Mathews BF, Devine TE (1992) Molecular markers located proximal to the soybean cyst nematode resistance gene, *Rhg4*. Theor Appl Genet 85: 136-138
- Williams ME, Levings CS III (1992) Molecular biology of cytoplasmic male sterility. In Plant Breeding Reviews, vol 10, J. Janick (ed.) Wiley, New York. p 23-51
- Wong YS, Maclachlan GA (1979) β-1,3-glucanases from *Pisum sativum* seedlings.
 II. Substrate specificities and enzymatic action patterns. Biochem Biophys Acta 571: 256-269
- Worrall D, Hird DL, Hodge R, Paul W, Draper J, Scott R (1992) Premature dissolution of the microsporocyte callose wall causes male sterility in transgenic tobacco. Plant Cell 4: 759-771
- Young ND, Zamir D, Ganal MW, Tanksley SD (1988) Use of isogenic lines and simultaneous probing to identify DNA markers tightly linked to the *Tm-2a* gene in tomato. Genetics 120: 579-585

Yu YG, Saghai MA, Buss GR, Maughan PJ, Tolin SA (1994) RFLP and microsatellite mapping of a gene for soybean mosaic virus resistance. Phytopathology 84: 60-64

Zabeau M, Voss P (1992) European Patent Application, No. EP0534858A1

- Zarra, I, Masuda Y (1979) Growth and cell wall changes in rice coleoptiles growing under different conditions. II. Auxin-induced growth in coleoptile segments. Plant Cell Physiol 20: 1125-1133
- Zhang Q, Shen BZ, Dai XK, Mei MH, Saghai Maroof MA, Li ZB (1994) Using bulked extremes and recessive class to map genes for photoperiod-sensitive genic male sterility in rice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91: 8675-8679

CHAPTER 2. GENETICS AND CYTOLOGY OF A NEW GENIC MALE-STERILE SOYBEAN [GLYCINE MAX (L.) MERR.]

A paper published in the journal Sexual Plant Reproduction¹

Wei Jin^{2,3}, Harry T. Horner,^{2,4} and Reid G. Palmer⁵

Abstract

Genetic and cytological studies were conducted with a new male-sterile, female-

fertile soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merr.] mutant. This mutant was completely male

sterile and was inherited as a single-recessive gene. No differences in female

or male gamete transmission of the recessive allele were observed between

reciprocal cross-pollinations in the F_1 or F_2 generations. This mutant was not allelic

to any previously identified soybean genic male-sterile mutants: ms1, ms2, ms3,

- ³Primary researcher and author

Key words Soybean, Male sterility, Genetics, Callase, Callose

¹ Reprinted with permission of journal Sexual Plant Reproduction, 1997, 10: 13-21. Joint contribution: Journal Paper J-16663 of the lowa Agriculture and Home Economics Experiment Station, Ames, Iowa (Project 3352) and from the United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service, Field Crops Research Unit.

²Graduate student and professor, respectively, Interdepartmental Plant Physiology Program, Department of Botany, Iowa State University

⁴Author for correspondence ⁵Geneticist and professor, USDA ARS FCR and Departments of Agronomy, and of Zoology & Genetics, Iowa State University.

ms4, *ms5*, or *ms6*. No linkage was detected between sterility and flower color (*W1* locus), or between sterility and pubescence color (*T1* locus). Light microscopic and cytological observations of microsporogenesis in fertile and sterile anthers were conducted. The structure of microspore mother cells (MMC) in male-sterile plants was identical to the MMCs in male-fertile plants. Enzyme extraction analyses showed that there was no callase activity in male-sterile anthers, and this suggests that sterility was caused by retention of the callose walls, which normally are degraded around tetrads at the late tetrad stage. The tapetum from male-sterile anthers also showed abnormalities at the tetrad stage and later stages, which were expressed by an unusual formation of vacuoles, and by accumulation of densely staining material. At maturity, anthers from sterile plants were devoid of pollen grains.

Introduction

Male sterility is a condition in plants in which male gametophytic function is prevented, but the potential for female reproduction remains. Based on inheritance patterns, there are two general types of male sterility: genic (nuclear) male sterility (gms) and cytoplasmic male sterility (cms). Male-sterile mutations provide source material for studies in plant breeding, genetics, reproductive biology, and molecular biology. Male sterility has been used in soybean breeding studies (Brim and Stuber 1973; Lewers et al. 1996) but so far it has not been used for commercial production of hybrid seed because large quantities of hybrid seed can not be produced at the present time. During the past two decades, six genic male-sterile mutations (*ms1*,

ms2, *ms3*, *ms4*, *ms5*, and *ms6*) have been reported in soybean (Palmer et al. 1992). All of these are nuclear mutations inherited as monogenic recessive traits. **Cms** has not been confirmed in soybean.

Observations on the genetics and developmental reproductive biology of most of the soybean mutants have been summarized (Graybosch and Palmer 1988; Palmer et al. 1992). In soybean mutants, *ms*2 and *ms*3, male sterility is due to abortion of microspores caused by failure of callose dissolution at the tetrad stage. In the present study, we have observed a similar phenomenon in a potentially new male-sterile line leading to microspore abortion. Therefore, the objectives of this study were to determine whether this soybean mutant was a cytoplasmic male sterile or a new genic male-sterile line with phenotypic characteristics different from *ms*1, *ms*4, *ms*6, but similar to *ms*2 and *ms*3, and to determine the extent of callase activity in anthers from male-fertile and male-sterile plants (see table1).

Materials and Methods

Genetics

Seeds of the male-sterile line were obtained from Midwest Oilseeds, Adel, Iowa 50003 (see Acknowledgements). This line has unusually high seed set in the field. To test the completeness of male sterility, 300 plants, which were progeny of known heterozygotes, were grown in a glasshouse at Iowa State University, Ames, in the summer of 1995, in the absence of insect pollinators. At anthesis, plants were

Mutant	Meiocy	te Tetrad	Microspore	Pollen
ms1 ms1		failure cytokinesis, tapetum degeneration		
ms2 ms2		callose retention, no microspore wall formed, tapetum degeneration		
ms3 ms3		callose retention, microspore wall initiated, tapetum degeneration	agenteña:	
ms4 ms4		failure cytokinesis, tapetum degeneration		
ms6		tapetum degeneration		
msp msp	inconsi	stent, abortion occurs between pr	emeiocyte and pollen st	ages
ms ms ⁺⁺		callose retention, microspore wall initiated		-14 - 25 - 26 - 20 - 20 - 20 - 20 - 20 - 20 - 20

Table 1. Phenotypic expression of genic male-sterile, female-fertile mutants in soybean⁺

⁺ Mutant ms5 ms5 has not been studied cytologically
 ⁺⁺Mutant described in this study; seeds from Midwest Oilseeds, Inc.

classified for fertility and sterility based on the presence or absence of pollen. Fertile plants were rogued. The male-sterile plants were saved and checked for seed set a month after the plants had completed flowering.

Inheritance studies were conducted to determine whether the mutation was a cytoplasmic male-sterile mutant or whether the mutation was nuclear. Allelism tests also were conducted to determine whether the new mutation arose at a new locus, or represented an independent mutation at one of the previously described loci (*ms1*, *ms2*, *ms3*, *ms4*, *ms5*, or *ms6*) (Table 1). Crosses were conducted in 1993 by using a known recessive sterile homozygote as the female parent and the F₁ hybrid (heterozygote) from Midwest Oilseeds as male parent. F₁ seeds were planted either in a glasshouse at Iowa State University, Ames, or at the University of Puerto Rico Soybean Breeding Nursery, at the Isabela Substation, Isabela, Puerto Rico. F₁ plants were single-plant threshed, and the F₂ seeds were planted at the Bruner Farm near Ames, Iowa. For certain cross combinations, fertile F₂ plants were single-plant threshed in Puerto Rico. All F₁, F₂, and F₃ plants were classified for male sterility / fertility at maturity.

Male gamete transmission tests were conducted with F_1 hybrids from Midwest Oilseeds as the male parent. Cross pollinations were made by using five Plant Introduction (PI) lines (PI 91167, PI 261474, PI 427099, PI 297544, PI 227333) and a cultivar A. K. Harrow as the female parents.

Linkage tests were conducted between the male-sterile mutant and the flower color (W1) locus, and between the male-sterile mutant and the pubescence color (T1) locus. Linkage determinations are presented by using the general relationship

a = XY, b = Xy, c = xY, and d = xy (Skorupska and Palmer 1989) for gene pairs listed as Xx and Yy. Plants were classified as having either purple or white flowers at flowering, and having tawny or gray pubescence at maturity.

Microscopy

Cytological observations of anther and pollen development were obtained by collecting reproductive buds of various sizes from both male-fertile and male-sterile plants. Male-fertile and male-sterile plants were identified by squashing late stage anthers in an aqueous solution of l_2KI ; anthers from male-fertile plants displayed densely staining pollen grains, whereas anthers from male-sterile plants were almost empty, with only a few stained bodies. Buds from both lines were dissected, and individual anthers were fixed in 3% glutaraldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer, pH 7.24, for 14-16 hr at 4^oC. After three buffer washes, anthers were postfixed in 1% osmium tetroxide for 1 hr at room temperature in the same buffer, washed again with the buffer, dehydrated in a graded acetone series, embedded in Spurr's resin (hard recipe), and polymerized at 70^oC for 24 hr.

Specimen blocks were sectioned on a Reichert Ultracut S microtome. For light microscopic observations, 1 μ m thick sections were stained with methylene blueazure II and basic fuchsin (Humphrey and Pittman 1974). Specimens were observed and photographed on a Leitz orthoplan microscope.

For fluorescence microscopy, buds were fixed in a 3:1 mixture of ethanol : glacial acetic acid. Anthers were removed and squashed in a 0.005% solution of aniline blue in 0.15 M phosphate buffer, pH 8.2 (Jensen 1962), to detect the presence or absence of callose.

In vitro enzyme activity assay

For in vitro callase activity assay, flowers of known developmental stages from fertile and sterile plants were chosen. Crude callase was extracted from male-fertile and male-sterile anthers at the tetrad stage according to Frankel et al. (1969), with modifications. The anthers were removed from the flower buds and placed in 1.5 ml microfuge tubes chilled on dry ice. The anthers were ground and treated with extraction buffer consisting of 0.08 M acetate and 0.08 M NaCl, pH 4.8, and then allowed to sit for 30 min at room temperature, the tubes were microfuged for 15 min at 4^oC. The supernatant contained the crude enzyme extract. Isolated tetrads from fertile and sterile anthers were placed on separate glass slides, the enzyme extracts were added, and the preparations were coverslipped. The four combinations were: 1) fertile anther extract to fertile tetrads; 2) fertile anther extract to sterile tetrads; 3) sterile anther extract to fertile tetrads; and 4) sterile anther extract to sterile tetrads. The reaction mixtures were incubated for about 18 hr at 37 ^oC in a moist chamber. After incubation, lacmoid (0.1% resorcin blue in absolute ethanol) was added to stop the reaction and to stain the undigested callose (Frankel et al. 1969). The color intensity and presence of the tetrad callose walls were determined and recorded photographically on a Leitz orthoplan microscope.

Results

Genetics

In the glasshouse experiment without the presence of insect pollinators, there were no pods formed on the male-sterile plants, which indicated that this was a

completely male-sterile line and that the summer glasshouse environment (June to August, 1995) did not influence the expression of the male-sterility gene. Classifications of F_2 plants obtained from cross pollination in the male gamete transmission test are given in Tables 2 and 3.

Table 2 shows that the ratio of nonsegregating and segregating families is 1 : 1, indicating that the two male gametes transmitted equally. A ratio of 3 fertile plants : 1 sterile plants in segregating F_2 families was observed (Table 3), which indicates that male sterility is conditioned by a single-recessive gene. Therefore, this genic male-sterile mutant will be designated as ms ms and its fertile heterozygote as Ms ms.

In linkage tests between the ms and *W1* (flower color) loci, $X^2 = 2.65$ was calculated (P = 0.45) (Table 4), and for independent assortment between the ms and *T1* (pubescence color) loci, $X^2 = 0.30$ (P = 0.96) (Table 5). In both tests, the observed values fit the expected ratios of 9:3:3:1. There was no linkage between the ms and *W1* loci, or between the ms and *T1* loci.

Classifications of F_2 families obtained from allelism tests are given in Tables 6 and 7. If ms was a mutation at a different locus than the one tested, the F_1 populations would contain only male-fertile plants. In the F_2 , 50 percent of F_1 derived families would segregate in a ratio of 3 male-fertile plants : 1 male-sterile plants, and 50 percent would produce a population consisting of 9 male-fertile plants : 7 male-sterile plants. No male-sterile plants were observed in any of the F_1 generations. (data not shown). This indicates that the allele for male sterility in this genic male-sterile mutant was at a locus different from the six known genic male-

<u></u>	No. 1			
Cross combinations	Nonsegregating	Segregating	X ² (1 : 1)	P (df = 1)
PI 91167 x M2 ⁺	9	17	2.46	0.12
PI 261474 x M2	10	8	0.22	0.64
PI 427099 x M2	7	6	0.08	0.78
PI 297544 x M2	12	6	2.00	0.16
PI 227333 x M2	8	9	0.06	0.81
A. K. Harrow x M2	6	5	0.09	0.76
Total	52	51	0.01	0.92

Table 2. Male gametophyte transmission test: F_2 data

⁺Midwest Oilseeds M2 = 502-1 x 71005-7; F₁ plants are heterozygous, Ms ms

	No	p. plants		
Cross combinations	Fertile	Sterile	X ² (3 : 1)	P (df = 1)
PI 91167 x M2 ⁺	978	306	0.93	0.33
PI 261474 x M2	505	161	0.24	0.62
PI 427099 x M2	379	136	0.55	0.46
PI 297544 x M2	479	159	0.00	1.00
PI 227333 x M2	747	249	0.00	1.00
A.K. Harrow x M2	449	129	2.21	0.14
Total	3537	1140	0.97	0.32

Table 3. Segregation for fertility / sterility in segregating F_2 families

⁺ Midwest Oilseeds M2 = 502-1 x 71005-7; F_1 plants are heterozygous. Ms ms

Cross combinations	F	requency o	f phenotyp	e	Total	X ² (9:3:3:1)	P(df = 3)
	а	b	С	d			
Pl 91167 x M3 ⁺⁺	140	44	46	17	247	0.24	0.97
PI 261474 x M3	42	18	12	7	79	0.32	0.96
PI 427099 x M1+++	97	28	40	10	175	0.12	0.99
PI 297544 x M1	210	82	60	35	387	2.61	0.46
PI 227333 x M3	182	52	48	19	301	0.92	0.82
A.K. Harrow x M3	188	54	52	16	310	0.05	1.00
Total	859	278	258	104	1499	2.65	0.45

Table 4. Linkage test between ms and W1 loci in soybean: F_2 data

⁺ Linkage determinations: a = XY, b = Xy, c = xY, d = xy
 ⁺⁺ Midwest Oilseeds M3 = 527-8 x 91133; F₁ plants are heterozygous, Ms ms

+++ Midwest Oilseeds M1 = 502-19 x 82854; F_1 plants are heterozygous, Ms ms

	Frequency of phenotype*			Total	X ² (9:3:3:1)	P (df = 3)	
Cross combinations	а	b	С	d			
PI 91167 x M3**	97	30	27	6	160	0.44	0.93
PI 261474 x M3	127	48	35	10	220	0.50	0.92
PI 227333 x M3	143	49	50	23	265	0.96	0.81
A.K. Harrow x M3	88	17	18	8	131	2.87	0.41
PI 261474 x M1***	47	12	19	7	85	0.44	0.93
PI 427099 x M1	101	43	34	8	186	1.91	0.59
PI 297544 x M1	41	18	13	10	82	0.94	0.82
Total	644	217	196	72	1129	0.30	0.96

Table 5. Linkage test between ms and T1 locus in soybean: F_2 data

⁺ Linkage determinations: a = XY. b = Xy, c = xY, d = xy

** Midwest Oilseeds M3 = 527-8 x 91133; F_1 plants are heterozygous. Ms ms

**** Midwest Oilseeds M1 = 502-19 x 82854; F1 plants are heterozygous, Ms ms

No. of families ⁺										
Cross combinations	(3:1)	(9:7)	X ² (1:1)	P (df = 1)						
<u>ms1 ms1</u> x M3 ⁺⁺	6	9	0.60	0.44						
<u>ms2 ms2</u> x M3	4	4	0.00	1.00						
<u>ms3 ms3</u> x M3	11	2	6.20	0.01						
<u>ms4 ms4</u> x M3	1	7	4.50	0.03						
<u>ms5 ms5</u> x M3	6	3	1.00	0.32						
<u>ms6 ms6</u> x M3	10	11	0.05	0.82						

Table 6. F_2 segregation for fertility / sterility from crosses between known mutations at *ms1*, ms2, *ms3*, *ms4*, *ms5*, and *ms6* loci with ms soybean

⁺ 3 : 1 = 3 fertile : 1 sterile; 9 : 7 = 9 fertile : 7 sterile

⁺⁺ Midwest Oilseeds M3 = 527-8 x 91133; F_1 plants are heterozygous, Ms ms

No. plants					No. plants					
Cross combinations	Fertile	Sterile	X²(3:1)	df	Р	Fertile	Sterile	X ² (9:7)	df	Р
<u>ms1 ms1</u> x M3 ⁺										
total	561	200	1.3	5	0.93	651	530	2.16	8	0.98
pooled			0.66	1	0.42			0.61	1	0.43
homogeneity			0.64	4	0.96			1.55	7	0.98
<u>ms2</u> <u>ms2</u> x M3										
total	257	100	1.73	3	0.63	222	182	2.12	3	0.55
pooled			1.72	1	0.19			0.28	1	0.60
homogeneity			0.01	2	1.00			1.84	2	0.40
<u>ms3 ms3</u> x M3										
total	728	255	2.77	10	0.99	75	56	0.06	1	0.81
pooled			0.46	1	0,50			0.07	1	0.80
homogeneity			2.31	9	0,99				0	
<u>ms4 ms4</u> x M3										
total	28	6		0		261	217	1.65	6	0.95
pooled				0				0.53	1	0.80
homogeneity				0				1.12	5	0.95
<u>ms5 ms5</u> x M3										
total	260	94	1.64	5	0.90	69	49	0.53	2	0.77
pooled			0.46	1	0.50			0.23	1	0.63
homogeneity			1.18	4	0.88			0.30	1	0.58
<u>ms6</u> <u>ms6</u> x M3										
total	441	141	2.94	9	0.97	543	445	4.05	10	0,95
pooled			0.19	1	0.66			0.67	1	0.41
homogeneity			2.75	8	0.95			3.38	9	0.95

Table 7. F₂ segregation for fertility / sterility from crosses between known mutations at <u>ms1</u>, <u>ms2</u>, <u>ms3</u>, <u>ms4</u>, <u>ms5</u>, and <u>ms6</u> loci with ms soybean

⁺ Midwest Oilseeds M3 = 527-8 x 91133; F₁ plants are heterozygous, Ms ms

100

sterile loci. In the F₂ generation, there were two kinds of families with almost equal frequency, except for *ms3* and *ms4*. These families segregated in 3:1 or 9:7 ratios (Tables 6 and 7). These data indicate that the male sterility of ms was controlled monogenically by a single recessive allele and was, therefore, different from the six known soybean male-sterile loci. Regarding *ms3* and *ms4*, there were two segregation patterns in the F₂ generation. With *ms3*, 11 families segregated in a 3:1 ratio and two families in a 9:7 ratio. Classification of F₃ plants descended from fertile F₂ (9:7) families of *ms3* cross combination confirmed the F₂ (9:7) ratio (Table 8). With *ms4*, one family segregated in a 3:1 ratio and 7 families segregated in a 9:7 ratio. Similarly, classification of F₃ plants descended from the single F₂ (3:1) family of the *ms4* cross combination confirmed the F₂ (3:1) ratio (Table 8).

Cytology

Anther and pollen development in male-fertile soybean has been described by Carlson and Lersten (1987), Albertsen and Palmer (1979), and Buntman and Horner (1983). Observations of male-fertile development are therefore presented only where pertinent. Anthers from male-sterile plants were white, instead of the yellow color typical of fertile anthers. Also, anthers of male-sterile plants were slightly smaller at maturity than the anthers of fertile plants. When mature anthers were squashed in I₂KI solution, male-sterile anthers consisted mostly of degenerated microspores (Fig. 1), whereas densely staining pollen grains were observed in fertile anthers (Fig. 2). Aniline blue staining indicated that callose was retained around degenerated microspores in male-sterile anthers (Figure 3).

Table 8. F ₃ segregation for fert	ility / sterility from crossed between known mutations at ms3 and ms4 loci with ms
soybean. Male-fertile F ₂ plan	ts single-plant threshed from <i>ms</i> 3 families segregating 9:7 and from <i>ms</i> 4 family
segregating 3:1	

No. plants					No. plants					
Cross combinations	Fertile	Sterile	X ² (9:7)	df	P	Fertile	Sterile	⁻ X ² (3:1)	df	Ρ
<i>ms3 ms3</i> x M3 ⁺	448	353								
total			2.90	4	0.57					
pooled			0.03	1	0.86					
homogeneity			2.87	3	0.41					
ms4 ms4 × M3						1213	395			
total								5.16	9	0.82
pooled								0.16	1	0.69
homogeneity								5.00	8	0.76

⁺ Midwest Oilseeds M3 = 527-8 x 91133; F₁ plants are heterozygous, Ms ms

Contraction of the Contract of the

A DAY COMPANY AND AND A

Anther development in male-sterile plants appeared normal during the earliest stages of microsporogenesis. Each of the four young locules contained sporogenous mass cells (SMC) which were surrounded by an epidermis, endothelium, and up to two parietal layers. The innermost layer, the tapetum, separated the SMCs from the parietal layers (Fig. 4). Microspore mother cells (meiocytes) differentiated from SMCs.

During prophase I, small cytoplasmic vacuoles appeared in the tapetal cells of both male-sterile (Fig. 5, arrows) and male-fertile anthers (Fig. 6, arrows). As meiosis progressed, meiocytes divided to form dyads, and then tetrads of microspores in both male-fertile (Fig. 7) and male-sterile anthers (Fig. 8). Microspores within tetrads became isolated by callose (Figs. 7,8). The tapetal cells in male-sterile anthers enlarged, and became densely stained (Figs. 8,9), tapetal cells of male-fertile anthers remained cytoplasmically dense. The sheath of callose surrounding the tetrads from male-sterile anthers remained (Figs. 9, arrows, 11-13, arrows), and each microspore cytoplasm became highly vacuolate (Figs. 11-13). In male-fertile anthers, callose was degraded, and individual microspores were released (Fig. 10).

The behavior of the tapetum in male-sterile anthers was variable. In some locules, male cells degenerated, whereas the tapetum retained its cytoplasm and seemed functional (Figs. 8,9); or the tapetal cells became highly vacuolate (Fig. 12) or enlarged (Fig. 9). Some tapetal cells accumulated a densely staining material before collapsing (Fig. 11, arrows). In later stages of development, the tapetum collapsed into a mass of darkly staining material (Fig. 13).

Figures 1-9. Squashes and cross sectional images of male-fertile and male-sterile soybean anthers. All bars equal 10 μ m. 1. Squash of mature anther from male-sterile plant in I₂KI showing degenerated microspores. 2. Squash of mature male-fertile anther in I₂KI showing engorged pollen grains. 3. Squash of male-sterile anther in aniline blue at late microspore or early pollen stage showing microspores still encased in callose. 4. Fertile sporogenous mass stage; epidermis (E), wall layers (W), parietal layers (P), tapetum (T), and male cells (M). 5. Male-sterile meiocytes anther in prophase of meiosis. 6. Male-fertile meiocytes in prophase of meiosis. 7. Male-fertile microspore tetrads. 8. Male-sterile microspore tetrads. 9. Late microspore tetrads from male-sterile plant, tapetal cells enlarged, tetrads appear normal.



Microsporogenesis in male-sterile anthers did not progress beyond the tetrad stage. While still enclosed in callose, many tetrads shriveled and collapsed (Fig. 11). The tapetal cell walls of both the male-fertile and male-sterile anthers remained intact (Figs. 10, 11), but there was little cytoplasm remaining in the male-sterile tapetal cells. When anthers were mature, there were only degenerated cells within the locules of male-sterile anthers (Fig. 12), whereas engorged pollen grains were present in the locules of male-fertile anthers (Fig. 2). Even at or near anthesis. microspores from male-sterile plants remained encased in callose (Fig. 13). The results of tests for callase activity in both male-fertile and male-sterile anthers are shown in Figs. 14 and 15. Callose around isolated fertile and sterile tetrads (Fig. 14) was digested after treatment with fertile anther enzyme extracts but not with sterile anther extracts (Fig. 15; fertile tetrads). The results indicate there was no callase activity in male-sterile anthers but callase was active in the male-fertile anthers.

Discussion

The genetic data indicate that the male-sterile soybean (ms) in this study is **gms** and is controlled monogenically by a single recessive allele. The mutation occurs at a locus that differs from the already characterized ms1, ms2, ms3, ms4, ms5, and ms6soybean lines. A skewed ratio was observed in cross combinations with ms3 and ms4. This was the result of the small number of F₂ families tested because F₃ data confirmed F₂ data, rather than gamete interaction between ms and ms3 and ms4. Skorupska and Palmer (1990), however, observed a skewed ratio with ms4 in Figures **10-15**. Cross sectional images of male-fertile and male-sterile soybean anthers. All bars equal 10 μ m. **10**. Male-fertile young microspores after dissolution of callose. **11-13**. Male-sterile post-tetrad stages showing degenerated tetrads still surrounded by callose (arrows). Tapetum has degenerated and contains unidentified densely-stained material. **14**. Isolated sterile tetrads treated with crude extract from fertile anthers. Callose is absent; stain is lacmoid. **15**. Isolated normal tetrads treated with crude extract from sterile anthers. Callose still surrounds the tetrads; stain is lacmoid.



testcrosses (excess of fertile F_1 plants). The authors had no plausible explanation for the skewed ratio.

The co-segregation of a closely linked marker locus (*W1*) with a male-sterility locus (*ms*6) was used to produce large quantities of F_1 hybrid soybean seed (Lewers et al. 1996). The *W1* and *T1* loci were independent of the ms locus in the present study which precludes their use in any soybean breeding program using the present ms line.

Based on results of the glasshouse experiment, this is a completely male-sterile line. Marrewijk (1969) reported that the phenotypic effect of partial male-sterility systems was subject to environmental modification. Temperature has more influence than any other environmental factor; however, water stress, photoperiod, nutrient supply, and hormone applications also influence male-sterile phenotypes (Edwardson 1970; Heslop-Harrison 1957). In soybean the *msp* mutant is affected by temperature (Stelly and Palmer 1980; Carlson and Williams III 1985). The expression of the male-sterile gene in this study is at least not affected by the summer glasshouse environment.

Compared to known male-sterile soybean mutants, this new **gms** mutant is similar to *ms2*, and more similar to *ms3* phenotypically but genetically controlled by different genes. All three mutants result in a degeneration of tetrads because release of microspores from their encasing callose walls is prevented, a phenomenon also described in other non-legume species. For example, the failure of callose to breakdown at the proper time in **cms** petunia anthers resulted in sterility (Frankel et al. 1969). The retention of callose seemingly blocks developmental
metabolic processes (physical constraints imposed by the callose wall) and intercellular communication between male cells and locular fluids and between male cells and surrounding tissues.

Abnormal behavior of callase has been observed in several male-sterile systems. Previous studies indicate that the enzyme callase is synthesized in the tapetum, then secreted into the locules, and degrades the callose walls surrounding the microspore tetrads. The timing of production and release of callase by the tapetum, therefore, seems to be critical for normal pollen development (Eschrich 1961; Mepham and Lane 1969; Stieglitz and Stern 1973; Frankel et al. 1969; Izhar and Frankel 1971; Worrall et al. 1992; Tsuchiya et al. 1995). Premature breakdown of callose was observed in male-sterile sorghum (Warmke and Overman 1972) and in **cms** petunia (Izhar and Frankel 1971). Worrall et al. (1992) and Tsuchiya et al. (1995) reported that premature breakdown of callose caused male-sterility in transgenic tobacco. Absent or delayed callose degradation was reported in *ms2* (Graybosch and Palmer 1985) and *ms3* soybean (Buntman and Horner 1983), in **cms** *Capsicum* (Horner and Rogers 1974), and in **cms** *Helianthus* (Horner 1977), and is similar to what is reported here for the ms mutant. Therefore, the timing of callase activity is critical for normal development of microspores.

As in many of the male-sterile mutations of angiosperms, abnormal tapetum activity or premature degeneration is associated with the abortion of microspores (Gottschalk and Kaul 1974; Laser and Lersten 1972; Koltunow et al. 1990). The most obvious abnormalities of tapetal cells in this soybean male-sterile mutant were cell enlargement, the accumulation of an unidentified, densely-staining material, and

premature degeneration. This accumulated material, based on its staining, is suspected to be sporopollenin or its precursors. The tapetum is regarded as the site for synthesis for precursors of sporopollenin (Echlin 1971, Homer and Pearson 1978; Nakashima et al. 1984).

Based on the results presented in this study, there are four possibilities for the underlying cause of the sterility in this new genic male-sterile line: 1) callase is not produced, or is produced but below the threshold level to digest the existing callose; 2) the callase is molecularly defective; 3) the callose is molecularly defective and is not sensitive to the callase; and 4) the callase is not active in the environment of the locular fluid (i.e., sub-optimal pH). One of these possibilites has been tested using the crude anther enzyme extracts, and is discounted as the cause of the sterility; namely, that callose is molecularly defective. Both the fertile and sterile tetrad callose walls were digested with the crude extracts from male-fertile anthers. This leaves the other three possibilities that are presently being tested by molecular approaches.

Genic male-sterile mutants have been proposed for many crop species breeding programs (Horner and Palmer 1995). Controlled production of hybrid seed is necessary for breeding programs and genetic studies. The most feasible methods should utilize close genetic linkage between a male-sterility locus and a seedling marker locus. In soybean, the close genetic linkage (2 to 4 cM, Skorupska and Palmer 1989) between a male-sterility locus and a seedling marker locus (*W1*) is known as the Co-segregation Method to produce F₁ seeds (Lewers et al. 1996). Development and use of this method will assist in the elucidation of the genetic

control of complex traits, the identification of lines to improve these traits, the improvement of populations for these traits through the use of recurrent selection, and determination of the agronomic potential of commercial hybrid soybean. The identification of additional soybean genic male steriles linked to a seedling marker locus will reduce the genetic vulnerability of soybean production of a single genic male sterile. The new genic male-sterile line described in this study, because of its high seed set, would be valuable for breeding programs if a useful linked genetic marker or a molecular marker can be identified.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge generous support from Midwest Oilseeds, Inc., Adel, Iowa 50003, U. S. A. Seeds of the male-sterile line in this study are available from Midwest Oilseeds, Inc. 2225 Laredo Trail, Adel, Iowa 50003, U.S.A. The microscopic aspects of this study were carried out in the Bessey Microscopy Facility at Iowa State University. We thank Drs. Nels Lersten, Mark Chamberlin, and Robert Graybosch for reviewing the manuscript.

References

- Albertsen MC, Palmer RG (1979) A comparative light- and electron-microscopic study of microsporogenesis in male-sterile (*ms1*) and male-fertile soybeans [*Glycine max* (L.). Merr.]. Am J Bot 66: 253-265
- Brim CA, Stuber CW (1973) Application of genetic male sterility to recurrent selection schemes in soybeans. Crop Sci 13: 528-530

- Buntman DJ, Horner HT (1983) Microsporogenesis of normal and male sterile (*ms3*) mutant soybean (*Glycine max*). Scanning Electron Microsc 1983: 913-922
- Carlson JB, Lersten NR (1987) Reproductive morphology. In: Wilcox JR (ed) Soybean: improvement, production and uses. Am Soc Agron, Madison, WI, pp. 95-134
- Carlson DR, Williams III CB (1985) Effect of temperature on the expression of male sterility in partially male-sterile soybean. Crop Sci 25: 646-648
- Echlin P (1971) The role of the tapetum during microsporogenesis of angiosperms. In: Heslop-Harrison J (ed) Pollen: Development and Physiology London: Butterworths, pp. 41-61

Edwardson JR (1970) Cytoplasmic male sterility. Bot Rev 36: 341-420

- Eschrich W (1961) Untersuchungen über den ab- und aufbau der callose. Z Bot 49: 153-218
- Frankel R, Izhar S, Nitsan J (1969) Timing of callase activity and cytoplasmic male sterility in petunia. Biochem Genet 3: 451-455
- Gottschalk W, Kaul MLH (1974) The genetic control of microsporogenesis in higher plants. The Nucleus (Calcutta) 17: 133-166
- Graybosch RA, Palmer RG (1985) Male sterility in soybean (*Glycine max*). I. Phenotypic expression of the *ms2* mutant. Am J Bot 72: 1751-1764
- Graybosch RA, Palmer RG (1988) Male sterility in soybean an overview. Am J Bot 75: 144-156
- Heslop-Harrison J (1957) The experimental modification of sex expression in flowering plants. Biol Rev 32: 38-90

- Horner HT, Jr (1977) A comparative light- and electron-microscopic study of microsporogenesis in male-fertile and cytoplasmic male-sterile sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Am J Bot 64: 745-759
- Horner HT, Palmer RG (1995) Mechanisms of genic male sterility. Crop Sci 35: 1527-1535
- Horner HT, Jr, Pearson CB (1978) Pollen wall and aperture development in Helianthus annuus (Compositae: Heliantheae). Am J Bot 65: 293-309
- Horner HT, Jr, Rogers MA (1974) A comparative light- and electron-microscopic study of microsporogenesis in male-sterile pepper (*Capsicum annuum* L.). Can J Bot 52: 435-441
- Humphrey CD, Pittman FE (1974) A simple methylene blue-azure II-basic fuchsin stain for epoxy-embedded tissue sections. Stain Technol 49: 9-13
- Izhar S, Frankel R (1971) Mechanism of male sterility in petunia: the relationship between pH, callase activity in anthers, and the breakdown of the microsporogenesis. Theor Appl Genet 44: 104-108
- Jensen WA (1962) Botanical histochemistry. W.H. Freeman and Co., San Francisco, page: 203
- Koltunow AM, Truttner J, Cox KH, Wollroth M, Goldberg RB (1990) Different temporal and spatial gene expression patterns occur during anther development. Plant Cell 2: 1201-1224
- Laser KD, Lersten NR (1972) Anatomy and cytology of microsporogenesis in cytoplasmic male sterile angiosperms. Bot Rev 38: 425-454

- Lewers KS, Martin SK St, Hedges BR, Widrlechner MP, Palmer RG (1996) Hybrid soybean seed production: comparison of three methods. Crop Sci (Accepted)
- Marrewijk GAMV (1969) Cytoplasmic male sterility in petunia. I. Restoration of fertility with special reference to the influence of environment. Euphytica 18: 1-20
- Mepham, RH, Lane GR (1969) Formation and development of the tapetal periplasmodium in *Tradescantia bracteata*. Protoplasma 68: 446-452
- Nakashima H, Horner HT, Palmer RG (1984) Histological features of anthers from normal and *ms3* mutant soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]. Crop Sci 24: 735-739
- Palmer RG, Albertsen MC, Horner HT, Skorupska H (1992) Male sterility in soybean and maize: developmental comparisons. The Nucleus (Calcutta) 35: 118
- Skorupska H, Palmer RG (1989) Genetics and cytology of the *ms6* male-sterile soybean. J Hered 80: 403-410
- Skorupska H, Palmer RG (1990) Additional sterile mutations in soybean, *Glycine* max (L.) Merr. J Hered 81: 296-300
- Stelly DM, Palmer RG (1980) A partially male-sterile mutant line of soybeans, *Glycine max* (L.) Merr.: characterization of the *msp* phenotype variation. Euphytica 29: 539-546
- Stieglitz H, Stern H (1973) Regulation of β-1,3-glucanase activity in developing anthers of *Lilium*. Develop Biol 34: 169-173
- Tsuchiya T, Toriyama K, Yoshikawa M, Ejiri S, Hinata K (1995) Tapetum-specific expression of the gene for an endo-β-1,3-glucanase causes male sterility in transgenic tobacco. Plant Cell Physiol 36: 487-494

- Warmke HE, Overman MA (1972) Cytoplasmic male sterility in sorghum. I Callose behavior in fertile and sterile anthers. J Hered 63: 103-108
- Worrall D, Hird DL, Hodge R, Paul W, Draper J, Scott R (1992) Premature dissolution of the microsporocyte callose wall causes male sterility in transgenic tobacco. Plant Cell 4: 759-771

CHAPTER 3 MOLECULAR MAPPING OF A MALE-STERILE GENE IN SOYBEAN

A paper to be submitted to the journal Crop Science

W. Jin, R. G. Palmer, H. T. Horner, and R. C. Shoemaker

Abstract

A newly identified genic male-sterile mutant in soybean has high seed set under natural field conditions and is potentially useful in hybrid seed production. Sterility in this mutant is caused by failure of callose dissolution at the tetrad stage, which results in microspore abortion; however, little is known about the male-sterile gene at the molecular level. The objective of this study was to identify molecular markers linked with the male-sterile gene (ms) and to place the ms gene onto the soybean molecular genetic map. An F2 population of 111 individuals was constructed from a cross between the mutant msMOS (ms ms) and the cultivar Minsoy (Ms Ms). Two hundred and seventy markers, including 219 RFLP and 51 SSRs, were evaluated. Of these, 102 RFLP probes and 31 SSR markers detected polymorphisms between the parents. The F2 population was screened for segregation of these polymorphic

Abbreviation: cM, centiMorgan; cms, cytoplasmic male sterility; LOD, logarithm of odds ratio; ms, male sterility; MAS, marker-assisted selection; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; RFLP, restriction fragment length polymorphism; SSR, simple sequence repeat.

molecular markers. Analyses revealed that the male-sterile locus, designated 'ms', was located on linkage group D1b of the USDA/ARS/ISU soybean molecular genetic map. The availability of linked DNA markers will facilitate the genetic analysis of this male-sterility gene in relation to soybean breeding programs, and will be a starting point for the isolation of the ms gene by map-based cloning.

Introduction

A major obstacle to F1 hybrid soybean seed production is the intensive handlabor requirement for large numbers of pollinations. Male sterility can be exploited to take advantage of insect pollination (Kaul, 1988). Cytoplasmic male sterility (cms) is the ideal system for hybrid seed production (Kaul, 1988); however, cms has been reported, but not confirmed, in soybean (Sun et al., 1997). Thus, nuclear male sterility, determined by nuclear genes, is currently the only available system. At least seven nuclear male-sterile mutants, including the mutant in this study have been documented in soybean (Jin et al., 1997; Palmer et al., 1992).

There are several limitations to using nuclear male sterility for hybrid seed production. Because this type of sterility is predominantly determined by recessive alleles, only the homozygous recessive can be identified in segregating populations. As a result, when using the classical backcross method for interline transfer of male sterility, fertile homozygotes and fertile heterozygotes are not distinguishable in the segregating backcross generations. To solve this problem, a breeder must identify lines carrying the male-sterile allele by self pollination. A second concern is that recessive nuclear male sterility must be propagated via the heterozygotes. Therefore, the yield of male-sterile progeny is limited to 50% in a backcross and 25% in an F2 generation.

Tight linkage between a male-sterile locus and a selectable marker locus will allow for the transfer of the male-sterile allele among breeding lines via uninterrupted backcrossing (for review see Horner and Palmer, 1995). If the marker could be identified in early growth stages, it would be possible to eliminate most if not all of the undesirable fertile plants before flowering. For example, the close genetic linkage (2 to 4% recombination) between the phenotype markers purple hypocotyl and flower (*W*1 locus), and male fertility (*Ms*6 locus) has been used in hybrid soybean seed production (Lewers et al., 1996). The *W*1 _ seedlings have purple hypocotyls, and *w*1 *w*1 seedlings have green hypocotyls. The *ms*6 *ms*6 plants are male sterile and female fertile. This closely-linked marker system has the benefit of allowing elimination, shortly after emergence of nearly all male-fertile individuals from evaluation plots, and allowing greater control of parental contributions during intermating. Therefore, half-sib recurrent-selection methods in soybean are compatible with this method (Lewers and Palmer, 1997).

The ms mutation described in this study is recessive, segregates as a single Mendelian locus, and is not linked to either of the two morphological markers; flower color (W1 locus) and pubescence color (T1 locus) (Jin et al., 1997). This ms mutation is non-allelic to ms1 through ms6 (Jin et al., 1997). The simple and

recessive inheritance of this male-sterile gene, as well as knowledge from previous extensive genetic and developmental studies (Jin et al., 1997), make this ms mutation an excellent system for further genetic and molecular studies. Molecular markers have been identified for a number of male-sterile genes in plants, such as rice photoperiod-sensitive genic male-sterile genes (Subudhi et al., 1997; B Wang et al., 1995; J Wang et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 1994) and *ms*14 from tomato (Gorman et al., 1996). There are no reports of molecular markers linked to male-sterile genes in soybean.

The objectives of our research were a) to identify molecular markers linked to the male-sterile gene, ms and b) to map the locus within the soybean genome. The results will facilitate the transfer of the ms allele in soybean breeding programs, and will help to characterize the behavior of the ms gene in various genetic backgrounds. We anticipate that as the soybean molecular map becomes more saturated and additional markers are identified that are even more closely linked to ms, these markers will be useful in isolating the ms gene by map-based cloning.

Material and Methods

Plant Material

Four cultivars [Williams 82, Harosoy, Noir I (PI 290136), and Minsoy (PI 27890)] and the male-sterile mutant (msMOS) were screened with 219 mapped RFLP probes and 51 SSRs to survey for DNA polymorphisms between msMOS and other cultivars. This process demonstrated that the mutant msMOS and Minsoy possessed a relatively high level of polymorphism (49%). A cross between msMOS and Minsoy was subsequently made during the summer of 1995. The F1 seeds were planted at the University of Puerto Rico Soybean Breeding Nursery, at the Isabela Substation, Isabela, Puerto Rico. F2 plants were grown in the growth chamber at photoperiods of 16 hr for the first 4 weeks, 14 hr for 2 weeks, and 13 hr until mature, and at 30°C daytime, and 24°C nighttime temperatures. Fertile F2 plants were single-plant threshed and F3 seeds were planted in Puerto Rico for classifying male sterility / fertility at maturity based on the successful seed set.

Male-fertile and male-sterile plants were identified at flowering by squashing latestage anthers in an aqueous solution of I₂KI (Jensen, 1962). Anthers from malefertile plants displayed densely staining rounded pollen grains, whereas anthers from male-sterile plants were void of densely staining rounded pollen grains (Jin et al., 1997). Two to three flowers per plant were evaluated on different days. Chisquare tests were performed to determine the goodness of fit of the phenotype of the F2 generation to a 3:1 ratio and of the F3 generation to a 1:2:1 ratio to identify the F2 genotype.

RFLP and SSR Analyses

Soybean DNA was isolated from freeze-dried leaf tissue of parental, F1, and F2 plants according to Keim et al. (1988), and digested with five restriction endonucleases (*Hind* III, *Eco* RI, *Eco* RV, *Dra* I, and *Taq* I). Digested DNA was separated by agarose gel electrophoresis (10 μ g/lane, 0.8% agarose), and transferred onto Zeta Probe Nylon membrane (BioRad) according to Sambrook et

al. (1989). Blots were hybridized with randomly primed ³²P-dCTP-labeled probes. Hybridizations and washes were performed at 65°C and 60°C, respectively, according to Zeta Probe recommendations (BioRad). Preliminary screening of parental DNA identified polymorphic clones used to collect RFLP data from the F2 progeny. The segregation of alleles at each locus was tested by chi-square analysis to determine the fit to expected ratios. Segregation data were collected for 102 clones, including 90 from soybean (Shoemaker and Olson, 1993; Shoemaker et al., 1997) and 12 from common bean (Vallejos et al., 1992) or mung bean (Menancio-Hautea et al., 1993).

Simple-sequence repeat (SSR) markers (Akkaya et al., 1995) also were evaluated, thus bringing the number of markers evaluated to 133. For SSR analysis, PCR reaction mixtures contained 60 ng of soybean genomic DNA, 1.5 mM Mg²⁺, 0.3 µM of sense and antisense primers, 200 µM of each nucleotide, and 1x PCR buffer in a total volume of 20 µL. Cycling consisted of 30 sec at 94°C, 30 sec at 47°C, and 30 sec at 68°C for 45 cycles on a Perkin-Elmer 960 Thermal Cycler. PCR products were run on 2.5% - 3.5% (depending on the sizes of the polymorphic fragments of the two bands) Metaphor (FMC) agarose gel in TBE (0.089 M Trisborate, 0.089 M boric acid, 0.002 M EDTA) buffer with ethidium bromide incorporated in the gel.

Linkage Analysis

The Mapmaker program (Lander et al., 1987) was used to construct a linkage map. A LOD score of 3 was used as the lower limit for accepting linkage between

two markers. Recombination frequencies were converted to map distances in centiMorgans (cM) using the Kosambi (Kosambi, 1944) function. Based on two-point analyses, Mapmaker generated log-likelihood values for the most probable order.

Results

Parental Survey

The four cultivars were screened with 219 mapped RFLP probes. Restriction patterns were compared with those obtained from the same digestion of msMOS with five restriction endonucleases (*Hind* III, *EcoR* I, *EcoR* V, *Dra* I, and *Taq* I). The msMOS and Minsoy combination demonstrated the highest level of polymorphism (49%, data not shown). Therefore, Minsoy was chosen as the male parent to cross with msMOS for constructing an F2 population.

Segregation of ms in the F2 Generation

The F1 plants were fertile. The segregation of fertile to sterile plants in the F2 followed a 3:1 ratio (data not shown). This confirmed the observation of Jin et al. (1997) that ms is a recessive gene. Following progeny testing the data demonstrated that the population of 111 F2 individuals showed 1:2:1 genotypic segregation ($\chi^2 = 0.16$, Table 1).

Identification of RFLP and SSR Markers Linked to ms

Initial screening of the F2 population was conducted by selecting several RFLP and SSR markers from each linkage group (Shoemaker et al., 1997). The markers were chosen to divide each linkage group into segments of less than 20 cM. Twopoint analyses indicated that the ms gene was linked to SSR marker Satt005 (LOD 38.9) on linkage group D1b (Cregan et al., unpublished). Additional markers from the linkage group were screened against the F2 population (Satt157, Satt296, Satt412, Satt266, A605, A747, Bng47, Mng137, Satt141, Satt189, Satt290, B194, L161, and K411). Based on LOD scores generated from the Mapmaker program, we found that the ms locus was linked to RFLP marker, Bng047, and SSR markers Satt157, Satt412, Satt005 and Satt290 with the LOD score of 31.5, 7.9, 10.7, 38.9 and 48.7 respectively. The most likely order of these markers is shown in Fig. 1. No polymorphisms were detected at loci: A605, A747, Mng137, and B194 using the restriction endonucleases *Hind* III, *EcoR* I, *EcoR* V, *Dra* I, *Taq* I, *Acc* I, *Alu* I, *Hha* I, *Hae* III, *Ssp* I, and *BamH* I, nor were polymorphisms observed using the SSR markers: Satt296, Satt266, Satt141, and Satt189. Although markers K411 and L161 were polymorphic in this cross, they segregated independently of ms. Segregation ratios of all RFLP and SSR markers provided good fits to the 1:2:1 ratio or the 3:1 ratio. Only those markers linked with the ms gene are shown in Table 1.

Discussion

In this study, we mapped the nuclear male-sterile gene, ms, to linkage group D1b. The gene was flanked by SSR markers, Satt157, and Satt412. Male-sterile genes have been mapped in several different species (Subudhi et al., 1997; Gorman et al., 1996; J Wang . et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 1994); however, this is the first



Fig. 1. Linkage map of linkage group D1b of the USDA/ARS/ISU molecular genetic map. Distances are shown in centiMorgans. A) A linkage map of linkage group D1b constructed from the *Glycine max* x *G. soja* population, where ms was placed between SSR markers Satt157 and Satt412. B) Location of the ms locus, from the cross msMOS x Minsoy, on linkage group D1b. *Satt412 has not been mapped in *G. max* x *G. soja* population.

Traits or	No. of F2	Observed no.	X ²
markers	plants	AA [‡] HH [‡] BB [‡] BB [‡] DD [‡] AA [‡] CC [‡]	(1:2:1) (3:1)
ms	109	25 55 27	0.16
Satt157	101	24 56 21	1.81
Satt412	106	26 57 23	0.29
Bng047	108	25 83	0.30
Satt005	111	24 61 26	1.20
Satt290	111	25 60 26	0.76

Table 1. Segregation of the ms (male sterility) locus, and linked restriction fragment length polymorphism and simple sequence repeat markers in an F2 soybean population from msMOS X Minsoy

* Genotypes: AA = msMOS; HH = heterozygous; BB = Minsoy; DD = not BB; CC = not AA

report on the molecular mapping of a soybean male-sterile gene.

In an independent population the distance between Satt157 to Bng047 has been shown to be 39.8 cM (Cregan et al., in review) whereas in our population we calculated the distance to be 48.7 cM. These differences may arise from the relatively low sample number or may be complicated by different recombination frequencies in this region in the specific genetic material used for our crosses (Mock, 1972). Additionally, recombination distortions may have occurred because of different environment/genotype interactions at the time of F1 meiosis (Stephens, 1950; Williams et al., 1995).

Soybean nuclear male sterility is controlled predominately by single recessive genes and the presence of male-sterile genes (heterozygotes) in breeding lines can only be detected by progeny testing. Presently, breeders use self-pollination alternating with backcrossing to identify lines carrying the male-sterile allele (Palmer et al., accepted). DNA markers linked to the ms locus provide a useful approach for early and accurate identification of lines carrying a male-sterile allele and they eliminates the necessity of several seasons of self-pollination. These markers should provide plant breeders with an efficient method for rapid transfer of the ms gene to elite soybean germplasm and may facilitate the development of hybrid soybean.

SSRs are excellent genetic markers in that they are highly abundant and highly polymorphic (Akkaya et al., 1992; Tautz, 1989). They are evenly distributed throughout the genome (Weber, 1990), generally detect only a single genetic locus, and are disseminated easily among laboratories by publishing primer sequences. In this study SSR markers were scored with agarose electrophoresis without the use of radioisotopes. Such ease in screening for SSRs should further facilitate their use in practical plant breeding.

Pollen development in higher plants is a complex process (reviewed in McCormick, 1993). Four male-sterile genes have been cloned (Aarts et al., 1993; Albertsen et al., 1996; Gorman et al., 1996; Moffatt and Somerville, 1988), but

because of the complexities of male gametophyte development, the mechanism(s) of nuclear-encoded male sterility is (are) not clear. It will be essential to clone and characterize a large number of male-sterile gene products from a number of species to understand the myriad functions of male-sterile genes. Map-based cloning is a reasonable strategy for isolation of male-sterile genes in soybean because the technique requires only that the target gene has a clear phenotype and that its position on a genetic map be known. The placement of the ms phenotype onto the soybean genetic map is a first step in this process.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge Terry Olson and Dr. Arla Bush for solving technical problems, Jerry Dunn for growing plants in the growth chamber, and Drs. P. Cregan, B. Held and J. E. Specht for critically reviewing the manuscript. We acknowledge generous support from Midwest Oilseeds, Inc., Adel, Iowa 50003, U. S. A. Requests for seeds of the male-sterile line (msMOS) in this study should be made to Midwest Oilseeds, Inc. 2225 Laredo Trail, Adel, Iowa 50003, U.S.A.

References

Aarts, M.G.M., W.G. Dirkse, W.J. Steikema, and A. Pereira. 1993. Transposon tagging of a male sterility gene in *Arabidopsis*. Nature 363: 715-717.

- Albertsen, M.C., T.W. Fox, and M.R. Trimnell. 1996. Cloned genes and mutants of male fertility in maize. p. 1 (Abstract). *In* 14th International Congress of Sexual Plant Reproduction, Lorne Victoria, Australia, 18-23 Feb. 1996.
- Akkaya, M.S., A.A. Bhagwat, and P.B. Cregan. 1992. Length polymorphisms of simple sequence repeat DNA in soybean. Genetics 132: 1131-1139.
- Akkaya, M.S., R.C. Shoemaker., J.E. Specht, A.A. Bhagwat and P.B. Cregan.
 1995. Integration of simple sequence repeat DNA markers into soybean linkage
 map. Crop Sci. 35: 1439-1445.
- Cregan, P.B., T. Jarvik, A.L. Bush, R.C. Shoemaker, K.G. Lark, A.L. Hahler, T.T. VanToai, D.G. Lohnes, J. Chung, and J.E. Specht. An integrated genetic linkage map of the soybean. Crop Sci. (in review).
- Gorman, S.W., D. Banasiak, C. Fairley, and S. McCormick. 1996. A 610 Kb YAC clone harbors 7 cM of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*) DNA that includes the male sterile 14 gene and a hotspot for recombination. Mol. Gen. Genet. 251: 52-59.
- Horner, H. T., and R. G. Palmer. 1995. Mechanisms of genic male sterility. Crop Sci. 35: 1527-1535.
- Jensen, W.A. 1962. Botanical histochemistry. p. 203. Freeman. San Francisco.
- Jin, W., H.T. Horner, and R.G. Palmer. 1997. Genetics and cytology of a new genic male-sterile soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]. Sex. Plant Reprod. 10: 13-21.
- Kaul, M.L.H., 1988. Male sterility in higher plants. Monographs on theoretical and applied genetics 10. Springer-Verlag. New York.

- Keim, P., T.C. Olson, and R.C. Shoemaker. 1988. A rapid protocol for isolating soybean DNA. Soybean Genet. Newslett. 15: 150-152.
- Kosambi, D.D. 1944. The estimation of map distance from recombination values. Ann. Eugen. 12: 172-175.
- Lander, E.S., P. Green, J. Abrahamson, A. Barlow, M.J. Daly, S.E. Lincoln, and L. Newburg. 1987. MAPMAKER: an interactive computer program for constructing genetic linkage maps of experimental and natural populations. Genomics 1: 174-181.
- Lewers, K.S., and R.G. Palmer. 1997. Recurrent selection in soybean. Plant Breed. Rev. 15: 275-313.
- Lewers, K.S., S.K. St. Martin, B.R. Hedges, M.P. Widrlechner, and R. G. Palmer. 1996. Hybrid soybean seed production: comparison of three methods. Crop Sci. 36: 1560-1567.

McCormick, S. 1993. Male gametophyte development. Plant Cell 5: 1265-1275.

- Menancio-Hautea, D., L. Kumar, D. Danesh, and N.D. Young. 1993. A genome map for mungbean [*Vigna radiata* (L.) Wilczek] based on DNA genetic markers (2N = 2X =22). p. 6.259-6.261. *In* S.J. O'Brien (ed.) Genetic maps: Locus maps of complex genomes. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. New York.
- Mock, J.J. 1972. Manipulation of crossing over with intrinsic and extrinsic factors. Egyp. J. Genet. Cytol. 2: 158-175.

- Moffatt, B.A., and C. Somerville. 1988. Positive selection for male-sterile mutants of *Arabidopsis* lacking adenine phosphoribosyl transferase activity. Plant Physiol. 86: 1150-1154.
- Palmer, R.G., M.C. Albertsen, H.T. Horner, and H. Skorupska. 1992. Male sterility in soybean and maize: developmental comparisons. The Nucleus (Calcutta) 35: 1-18.
- Palmer, R.G., J.B. Holland, and K.S. Lewers. 1998. Recombination values for the *Ms6-W1* chromosome region in different genetic backgrounds in soybean. Crop Sci. (in press).
- Sambrook, J., E.F. Fritsch, and T. Maniatis. 1989. Molecular cloning. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. New York.
- Shoemaker, R.C., and T.C. Olson. 1993. Molecular linkage map of soybean
 (*Glycine max* L. Merr.). p. 6.131-6.138. *In* S.J. O'Brien (ed.) Genetic maps:
 Locus maps of complex genomes. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. New York.
- Shoemaker, R.C., K.M. Polzin, L.L. Lorenzen, and J.E. Specht. 1997. Molecular genetic mapping of soybean. p. 37-56. *In* D.P.S. Verma and R. C. Shoemaker (eds.) Soybean: Genetics, Molecular Biology and Biotechnology. CAB International. Wallingford, U.K.
- Stephens, S.G. 1950. The internal mechanism of speciation in *Gossypium*. Bot. Rev. 16: 115-149.

- Subudhi ,P.K., R.P. Borkakati, S.S. Virmani, and N. Huang. 1997. Molecular mapping of a thermosensitive genetic male sterility gene in rice using bulked segregant analysis. Genome 40: 188-194.
- Sun, H., Z. Linmei, and H. Mei. 1997. Cytoplasmic-nuclear male sterile soybean line from interspecific crosses between *G. max* and *G. soja*. p. 99-102. *In* Proc. World Soybean Research Conference V, Chiang Mai, Thailand, Feb. 21-27, 1994. Kasetsart University Press. Thailand.
- Tautz, D. 1989. Hypervariability of simple sequences as a general source of polymorphic DNA markers. Nucleic Acids Res. 17: 6463-6471.
- Vallejos, C.E., N.S. Sakiyama, and C.D. Chase. 1992. A molecular marker-based linkage map of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Genetics 131: 733-740.
- Wang, B., W.W. Xu, J.Z. Wang, W. Wu, H.G. Zheng, Z.Y. Yang, J.D. Ray, and H.T. Nguyen. 1995. Tagging and mapping the thermo-sensitive genic male-sterile gene in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) with molecular markers. Theor. Appl. Genet. 91: 1111-1114.
- Wang, J., B. Wang, G. Zhang, T. Mu, and N. Huang. 1995. Tagging and mapping of a rice photo-sensitive genic male sterile (PGMS) gene. p.84 (Abstract). *In*Plant Genome III: Proceedings of the Third International Conference on the Status of Plant Genome Research, San Diego, CA., 15-19 Jan. 1995. Scherago International, Inc.
- Weber, J.L. 1990. Informativeness of human (dC·dA)_n·(dG·dT)_n polymorphisms. Genomics 7: 524-530.

- Williams, C.G, M.M. Goodman, and C.W. Stuber. 1995. Comparative recombination distances among *Zea mays* L. inbreds, wide crosses and interspecific hybrids. Genetics 141: 1573-1581.
- Zhang, Q., B.Z. Shen, X.K. Dai, M.H. Mei, M.A. Saghai Maroof, and Z.B. Li. 1994. Using bulked extremes and recessive class to map genes for photoperiod sensitive genic male sterility in rice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91: 8675-8679.

CHAPTER 4. ANALYSIS AND MAPPING OF GENE FAMILIES ENCODING β -1,3-GLUCANASES OF SOYBEAN

A paper to be submitted to The Proceedings of National Academy of Science USA

W. Jin, H. T. Horner, R. G. Palmer, and R. C. Shoemaker

Abstract

Oligonucleotide primers designed for conserved sequences from coding regions of β -1,3-glucanase genes from a number of different species were used to amplify related sequences from soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]. Sequencing and cross hybridization of amplification products indicated that at least 12 classes of β -1,3-glucanase genes exist in soybean. Members of classes mapped to 34 loci on 5 different linkage groups using an F2 population of 56 individuals. We found that β -1,3-glucanase genes are clustered onto regions of five linkage groups. Northern blot analyses performed on total RNA from root, stem, leaf, pod, flower bud, and hypocotyl, using the different classes of β -1,3-glucanases as probes, revealed that

Key words: Soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]; β -1,3-glucanase gene families; sequence; genomic mapping

Abbreviations: SGlu, soybean β -1,3-glucanase; BAC, bacterial artificial chromosome.

accumulation patterns of β -1,3-glucanase mRNA in these organ. Data suggest that the mRNA accumulation of β -1,3-glucanase genes may be correlated with their levels of sequence divergence and their chromosomal locations.

Introduction

 β -1,3-glucanases (EC 3.2.1.39) are hormonally and developmentally regulated plant hydrolytic enzymes, found during anther and coleoptile development, pollen tube growth, in endosperm cell walls and in the end walls of sieve elements. They also are induced upon pathogen infection or environmental stresses (Abeles et al., 1971; Beerhues and Kombrink, 1994; Beffa et al., 1996; Boller, 1987; Brederode et al., 1991; Castresana et al., 1990; Dong et al., 1991; Leah et al., 1991; Mauch et al., 1988; Schroder et al., 1992; Takeuchi et al., 1990; Ward et al., 1991). Five distinct classes and a total of 12 genes of β -1,3-glucanase have been identified in tobacco (Bucciaglia and Smith, 1994; Felix and Meins, 1986; Linthorst et al., 1990; Ori et al., 1990; Payne et al., 1990; Van den Bulcke et al., 1989). The best characterized are the basic isoforms which are induced by either pathogen infection or ethylene treatment, exhibit developmental regulation (Felix and Meins, 1986), and seem to be localized primarily in cell vacuoles (Van den Bulcke et al., 1989). Members of the second class of β -1,3-glucanases, which include the pathogenesis-related proteins PR-2, PR-N, PR-O and PR-35 (Kaufmann et al., 1987; Van den Bulcke et al., 1989). also are induced by pathogens and seems to be localized in the extracellular spaces. The third class of β -1,3-glucanases, which include the pathogenesisrelated protein PR-Q' (Payne et al., 1990), also are induced by pathogens and seems to be localized in the extracellular space. The fourth class of β -1,3glucanases are acidic, sp41a and sp41b, accumulate to high levels in the transmitting tract of the style and are not pathogen inducible (Ori et al., 1990). The fifth class is a secreted, acidic anther β -1,3-glucanase that seems to be expressed in the anther tapetum (Bucciaglia and Smith, 1994) and is involved in tetrad dissolution. Related monocot β -1,3;1,4-glucanases encode proteins similar to β -1,3;1,4glucanases. The function of these proteins is to catalyze the hydrolysis of β -1,3;1,4glucans, major components of endosperm cell walls (Fincher et al., 1986).

Although many physiological studies have been conducted, little has been done toward genetic analysis of β -1,3-glucanase genes. Li et al. (1996) mapped seven members of a β -1,3-glucanase gene family in barley. The seven genes were all located on the long arm of chromosome 3. Six of the seven genes were clustered in a region less than 20 cM in length. The regulation of these genes is unknown. Genes on the same chromosome seemed to be closely related to one another but substantially different from those on other chromosomes (Muthukrishnan et al., 1984).

The isolation, characterization, and localization of β -1,3-glucanase genes will provide information about soybean β -1,3-glucanase gene families and the evolution of the gene families. In this paper we present results related to the cloning of β -1,3glucanase genes, the expression patterns of these genes, and the chromosomal localization of β -1,3-glucanases in the soybean genome. The linkage group

distributions of β -1,3-glucanase genes expressed in different organs, sequence relationships among β -1,3-glucanase genes found at various loci, and the genomic organization of β -1,3-glucanase loci have implications for the mechanisms underlying β -1,3-glucanase gene regulation, evolution, and possible functions of multiple β -1,3-glucanase gene loci.

Materials and Methods

Plant Material and Nucleic Acid Manipulations

Plant tissues for nucleic acid isolation were collected from the soybean cultivar Minsoy (PI 27890) grown in the greenhouse or growth chamber. Material for RNA extraction was immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C until used. Soybean genomic DNA was extracted from freeze-dried young leaves, following the protocol of Keim et al. (1988). Total DNA (10 μg) was digested and subjected to Southern blotting as described by Sambrook et al. (1989). Total RNA was extracted using guanidinium isothiocyanate extraction (Chomczynski and Sacchi, 1987), electrophoresed on formaldehyde-agarose gels, and blotted onto Zeta Probe Nylon membrane (BioRad) as described by Sambrook et al.(1989). Filters were prehybridized 3 hrs at 65°C in 5x SSC, 2% SDS, 5x Denhardt's solution, 0.1 mg/ml herring sperm DNA. Hybridization was carried out overnight at 65°C in the same solution. Filters were washed at 60°C with: 2X SSC+0.4% SDS, and 1XSSC+0.4% SDS at 60°C before exposure for autoradiography.

Genetic Mapping of β -1,3-glucanase Genes

β-1,3-glucanase genes were mapped in a *Glycine max* (L.) Merr. X *G. soja* Zieb. & Zucc. population containing 56 individuals (Keim et al., 1990). Parental DNA was digested with 14 restriction endonucleases (*Acc* I, *Alu* I, *Bcl* I, *BamH* I, EcoR I, *EcoR* V, *Dra* I, *Hae* III, *Hha* I, *Hind III*, *Hinf* I, *Rsa* I, Ssp I, *Taq* I). Each polymorphism was mapped using MapMaker (Lander et al., 1987). The Kosambi (Kosambi, 1944) mapping function was selected and a minimum logarithm of odds (LOD) score of 3 required for a two-point linkage.

PCR Amplification, Cloning, Sequence Analysis

Coding region segments encoding β -1,3-glucanase were amplified from soybean genomic DNA and flower bud cDNA using primers that matched conserved sequences of the β -1,3-glucanases from other species (Simmons, 1994). To obtain cDNA, mRNA was prepared from flower buds, the mRNA was incubated with 5 μ M random hexamers, 1mM each of dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and dTTP, and 2 U/ μ l RNase inhibitor (Promega) in 10 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.3), 50 mM KCI, 2.5 mM MgCl₂ for 30 min at 37°C, and then for a further 45 min at 37°C following the addition of 20 U/ μ l superscript reverse transcriptase (BRL). After heating at 65°C for 3 min, cDNA prepared from 0.1 μ g of mRNA was used in the PCR experiments. Each 25 μ l PCR reaction contained 60 ng of soybean genomic DNA or 20 ng of flower cDNA, 10 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.3), 50 mM KCI, 3 mM MgCl₂, 200 μ M (each) dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and dTTP, 2.5 U of Taq polymerase (BRL Life Technology), and 2 μ M (each) PCR primer. PCR amplifications were performed according to 96°C for 1 min, 44°C for 1

min, 72°C for 1 min for 4 cycles, followed by 94°C for 1 min, 55°C for 1 min, 72°C for 1 min for 30 cycles. The 5' primer was 5'CGCGGNGTNTGYTAYGG 3'; the 3' primer was 5'CGCGGCCANCCNSWYTC 3' (where N = A, C, G, T; R = A, G; Y = C, T; S = C, G and W = A, T). The regions used correspond to amino acids 37-41 and 276-282 (Simmons, 1994). An aliquot of each PCR product was analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis. A 700 bp fragment was cut from the gel and subjected to another round of PCR using identical conditions. Aliquots of these PCR products were digested with restriction enzymes recognizing 4-bp sites and the digestion products were compared with undigested DNA on agarose gels. The PCR products were cloned into the pGEM-T vector (Promega), and about 280 clones were tested by dot blot analysis (Sambrook et al., 1989) to determine if they cross hybridized with one another.

Clones were sequenced using an automated sequencer. Two to five sequences were obtained for each class. DNA sequence analysis was carried out with the DNAsis (Hitachi), GCG (University of Wisconsin Genetics Computer Group, Madison) sequence analysis packages. Alignment of sequences was done using CLUSTAL (Thompson et al., 1994) Phylogenetic analysis of amino acid sequences was performed using PAUP version 3.0 (Swofford, 1991).

BAC Library Screening

The soybean BAC library (Marek and Shoemaker, 1996; 1997) was replicated onto nylon membrane (Zeta-Probe GT; Bio-Rad). The membranes were screened using two β -1,3-glucanase probes, SGlu2 and SGlu5, and BACs were identified that contained these sequences.

Results

Isolation of Soybean β -1,3-glucanase Genes and Sequence Analysis

PCR amplification of soybean genomic DNA using degenerate primers designed from conserved regions of other β -1,3-glucanases resulted in production of a ~700 bp fragment. The fragment was excised from the gel and subjected to a further round of PCR (Fig. 1). We then asked whether the PCR product we obtained consisted of a mixture of DNA sequences, consistent with the amplification of multigene families. The PCR product was digested with *Hae* III, *Alu* I, *Rsa* I, *Mse* I and *Sau3A* I. The restriction digestion yielded a series of fragments whose molecular weights summed to a value greater than that of the original PCR product (data not shown). The presence of a heterogeneous PCR product suggested the involvement of multigene families.

The PCR products were cloned and ~280 clones were analyzed. The clones were grouped into 12 classes based upon cross-hybridization results under stringent hybridization conditions (0.1x standard saline citrate (SSC) / 0.1x SDS /60°C wash).

PCR experiments using cDNA as a template also generated a 700 bp band (Fig. 1) indicating that the targeted genomic coding regions of the members of the multigene families may not be interrupted by introns.

BAC library screening identified 15 BACs representing SGlu 5, and 5 BACs representing SGlu2. Copy number of β -1,3-glucanase sequences within each BAC was estimated by digesting the BACs with restriction enzymes that did not have recognition sites within the β -1,3-glucanase probe sequences and by hybridizing with each class-specific probe (results not shown). SGlu2 BACs each contained two copies of the sequence. This agreed with the prediction of two to four copies based on genomic Southern hybridization patterns (results not shown). The class 5 BACs each appeared to have one to two copies of the class 5 β -1,3-glucanase sequence. This agreed with the prediction genomic Southern hybridization patterns (results not shown). The class 5 BACs each appeared to have one to two copies of the class 5 β -1,3-glucanase sequence. This agreed with the prediction genomic Southern hybridization patterns (results not shown).

Three to five clones from each class were sequenced from both strands, and the deduced amino acid sequences of representative clones from each class are presented in Fig. 2. Among sequenced clones, classes 2 and 7 showed heterogeneity. The deduced protein contains 30 amino acids that are identical among all 12 classes, and classes I, II, III, IV, and V of tobacco β -1,3-glucanases (Fig. 2). These include the acidic amino acids glutamic acid, residues 96 and 245, and tryptophans residues 74 and 248. Glutamic acid 245 and tryptophan 248 are surrounded by highly conserved amino acids, which are similarly conserved in plant and yeast glucanases (MacGregor and Balance, 1991).

SGlu9 is probably a pseudogene because it contains multiple stop codons; however, it did show strong similarity with SGlu8. SGlu8 and SGlu9 of soybean β-1,3-glucanase clones differ at only 6 positions in 700 bases of overlapping sequence. Pair-wise comparisons between different classes revealed that amino acid identities ranged from 11.1% to 81.8%; similarities range from 35.2% to 99.9%. Class 7 also contained two subclasses, 7a and 7b, which differ at only 6 positions at DNA sequences and show 98.3% amino acid identity. These subclasses had different banding patterns on Southern blots (results not shown).

Phylogenetic Analysis of β-1,3-glucanase-coding Regions

To determine the relationships of the 12 classes of soybean β -1,3-glucanases to the five classes of β -1,3-glucanase genes from tobacco, a parsimony analysis was conducted using five classes from previously described tobacco β -1,3-glucanase genes. Amino acid sequences were aligned using CLUSTAL (Thompson et al., 1994) and subsequently analyzed using PAUP version 3.0 (Swofford, 1991). Fig. 3 shows the unrooted consensus tree (from 100 bootstrap replicates) which groups four soybean classes (SGlu1, SGlu8, SGlu4, and SGlu12) as a branch with tobacco Class I; five soybean classes, SGlu3, SGlu5, SGlu6, SGlu10, and SGlu11 are grouped closely to acidic β -1,3-glucanases (Class II) and stylar acidic glucanase (Class IV). The structurally similar, pathogen induced, acidic glucanase (Class II), and stylar acidic glucanases (Class IV) are grouped on one branch. This agrees with a previous report (Bucciaglia and Smith, 1994). SGlu2 is grouped close to

Class III. SGlu7a and 7b and Tag1 (Class V) are grouped together, suggesting that SGlu7 could be an anther specific β -1,3-glucanase.

Mapping of 12 Classes of β -1,3-glucanase Genes

An F2 population derived from an interspecific cross was used to determine the genomic location of 12 classes of β -1,3-glucanases. Clones representing separate classes were hybridized to Southern blots of soybean genomic DNA digested with 14 restriction enzymes to identify polymorphisms and to estimate gene family copy number. Most of the genes hybridized to multiple fragments indicating that most β -1,3-glucanase classes consisted of multigene families. Two to 7 bands were detected by ³²P-labeled DNA fragments of the coding region of β -1,3-glucanase genes (results not shown). This indicated that the soybean β -1,3-glucanase gene families consisted of at least 1 to 7 members. We detected a total of about 42-46 individual fragments in this analysis, which could represent the presence of at least 42 different genes. Most of the probes identified a number of different restriction fragments in parental DNAs. Most of these fragments are expected to represent different genes that belong to the same β -1,3-glucanase class.

The segregation analysis of 56 individuals of the F2 population placed the different classes on 5 of 26 linkage groups (Fig. 4): linkage groups B1, J, K, L, and N1. All of these linkage groups contained more than two loci of β -1,3-glucanases. Two classes, SGlu4 and SGlu12, cosegregrated with the pea β -1,3-glucanase, involved with fungal resistance (Chang et al., 1992).

Some class probes (SGlu2, SGlu3, SGlu5, and SGlu9) detected multiple polymorphic fragments. Not all of the fragments mapped to the same chromosomal locus. Therefore, not all of the β -1,3-glucanase genes belonging to the same class are located at the same locus and members of different classes can map to the same locus. SGlu7a and b were not mapped because no polymorphisms were detected between parental DNA digested with 14 restriction enzymes.

In soybean, large domains of different linkage groups seem to have been derived from the same ancestral linkage group through duplication (Shoemaker et al., 1996). The different domains contain homologous members of the same gene families. Some of the β -1,3-glucanase gene loci (e. g. SGlu2) lie within paralogous regions (Fig. 4). For example, two markers, pB162 and PEG488, detected loci on linkage groups L and N1. On both linkage groups these markers are also linked to SGlu2 loci (Fig. 4). Therefore, these linkages establish evolutionary relationships among these β -1,3-glucanase gene loci. These further suggests that these multiple β -1,3-glucanase gene loci have arisen, during evolution, via duplications of large chromosomal regions in which linkage relationships between β -1,3-glucanase genes and the other genes have been maintained.

Nucleotide Sequences, Phylogenetic Relationships and Chromosomal Locations

Twelve β -1,3-glucanase gene segments used in the mapping project were sequenced. and the extent to which β -1,3-glucanase genes mapped to individual locus (loci) is (are) related was analyzed (Fig. 4). The sequenced region covers

~60% of the coding region and includes regions proposed to be the catalytic sites. The 12 β -1,3-glucanase sequences show an average nucleotide sequence identity of 64.8% (range 21.4% to 95%), an average amino acid sequence identity of 36.2% (range 11.1% to 81.8%) and an average amino acid sequence similarity of 70.2% (range 35.2% to 99.9%). Those β -1,3-glucanases that mapped to the same locus always showed>88% nucleotide sequence identity. For example, SGlu5 and SGlu11 both mapped to a locus on linkage B (Fig. 4). As Figs. 3 and 4 show, sequence similar genes are clustered on one linkage group or on duplicated regions of linkage groups; e.g. SGlu1, 4, 8, and 12 all group into tobacco class I and are all mapped on linkage group K.

mRNA Accumulation Patterns of Different Classes

In order to study gene-specific mRNA accumulation patterns, the presence of mRNAs corresponding to each class was analyzed by RNA blot analyses using the gene-specific probes (Fig. 6). The expression levels of all classes were quite low in young leaves. SGlu2, SGlu4, SGlu7, and SGlu12 mRNA were highly accumulated in young roots and hypocotyls. SGlu7 also was expressed in the pod and flower bud. Interestingly, we were unable to detect mRNA from SGlu 1, SGlu3, SGlu8, and SGlu9 (pseudogene) genes on RNA gel blots. The lack of detectable mRNA accumulation from these four classes suggested that these genes were nonexpressed, expressed at very low level or were inducible genes.
Discussion

The primary goal of this study was a thorough analysis of β -1.3-glucanase gene families in soybean. Hybridization of β -1,3-glucanase probes to soybean genomic DNA blots revealed gene families of moderate size. Through exhaustive cross hybridizations and sequence analyses, we classified clones into 12 groups. We then analyzed sequence relationships among these genes, and determined their genomic locations.

To our knowledge this is the first instance of direct mapping of β -1,3-glucanase genes in plant. Using an F2 population, 45 restriction fragment length polymorphisms were mapped with 14 restriction enzymes and 12 β -1,3-glucanase class-specific probes. We identified 34 distinct β -1,3-glucanase gene loci on 5 different linkage groups. Multiple genes were found to map to five of the loci, indicating that some of the loci contain clusters of β -1,3-glucanase genes. Because of the small population size, it was not possible to distinguish very tightly linked loci from a single locus. Many polymorphisms were probably due to sequence variations among class members. It is likely that at least some genes will be tandemly arranged in a cluster as is observed with other multigene families (Kanazin et al., 1996; Sullivan et al., 1996; Sutliff et al., 1991; Yamaguchi-Shinozakik et al., 1989). A tandem array of this sort provides a template for recombination events, including unequal crossing over and gene conversion, which can lead to expansion and further diversification of the sort apparent among the classes we have cloned (for review see Maeda and Smithies, 1986; Clegg et al., 1997).

The wide distribution of β -1,3-glucanase genes in the genome may protect against catastrophic losses of β -1,3-glucanase genes by unequal crossing over or gene slippage that might occur if β -1,3-glucanase genes were clustered at a single locus (Dover, 1993). The existence of multiple β -1,3-glucanase genes might also promote the development and maintenance of structural and functional diversity in the β -1,3-glucanase gene families.

Our data suggest that some β -1,3-glucanase genes are organized into duplicated regions in the genome. In these regions, each β -1,3-glucanase gene locus seems to be related to other β -1,3-glucanase gene loci by linkage to other markers. These β -1,3-glucanase gene loci are probably evolutionarily related. These β -1,3-glucanase gene loci have arisen during evolution via duplications of large chromosomal regions. However, retrotransposition and duplication of individual genes also occur during the evolution of β -1,3-glucanase gene families since SGlu9 mapped as a single locus both on linkage group B1 and J.

In higher plants, β -1,3-glucanases are encoded by gene families of considerable complexity (Linthorst et al., 1990; Xu et al., 1992). The significance of the gene multiplicity is unclear. It could provide more flexibility for spatial and temporal regulation of β -1,3-glucanase diverse functions: microsporogenesis, pollen-tube growth, senescence, and disease resistance described previously, or "pathogenesis-related" β -1,3-glucanases might be expressed either constitutively or inducibly, and there may be requirements for different responses in different tissues. It also reflects functional differences between closely related proteins. Multiplicity of

 β -1,3-glucanase functions might confer advantages to the plants by providing several lines of defense against invading microorganisms. Also the diversity of β -1,3-glucanases, as well as their organ specificity and developmental and differential expression patterns, may indicate that this group of enzymes has additional, as yet, unidentified biological functions in plant growth and development.

The deduced β -1,3-glucanase protein is very similar to other plant β -1,3glucanases at residues thought to be important in binding and glucan hydrolysis (Fig. 2, residues 245 to 248), suggesting that these proteins have β -1,3-glucanase activity. Chen et al. (1993) reported that barley endo- β -1,3- and β -1,3-;1,4 glucanase activities were abolished by modification of glutamic acid residues 275 and 335. Based on sequence conservation and amino acid experiments, this region is assumed to be a catalytic site (MacGregor and Balance, 1991). All 12 classes of soybean β -1,3-glucanases contain this site. There is an additional conserved glutamic acid surrounded by identical or functionally conserved amino acids (Fig. 2, residue 96) which is present in soybean glucanases.

In an effort to group 12 classes of soybean β -1,3-glucanases into previously described glucanase classes (Bucciaglia and Smith, 1994; Linthorst et al., 1990; Ori et al., 1990; Payne et al., 1990; Shinshi et al., 1988), we used parsimony analysis to determine the relationship of these β -1,3-glucanases (Fig. 3). Our results are consistent with previously reported classification systems.

Sequence and phylogenetic analyses of the β -1,3-glucanase genes showed that members of the same β -1,3-glucanase class, as well as closely related classes,

often mapped to the same linkage group or to duplicated regions of linkage groups. All class I β -1,3-glucanases mapped on linkage group K, all class III β -1,3glucanases mapped on duplicated regions on linkage groups L and N1, and all class II and IV β -1,3-glucanases mapped on linkage groups B1 and J. Other examples of genes with similar function and expression patterns that reside on the same linkage group can be found among gene families involved in the regulation of floral identity and cell differentiation (Pickett and Meeks-Wagner, 1995), and disease resistance genes (Kanazin et al., 1996).

The multigene families encoding the β -1,3-glucanases are large; all of the member genes clearly have a common ancestral origin but have undergone considerable divergence such that individual genes encoding proteins share 11.1%-81.5% amino acid identity. Subclasses are apparent, with groups of genes sharing greater homology among themselves than with members of other subclasses. Three classes of tobacco β -1,3-glucanase cDNA clones differ at only 18 positions in 1055 bases of overlapping sequence (Shinshi et al., 1988). The high homology level of the tobacco β -1,3-glucanases is maintained by intergenomic DNA exchange between genes (Sperisen et al., 1991). In soybean, two classes of β -1,3-glucanase genes (SGlu8 and SGlu9) differ at only 6 positions in 700 bases. How this high level of homology is maintained in soybean is unknown.

Our results indicate that in soybean, pathogen invasion is not a prerequisite for expression of some of the β -1,3-glucanase genes. SGlu2, SGlu4, SGlu7 and SGlu12 were constitutively expressed in roots and hypocotyl. These could

represent a permanent form of defense against possible threats from rhizosphere microbes (Memelink et al., 1990). These results do not preclude a role of three β -1,3-glucanases in defense against microorganism infection because pre-emptive or 'proactive' expression of the enzymes (independent of microbial attack) could provide some measure of insurance against infection during crucial phases of the life cycle in which plant tissues are susceptible to pathogen attack (Knogge et al., 1987).

In soybean β -1,3-glucanase gene families, expression patterns are associated with both the degree of sequence variation and the chromosomal location of a gene. Most eucaryotic genes are regulated by *Cis* elements in their promoters. However, it is known that chromosomal location can influence gene expression (Ohshima et al., 1990). It will be interesting to learn more about the expression pattern of other genes that are located near the β -1,3-glucanase genes we have isolated.

The 12 classes of β -1,3-glucanase genes exist in clusters, and two of them are associated with known fungal resistance genes. Our findings demonstrate that β -1,3-glucanase genes with similar sequence and similar temporal expression patterns are clustered on the same linkage group or duplicated regions of the linkage groups. Both duplications of large chromosomal domains followed by extensive gene duplication and divergence, and duplication of individual genes are involved in the evolution of the β -1,3-glucanase gene families.



Fig. 1. Ethidium bromide-stained 1% agarose gel of the second round PCR products. Lane 1, PCR using soybean genomic DNA as a template; Lane 2,PCR using soybean flower bud cDNA as a template. Molecular size marker is in Kb.

	>
SG1u8	GSGVCYGMMEDNLPPANEVVSLYKSNDIMRMRIYNPDQAALQALGISGIEILG-VLHQDLQGLATN-ASTAQQWVQS
SGlul	GSGVCYGMMGDNLPPANEVVSLYKSNDIMRMRIYNPDQAALQALGNSGIELIIGVLHQDIQGLATN-ASTAQQWVQS
SGlu4	GSGVCYGMLGNNLPSANEVIGLYRSNNIRRMRLYDPNQAALEALRNSGIELIIGVPNSDLQGLATN-PDTSRQWVQK
SGlu12	GVCYGMLGNNLPSANDVIGLYRSNNIKRMRLYDPNQAALEALRNSGIELIIGVPNSDLQGLATN-PDTSRQWVQK
classI	SIGVCYCMLCNNLPNHWEVIQLYKSRNIGRLRLYDPNHCALQALKGSNIIGLPNSDVKHIASG-MEHARWWVQK
SGlu2	GSGVCYGRLGNNLPTPQEVVALYNQANI RRMRI YGPSPEVLEALRGSNI ELLLDI PNDNLRNLASS-QDNANKWVQD
classIII	QAGVCYGRQGNGLPSPADVVSLCNRNNI RRMRI YDPDQPTLEALRGSNI ELMLGVPNPDLENVAAS-QANADTWVON
SGlu3	GSGVCYGVLGNNLPSRQEVVDLYKTNGIGRMRIYYPDEEALQALRGSGIELIMDVAKETLQSMTDPNAATDWVNK
SGlu6	IREYVTGVLGNNLPSRQEVVDLYKTNGIGRMRIYYPDEEALQALRGSGIELIMDVAKETLQSMTDPNAATDWVNK
SGlu10	GSGVCYGVIGDNLPSRQEVVDLYKINGIGRMRIYYPDEEALQALRGSGIELIMDVAKETLQSLIDSNAATDWVNK
SGlu5	GSGVCYGGNGNNLPTKQAVVDLYKSNRIGKIRLYYPDEGVLQALRGSNIEVILGVPNDQLQSLTNAGAAINWVNK
SGlull	GSGVCYGGNGNNLPTKQAVVDLYKSNRIGKIRLYYPDEGVLQALRGSNIEVILGVPNDQLHSLTNAGAATNWVNK
classII	-IGVCYGKHANNLPSDQDVINLYNANGIRKMRIYNPDINVFNALRGSNIEIILDVPLQDLQSLTDPSRANGWVQD
ClassIV	NIGVCYGKIANNLPSEQDVINLYKANGIRKMRIYNSDTNIFKSLNGSNIEIILDVPNQDLEALANSSIANGWVQD
SGlu7a	GIRVCYGRSADDLPTPDKVAQLVQLHKIKYVRIYDSNIQVLKAFANTGIELMIGVPNSDLLSFSQF-QSNADSWLKN
SGlu7b	GSGVCYGRSADDLPTPDKVAQLVQLHKIKYVRIYDSNIQVLKAFANTGIELMIGVPNSDLLSFSQF-QSNADSWLKN
classV	AVGVCYGRVGTNLPPPSEAINLIKSIGVSRIRLFNPDPEALQPFAGTGIELLVGVPNEILPTLANSPVTISMEWLQT
	.** * . * . : * ::: . : : : : : : : : :
	154
SGlu8	NVINFWPSVKIKHVVVGNEINPVGSSSEFAQYVLPAIONIYOAIRAQGLQDLIKVTTAIDMTLLGN-SYPPSQSYFR
SGlul	NVLNFWPSVKIKHVVVGNEINPVGSSSEFAQYVLPAIQNIYQAIRAQGLQDLIKVTTAIDMTLLGN-SYPPSQSYFR
SGlu4	NVLNEWPSVKIKYVAVGNELSPVGRSSSVAQYVLPAIQNVYQAIRAQGLHDQIKVSTSIDMTLIGN-SFPPPQGSFR
SGlul2	NVXNXWPSVKIKYVAVGNEVSPVGGSSSVAQYVLPAIQNVYQAIXAQGLXDQIKVSTXIDMTLIGN-SFPPSQGSFR
classI	NVKDFWPDVKIKYIAVGNEISPVTGTSYLTSFLTPAMVNIYKAIGEAGLGNNIKVSTSVDMTLIGN-SYPPSQGSFR
SGlu2	NIKNYANNVRFRYVSVGNEVKPEHSFAQFLVPALENIQRAISNAGLGNQVKVSTAIDTGALAE-SFPPSKGSFK
classIII	NVRNYG-NVKFRYIAVGNEVSPLNENSKYVPVLLNAMRNIQTAISGAGLGNQIKVSTAIETGLTTD-TSPPSNGRFK
SGlu3	YVTAYSQDVNFKYI-VGNEIHPNTNEAQYILSAMTNIONAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTFIAPPSYPPNDAVFT
SGlu6	YVTAYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNTNEAQYILSAMTNIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTFIAPPSYPPNDAVFT
SGlul0	
SGlu5	YVTPYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNTNEAQYILSAMINIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTLITN-SYPPNDGVFT
	YVTPYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNINEAQYILSAMINIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTLIIN-SYPPNDGVFT YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS
SGlull	YVTPYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNINEAQYILSAMINIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTLIIN-SYPPNDGVFT YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS
SGlull classII	YVTPYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNINEAQYILSAMINIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTLIIN-SYPPNDGVFT YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS NIINHFPDVKFKYIAVGNEVSPGNNG-QYAPFVAPAMONVYNALAAAGLQDQIKVSTATYSGILAN-TYPPKDSIFR
SGlull classII ClassIV	YVTPYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNINEAQYILSAMINIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTLIIN-SYPPNDGVFT YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS NIINHFPDVKFKYIAVGNEVSPGNNG-QYAPFVAPAMQNVYNALAAAGLQDQIKVSTATYSGILAN-TYPPKDSIFR NIRSHFPYVKFKYISIGNEVSPSNNG-QYSQFLLHAMENVYNALAAAGLQDKIKVTTATYSGLLAN-TYPPKDSIFR
SGlull classII ClassIV SGlu7a	YVTPYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNINEAQYILSAMINIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTLIIN-SYPPNDGVFT YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS NIINHFPDVKFKYIAVGNEVSPGNNG-QYAPFVAPAMQNVYNALAAAGLQDQIKVSTATYSGILAN-TYPPKDSIFR NIRSHFPYVKFKYISIGNEVSPSNNG-QYSQFLLHAMENVYNALAAAGLQDKIKVTTATYSGLLAN-TYPPKDSIFR SVLPYYPATKIAYITVGAEVTESPNNASSFVVPAMINVLTALKKLGLHKKIKVSSTHSLGVLSR-SFPPSAGAFN
SGlull classII ClassIV SGlu7a SGlu7b	YVTPYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNTNEAQYILSAMINIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTLITN-SYPPNDGVFT YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS NIINHFPDVKFKYIAVGNEVSPGNNG-QYAPFVAPAMQNVYNALAAAGLQDQIKVSTATYSGILAN-TYPPKDSIFR NIRSHFPYVKFKYISIGNEVSPSNNG-QYSQFLLHAMENVYNALAAAGLQDKIKVTTATYSGLLAN-TYPPKDSIFR SVLPYYPATKIAYITVGAEVTESPNNASSFVVPAMINVLTALKKLGLHKKIKVSSTHSLGVLSR-SFPPSAGAFN SVLPYYPATKIAYITVGAEVTESPNNASSFVVPAMINVLTALKKLGLHKKIKVSSTHSLGVLSR-SFPPSAGAFN
SGlull classII ClassIV SGlu7a SGlu7b classV	YVTPYSQDVNFKYIAVGNEIHPNTNEAQYILSAMINIQNAISSANLQIKVSTAIDSTLITN-SYPPNDGVFT YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS YVKAYSQNVKFKYIAVGNEIHPGDSLAGSVLPALENIQKAISAANLQGQMKVSTAIDTTLLGN-SYPPKDGVFS NIINHFPDVKFKYIAVGNEVSPGNNG-QYAPFVAPAMQNVYNALAAAGLQDQIKVSTATYSGILAN-TYPPKDSIFR NIRSHFPYVKFKYISIGNEVSPSNNG-QYSQFLLHAMENVYNALAAAGLQDKIKVTTATYSGLLAN-TYPPKDSIFR SVLPYYPATKIAYITVGAEVTESPNNASSFVVPAMINVLTALKKLGLHKKIKVSSTHSLGVLSR-SFPPSAGAFN SVLPYYPATKIAYITVGAEVTESPNNASSFVVPAMINVLTALKKLGLHKKIKVSSTHSLGVLSR-SFPPSAGAFN NIFAHVSPPQVKYLAVGNEIFLKDPFYSPHIVPAISNLYQALQTLGLATTIKLSSSHASTILSN-SYPPSSGVFN

Fig. 2. Alignment of deduced amino acid sequences of β-1,3-glucanases from soybean. Arrows indicate locations of PCR primers used to amplify β-1,3-glucanase sequences. Dotted regions indicate gaps in sequences introduced to maximize alignment. Identical residues in all 17 sequences are marked by an asterisk. Conserved tryptophans are marked by a Δ. Identical or functionally conserved amino acids surrounding acidic residues are marked with a hyphen. Arrows indicate primer region. The tobacco class I, class II, class III, class IV and class V amino acid sequences were included for comparison. Database accession numbers for these proteins are: class I, accession M20619; class II, accession X54456; class IV, accession X54430; class V, accession Z28697.

													231
TDVR-SY	LDPI	IGYLVY	ANAPLLA	NVLP:	YFSYSI	DNP-I	DISLS	YALFNST	NVVV-1	NDGQYGY	ONLFDA	MLDAVI	IAV
TDVR-SY	LDPI	IGYLVY	ANAPLLA	NVLP?	YFSYSI	NNP-I	DISLS	YALFNST	NVVV-1	NDGQYGY	ONLEDA	MLDAVI	IVAL
GDVSY	LDPI	IGYLVY	ANAPLLV	NVYP	YFSYT	INP-R	DISLP	YALFTAP	NVVV-1	DGQYGY	ONLEDA	MLDSVI	IAAI
GDVR-SY	IDPI	GYLVY	ANAPLLV	NVYP	YFSYT	INP-R	DISLP	YALFTAP	NVVV-1	DGQYGY	ONLEDA	MLDSVI	IAAI
NDAR-WF	TDPI	GFLRD	TRAPLLV	NIYP	YFSYSC	ENP- G	QISLP	YSLFTAP		DOGSROY	RNLFDA	MLDSV	ZAAL
SDYRGAY	LDGVI	RFLVN	NNAPLMV	NVYSY	YFAYT	ANP-K	DISLD	YALFRSP:	svvv-(DGSLGY	RNLFDA	SVDAV	(AAL
DDVR-QF	IEPII	NFLVT	NRAPLLV	NLYPY	YFALA	NNA	DIKLE	YALFTSS	EVVV-I	DNGRGY	RNLFDA	ILDATY	(SAL
SDAE-PY	VKPII	DFLVR	NEAPLLA	NVYPY	YFAYAI	NDQQN	SIPLA	YALFTOO	(INDAGY	ONLEDA	MIDSI	(AAV
SDAE-PY	VKPII	DFLVR	NEAPLLA	NVYPY	YFAYA	NDQQN	SIPLA	YALYTQO	(INNDAGY	ONLEDA	MDSI'	(AAV
SDAE-PY	IKPII	INFLVS	NGAPILA	NVYPY	TAYA	NDQ	SIPLA	YALFTOO	(INDVGY	ONLEDA	IDSI	(AAL
SSAS-SY	IRPIN	NFLAR	NGAPLLA	NVYPY	YFAYVI	NQQ-	SIGLD	YALFTKH	(INNEVGY	ONLEDA	LDSL	(AAL
SSAS-SY	IRPIN	NFLAR	NGAPLLA	NVYPY	TAYV	NQQ-	SIGLD	YALFTKH	(RNEVGY	ONLEDA	LLDSL	(AAL
GEFN-SF	INPI	QFLVQ	HNLPLLA	NVYPY	FGHI	ENT-A	DVPLS	YALFTOO-	J	CANPAGY	ONLEDA	LLDSM	(FAV
EEFK-SF	INPI	EFLAR	NNLPLLA	NIYPY	TGHIY	NT-V	DVPLS	YALFNOO-	(FINSTGY	ONLEDA	LDSI	(FAV
SSHA-HF	LKPMI	EFLAE	NOSPEMI	DIYPY	YAHRI	DSR-S	KVSLD	YALFDAS	SEVID	PNTGLLY	TNMEDA	DIDALY	(FAL
SSHA-HF	LKPMI	EFLAE	NOSPFMI	DIYPY	YAYRI	DSR-S	KVSLD	YALFDAS	SEVID	NTGLLY	TNMEDA	DIDAIN	FAL
STIR-PF.	LLPFI	QFLRH	ISSPLMV	NVYPI	FAYI	NP-Q	YVSLD	HAVERSS	YVE	DONLAY	DNMEDA	SIDAF	/YAM
:	. :	: :*	*::	:: .:	::.	•	: *	::::		*	*:***	:*:	*:
	TDVR-SY TDVR-SY GDVSY GDVR-SY SDAR-WF SDAE-PY SDAE-PY SDAE-PY SSAS-SY GEFN-SF EEFK-SF SSHA-HF SSHA-HF STIR-PF.	TDVR-SYLDPI TDVR-SYLDPI GDVSYLDPI GDVR-SYLDPI SDAR-WFTDPI SDAR-WFTDPI SDAE-PYVKPI SDAE-PYVKPI SDAE-PYVKPI SSAS-SYLRPI SSAS-SYLRPI SSAS-SYLRPI SSHA-HFLKPMI SSHA-HFLKPMI STIR-PFLLPFI :	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVY TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVY GDVSYLDPIIGYLVY GDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVY NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRD SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVN DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVT SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVR SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVR SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLAR SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLAR SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLAR SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAR SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAR SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAR STIR-PFLLPFLQFLRH	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLA TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLA GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLV GDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLV NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLV SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNNAPIMV DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVINRAPLLV SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLA SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLA SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLA SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLA SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLA SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLA SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLA SSHA-SFINPIIQFLVQHNLPLLA SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMI SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMI STIR-PFLLPFLQFIRHTSSPIMV	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLP TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLP GDV-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLP GDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYP NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLVNIYP SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPLWNVYS DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVNNAPLWNVYS SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYP SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYP SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYP SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYP GEEN-SFINPIIQFLVGHNLPLLANVYP SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYP SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYP SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYP STIR-PFLLPFLQFLRHTSSPLMVNVYP : .: * *::::	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSJ TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSJ GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSJ GDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYSJ SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPLMVNVYSYFAYTJ DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVINRAPLLVNLYPYFAYAJ SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYAJ SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYARN SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYARN STIR-PFLLPFLQFLRHSSPLMVNVYPFFAYIN : ::* *::::::	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-I TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-I GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYTGNP-R GDVR-SYIDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-R NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLVNIYPYFSYSGNP-G SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPIMVNVYSYFAYTANP-K DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVTNRAPLLVNLYPYFAYTANP-K DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVTNRAPLLVNLYPYFAYTANP-K SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYTANDQON SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQO- SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQO- SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQO- SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYTNNQO- SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYINNQO- SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAHRDSR-S SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-S STIR-PFLLPFLQFIRHTSSPIMVNVYPFFAYINNP-Q	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLS TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLS GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYTGNP-RDISLP GDVR-SYIDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-RDISLP NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-GQISLP SDYRGAYLDGVIRFILVNNAPLMVNVYSYFAYTANP-KDISLD DDVR-QFIEPIINFILVNNAPLMVNVYSYFAYTANP-KDISLD DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVNNAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQQNSIPLA SDAE-PYVKPIIDFIVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQQNSIPLA SDAE-PYVKPIIDFIVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQQ-SIGLD SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPILANVYPYFAYANDQQ-SIGLD SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLD SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLD SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLD SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQC-SIGLD SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-SKVSLD SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-SKVSLD STIR-PFLLPFLQFLRHTSSPLMVNVYPFFAYINNP-QVVSLD	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNST TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNST GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSGNP-RDISLPYALFTAP GDVR-SYIDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAP NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLVNIYPYFSYSGNP-GQISLPYSLFTAP SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPIMVNVYSYFAYTANP-KDISLDYALFTSS DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVTNRAPLLVNLYPYFAYTANP-KDISLDYALFTSS SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYTANP-KDISLDYALFTSS SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQ SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQ SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQ-SIGLDYALFTKH SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQ-SIGLDYALFTKH GEFN-SFINPIIQFLVQHNLPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLDYALFTKH SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFGHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQ SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAHRDSR-SKVSLDYALFDASS SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-SKVSLDYALFDASS STIR-PFLLPFLQFIRHTSSPIMVNVYPFFAYINNP-QYVSLDHAVFRSS-	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNSTNVVV- TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNSTNVVV- GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAPNVVV- GDVR-SYIDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAPNVVV- NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLVNIYPYFSYSGNP-GQISLPYSLFTAPNVVV- SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPLMVNVYSYFAYTANP-KDISLDYALFRSPSVVV- DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVTNRAPLLVNLYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTSSEVVV- SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQC SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQC SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQC SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQOSIGLDYALFTKHC SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLDYALFTKHC SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLDYALFTKHC SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLDYALFTKHC SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLDYALFTKHC SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLDYALFTKHC SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYVNNQQ-SIGLDYALFTKH	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNSTNVVV-WDGQYGY TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNSTNVVV-WDGQYGY GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAPNVVV-WDGQYGY GDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAPNVVV-WDGQYGY NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLVNIYPYFSYSGNP-GQISLPYSLFTAPNVVV-QDGSRQY SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPLMVNVYSYFAYTANP-KDISLDYALFTSSEVVV-QDGSLGY DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVTNRAPLLVNLYPYFAYAND-KDISLDYALFTSSEVVV-NDNGRGY SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQOGNNDAGY SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQGNNDAGY SDAE-PYIKPIINFLVSNGAPILANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQGNNDVGY SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQOSIGLDYALFTKHGNNEVGY SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQO-SIGLDYALFTKHGNNEVGY SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFGHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQEANPAGY SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFGHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQGNNEVGY SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFGHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQGNNEVGY SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFGHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQGNNEVGY SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFGHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQGNNEVGY SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYGHIYNT-VDVPLSYALFTQQGNNTGY SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYGAHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQGNNTGY SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-SKVSLDYALFDASSEVIDPNTGLIY SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-SKVSLDYALFDASSEVIDPNTGLIY STIR-PFLLPFLQFLRHTSSPLMVNVYPFFAYINNP-QYVSLDHAVFRSSYVEYDQNLAY	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNSTNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAN TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNSTNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAN GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAPNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAN GDVR-SYIDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAPNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAN NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLVNIYPYFSYSGNP-GQISLPYALFTAPNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAN SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPLWNVYSYFAYTANP-KDISLDYALFTSPSVVV-QDGSLGYRNLFDAN SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPLWNVYSYFAYTANP-KDISLDYALFTSSEVVV-NDNGRGYRNLFDAN SDYR-QFIEPIINFLVTNRAPLLVNLYPYFAYTANP-KDISLDYALFTSSEVVV-NDNGRGYRNLFDAN SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTSSEVVV-NDNGRGYONLFDAN SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQGNNDAGYQNLFDAN SDAE-PYIKPIINFLVSNGAPILANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQGNNDAGYQNLFDAN SDAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQO-SIGLDYALFTKHGNNEVGYQNLFDAN SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYNNQQ-SIGLDYALFTKHGNNEVGYQNLFDAN SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFGHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQ	TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSDNP-IDISLSYALFNSTNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAMLDAVI TDVR-SYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLANVLPYFSYSONP-IDISLSYALFNSTNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAMLDAVI GDVSYLDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAPNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAMLDSVI GDVR-SYIDPIIGYLVYANAPLLVNVYPYFSYTGNP-RDISLPYALFTAPNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAMLDSVI NDAR-WFTDPIVGFLRDTRAPLLVNIYPYFSYSGNP-GQISLPYSLFTAPNVVV-WDGQYGYQNLFDAMLDSVI SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPLLVNIYPYFSYSGNP-GQISLPYSLFTAPNVVV-QDGSRQYRNLFDAMLDSVI DDVR-QFIEPIINFLVTNRAPLLVNIYPYFSYSGNP-GQISLPYSLFTAPNVVV-QDGSRGYRNLFDAMLDSVI SDYRGAYLDGVIRFLVNNAPLLVNLYPYFAYANP-KDISLDYALFTSSEVVV-DNGRGGYRNLFDAILDATI SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQGNNDAGYQNLFDAMLDSI SDAE-PYVKPIIDFLVRNEAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQONSIPLAYALFTQQGNNDAGYQNLFDAMLDSI SDAE-PYIKPIINFLVSNGAPILANVYPYFAYANDQO-SIGLDYALFTKHGNNEVGYQNLFDAMLDSI SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFAYANDQO-SIGLDYALFTKHGNNEVGYQNLFDALLDSI SSAS-SYIRPIVNFLARNGAPLLANVYPYFGHIFNT-ADVPLSYALFTQQGNNTGYQNLFDALLDSI SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-SKVSLDYALFDASSEVIDPNTGLLYTNMFDAQIDAI SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-SKVSLDYALFDASSEVIDPNTGLLYTNMFDAQIDAI SSHA-HFLKPMLEFLAENQSPFMIDIYPYYAYRDSR-SKVSLDYALFDASSEVIDPNTGLLYTNMFDAQIDAI STIR-PFLLPFLQFLRHTSSPLMVNVYPFFAYINNP-QYVSLDHAVFRSSYVEYDQNLAYDNMFDASIDAFY

				-	
D	NIGIC	SYVE	ws	EW	WPNS
D	NIGIC	TYVE	ws	ERC	WPNS

SGlu8DNTGIGYVEVVVSEWGWPNSSGlu1DNTGIGYVEVVVSERGWPNSSGlu4DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPN-SGlu12DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPNSclassIERSGGASVGIVVSESGWPSASGlu2EKAGGGSLNIVVSEWGWPNSclassIIIEKASGSSLEIVVSESGWPSASGlu3EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPSSSGlu6EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu10EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKAGGQNVEIIVSESGWPSEclassIIEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA		
SGlulDNTGIGYVEVVVSERGWPNSSGlu4DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPN-SGlu12DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPNSclassIERSGGASVGIVVSESGWPSASGlu2EKAGGGSLNIVVSEWGWPNSclassIIIEKASGSSLEIVVSESGWPSASGlu3EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPNSSGlu6EKVGASNLQIVVSEGWPNSSGlu10EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSClassIIEKAGGONVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlu8	DNIGIGYVEVVVSEWGWPNS
SGlu4DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPN-SGlu12DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPNSclassIERSGGASVGIVVSESGWPSASGlu2EKAGGGSLNIVVSEWGWPNSclassIIIEKASGSSLEIVVSESGWPSASGlu3EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPNSSGlu6EKVGASQFADSGFEKRWPNSSGlu10EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSclassIIEKAGGQNVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlul	DNTGIGYVEVVVSERGWPNS
SGlul2DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPNSclassIERSGGASVGIVVSESGWPSASGlu2EKAGGGSLNIVVSEWGWPNSclassIIIEKASGSSLEIVVSESGWPSASGlu3EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPNSSGlu6EKVGASQFADSGFEKRWPNSSGlu10EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSclassIIEKAGGQNVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlu4	DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPN-
classIERSGGASVGIVVSESGWPSASGlu2EKAGGGSLNIVVSEWGWPNSclassIIIEKAGGSLLIVVSESGWPSASGlu3EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPNSSGlu6EKVGASQFADSGFEKRWPNSSGlu10EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu5EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSClassIIEKAGGQNVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlul2	DNTKIGYVEVVVSESGWPNS
SGlu2EKAGGGSLNIVVSEWGWPNSclassIIIEKASGSSLEIVVSESGWPSASGlu3EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPNSSGlu6EKVGASQFADSGFEKRWPNSSGlu10EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu5EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSclassIIEKAGGQNVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	classI	ERSGGASVGIVVSESGWPSA
classIII EKASGSSLEIVVSESGWPSA SGlu3 EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPNS SGlu6 EKVGASQFADSGFEKRWPNS SGlu10 EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNS SGlu5 EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNS SGlu11 EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNS classII EKAGGQNVEIIVSESGWPSE ClassIV EKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSE SGlu7a MALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS SGlu7b MALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS classV EKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlu2	EKAGGGSLNIVVSEWGWPNS
SGlu3EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPNSSGlu6EKVGASQFADSGFEKRWPNSSGlu10EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu5EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSclassIIEKAGGQNVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	classIII	EKASGSSLEIVVSESGWPSA
SGlu6EKVGASQFADSGFEKRWPNSSGlu10EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu5EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSclassIIEKAGGONVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlu3	EKVGASNLQIVVSESGWPNS
SGlul0EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNSSGlu5EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSSGlu11EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSclassIIEKAGGONVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlu6	EKVGASOFADSGFEKRWPNS
SGlu5 EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNS SGlu11 EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNS classII EKAGGONVEIIVSESGWPSE ClassIV EKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSE SGlu7a MALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS SGlu7b MALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS classV EKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlulO	EKVGASNLQIVVSEG-WPNS
SGlul1EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNSclassIIEKAGGQNVEIIVSESGWPSEClassIVEKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSESGlu7aMALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSSGlu7bMALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNSclassVEKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlu5	EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNS
classII EKAGGONVEIIVSESGWPSE ClassIV EKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSE SGlu7a MALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS SGlu7b MALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS classV EKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlul1	EKVGAPNVKVVVSECGWPNS
ClassIV EKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSE SGlu7a MALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS SGlu7b MALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS classV EKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	classII	EKAGGONVEIIVSESGWPSE
SGlu7a MALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS SGlu7b MALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS classV EKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	ClassIV	EKAGGPNVEIIVSESGWPSE
SGlu7b MAINFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS classV EKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlu7a	MALDFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS
classV EKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA	SGlu7b	MALNFRTIKVMVTECGWPNS
. * **.	classV	EKEGFEGIPVMVTETGWPTA
		. * **.

No. of Lot of Lo

<-Fig. 2 (continued)



Fig. 3. Phylogenetic analysis of selected plant β -1,3-glucanases. Deduced amino acid sequences were aligned and an unrooted tree was established using parsimony analysis.



Fig. 4. Distribution of β -1,3-glucanases on the soybean genetic map. Loci are shown on the right of each linkage group. B162 and PEG488 are RFLP markers.





Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Dr. Kim Lewers for help with the mapping, Mr. Clay Baldwin for help with screening the BACs library. We are also grateful to Drs. David Grant and Laura Marek for helpful discussions during the course of this work.

References

- Abeles, F.B., Bosshart, R.P., Forrence, L.E. & Habig, W.H. (1971) Plant Physiol. 47: 129-134.
- Beerhues, L. & Kombrink, E. (1994) Plant Mol. Biol. 24: 353-367.
- Beffa, R.S., Hofer, R.M. & Thomas, M. (1996) Plant Cell 8: 1001-1011
- Boller, T. (1987) In: Kosuge T. and Nester E.W. (eds.), Plant-microbe interactions: molecular and genetic perspective, Vol. 2, Macmillan, New York, pp 358-413.
- Brederode, F.T., Linthorst, H.J.M. & Bol, J.F. (1991) Plant Mol. Biol. 17: 1117-1125.
- Bucciaglia, P. & Smith, A. (1994) Plant Mol Biol. 24: 903-914.
- Castresana, C., De Carvalho, F., Gheysen, G., Habets, M., Inze, D. & Van Montagu, M. (1990) Plant Cell 2: 1131-1143.
- Chang, M.M., Hadwiger, L.A. & Horovitz, D. (1992) Plant Mol. Biol. 20: 609-618.
- Chen, L., Fincher, G.B. & Hoj, P.B. (1993) J. Biol. Chem. 268: 13318-13326.
- Chomczynski, P. & Sacchi, N. (1987) Anal. Biochem. 162: 156-159.
- Clegg, M.T., Cummings, M.P., Durbin, M.L. (1997) Proc. Natl.Acad.Sci. USA 94: 7791-7798.

Dong, X., Mindrinos, M., Davis, K.R. & Ausubel, F.M. (1991) Plant Cell 3: 61-72

Dover, G.A. (1993) Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 3: 902-910.

Felix, G. & Meins, F. (1986) Planta 167: 206-211.

- Fincher, G.B. Lock, P.A., Morgan, M.M., Lingelbach, K., Wettenhall, R.E.H., Mercer, J.F.B., Brandt, A. & Thomsen, K.K. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83: 2081-2085.
- Kanazin, V., Marek, L.F. & Shoemaker, R.C. (1996) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 11746-11750.
- Kaufmann, S., Legrand, M., Geoffroy, P. & Fritig, B. (1987) EMBO J. 6: 3209-3212.
- Keim, P., Diers, B.W., Olson, T.C. & Shoemaker, R.C. (1990) Genetics 126: 735-742.
- Keim, P., Olson, T.C. & Shoemaker, R.C. (1988) Soybean Genet. Newsl. 15: 150-152.
- Kosambi, D.D. (1944) Ann. Eugen. 12: 172-175.
- Knogge, W., Kombrink, E., Schmelzer, E. & Hahlbrock, K. (1987) Planta 171: 279-287.
- Lander, E.S., Green, P., Abrahamson, J., Barlow, A., Daly, M.J., Lincoln, S.E. & Newburg, L. (1987) Genomics 1: 174-181.
- Leah, R., Tommerup, H., Svendsen, I. & Mundy, J. (1991) J. Biol. Chem. 266: 1564-1573.
- Li, C.D., Langridge, P., Lance, R.C.M., Xu, P. & Fincher, G.B. (1996) Theor. Appl. Genet. 92: 791-796.

- Linthorst, H.J.M., Melchers, L.S., Mayer, A., Van Roekel, J.S.C., Cornelissen, C. & Bol, J.F. (1990) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87: 8756-8760.
- MacGregor, E.A. & Balance, G.M. (1991) Biochem. J. 274: 41-43.
- Maeda, N. & Smithies, O. (1986) Ann. Rev. Genet. 20: 81-108.
- Marek, L.F. & Shoemaker, R.C. (1996) Soybean Genet. Newsl. 23:126-129.
- Marek, L.F. & Shoemaker, R.C. (1997) Genome 40: 420-427.
- Mauch, F., Hadwiger, L.A. & Boller, T. (1988) Plant Physiol. 87: 325-333.
- Memelink, J., Linthorst, H.J.M., Schilperoort, R.A. & Hoge, J.H.C. (1990) Plant Mol. Biol. 14: 119-126.
- Muthukrishnan, S., Gill, B.S., Swegle, M. & Chandra, G.R. (1984) J. Biol. Chem. 259: 13637-13639.
- Ohshima, M., Itoh, H., Matsuoka, M., Murakami, T. & Ohashi, Y. (1990) Plant Cell 2: 95-106.
- Ori, N., Sessa, G., Lotan, T., Himmelhoch, S. & Fluhr, R. (1990) EMBO J. 9: 3429-3436.
- Payne, G., Ward, E., Gaffney, T., Ahl Goy, P., Moyer, M., Harper, A., Meins, F., Jr.& Ryals, J. (1990) Plant Mol. Biol. 15: 797-808.
- Pickett, F.B. & Meeks-Wagner, D.R. (1995) Plant Cell 7: 1347-1356.
- Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E.F. & Maniatis, T. (1989) Molecular cloning. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.

Schroder, M., Hahlbrock, K. & Kombrink, E. (1992) Plant J. 2: 161-172.

- Shinshi, H., Wenzler, H. & Neuhaus, J.M., Felix, G., Hofsteenge, J. & Meins, F., Jr. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 85: 5541-5545.
- Shoemaker, R.C., Polzin, K., Labate, J., Specht, J., Brummer, E.C., Olson, T.,
 Young, N., Concibido, V., Wilcox, J., Tamulonis, J.P., Kochert, G. & Boerma,
 H.R. (1996) Genetics 144: 329-338.
- Simmons, C.R. (1994) Critical Rev. Plant Sci. 13: 325-387.
- Sperisen, C., Ryals, J. & Meins, F. (1991) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88: 1820-1824.
- Sullivan, S.L., Adamson, M.C., Ressler, K.J., Kozak, C.A. & Buck, L.B. (1996) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 884-888.
- Sutliff, T.D., Huang, N., Litts, J.C. & Rodriguez, R.L. (1991) Plant Mol. Biol. 16: 579-591.
- Swofford, D.L. (1991) PAUP: phylogenetic analysis using parsimony, Version 3.0. Computer program distributed by the Illinois Natural History Survey, Champaign, IL.
- Takeuchi, Y., Yushikawa, M., Takeba, G., Tanaka, K., Shibata, D. & Horino, O. (1990) Plant Physiol. 93: 673-682.
- Thompson, J.D., Higgins, D.G. & Gibson, T.J. (1994) Nucl. Acids Res. 22: 4673-4680.
- Van den Bulcke, M., Bauw, G., Castresana, C., Van Montagu, M.& Vandekerckhove, J. (1989) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86: 2673-2677.

- Ward, E.R., Payne, G.B., Moyer, M.B., Williams, S.C., Dincher, S.S., Sharkey, K.C., Beck, J.J., Taylor, H.T., Ahl-Goy, P., Meins, F. & Ryals, J.A. (1991) Plant Physiol 96: 390-397,
- Xu, P., Wang, J. & Fincher, G.B. (1992) Gene 120: 157-165.
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K, Mundy, J. & Chua, N.H. (1989) Plant Mol. Biol. 14: 29-39.

CHAPTER 5. GENETIC MAPPING OF THE *FR1* (ROOT FLUORESCENCE) LOCUS IN SOYBEAN [*GLYCINE MAX* (L.) MERR.] USING SSR MARKERS AND BULKED SEGREGANT ANALYSIS

A paper to be submitted to the journal Theoretical and Applied Genetics

W. Jin, R. G. Palmer, H. T. Horner, and R. C. Shoemaker

Abstract

We report the use of bulked segregant SSR analysis for rapid identification of DNA markers linked to the *Fr1* locus in soybean. Pooled DNA extracts from 10 homozygous *Fr1 Fr1* and 10 *fr1 fr1* F2 plants, derived from a msMOS X Minsoy cross, were analyzed using 65 SSR markers. Five SSRs produced repeatable polymorphisms between paired bulks. Linkage with the *Fr1* locus then was tested using these five SSR primers and DNA from individual plants of each bulk. DNA polymorphisms generated by these five primers were linked to the *Fr1* gene. Linkage of SSR loci with the *Fr1* locus was verified by using an F2 population segregating for *Fr1*. The five SSR markers and *Fr1* are on linkage group K of the USDA/ARS/ISU molecular genetic map. The markers flanking *Fr1* are Satt337 (11.0 cM) and Sat 044 (0.6 cM). *Fr1* previously was mapped on linkage group 12 of the

classical genetic map. Thus, classical genetic linkage group 12 has been correlated to linkage group K of the molecular genetic map. Six SSR markers were chosen on linkage group K to test the segregation ratios. All six SSRs consistently showed distorted segregation ratios, three of them were significantly skewed. This suggested that a gametophyte factor may reside in the region close to *Fr1* and most likely close to Satt046.

Introduction

Soybean root fluorescent mutants are important in characterizing germplasm diversity (Delannay and Palmer, 1982), in tissue culture (Roth et al., 1982), and in genetic linkage studies (Devine et al., 1993; Griffin et al., 1989; Palmer and Chen accepted). Five distinct loci controlling root fluorescence have been reported (Delannay and Palmer 1982; Sawada and Palmer 1987) and the genomic locations of several loci controlling root fluorescence have been defined. *Fr*2 was placed on a molecular genetic map approximately 6.5 cM from pBLT 73 and 6 cM from pBLT 42 (Devine et al., 1993). *Fr1* and *Fr*3 have been located on the classical genetic map. *Fr1* is 41 cM distant from the *Ep* (seed coat peroxidase level) locus on linkage group 12 (Griffin et al., 1989). *Fr3* is mapped on classical linkage group 9 (Palmer and Chen, accepted). The linkage relationships of the *Fr1*, *Fr3*, *Fr4*, and *Fr5* loci on molecular genetic maps are unknown.

A classical genetic map of soybean has been developed with great effort over many years (Palmer and Hedges, 1993). Integration of this map with the soybean molecular map would be useful to help design breeding strategies for soybean improvement and to use the molecular map as a bridge to obtain a comprehensive map of important genes (Shoemaker and Specht, 1995). In soybean, diversity at the DNA sequence level is low (Keim et al., 1989). This has made the construction of a RFLP-based genetic map difficult and tedious.

Recently, simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers have been developed (Weber and May, 1989; Akkaya et al., 1995). Simple sequence repeats are composed of tandemly repeated 2 to 5 nucleotide DNA core sequences. The sequences flanking the SSR are conserved, thus allowing the selection of PCR primers useful for selectively amplifying the repeated sequence. Variation in the number of nucleotide repeats results in PCR product length differences (Tautz, 1989). Because SSRs are highly polymorphic, stable and simple, they have great potential for molecular mapping. The combination of SSR and bulked segregant analysis (Michelmore et al., 1991) will facilitate the identification of markers that are tightly linked to the gene of interest.

In the present study, we describe the application of bulked segregant analysis as a method for rapidly identifying SSR markers linked with the *Fr1* gene. Our goals were to place *Fr1* on the molecular genetic map and, thus, to associate classical linkage group 12 with a molecular linkage group.

Material and Methods

Plant material

msMOS (a male-sterile line obtained from Midwest Oilseeds, Adel, IA; *Fr1 Fr1*) as a female parent, was crossed with Minsoy (*fr1 fr1*) in Ames, Iowa, in the summer of 1995 to form an F2 population for testing linkage between SSR markers and the *Fr1* locus. The resulting F1 seeds were planted at the University of Puerto Rico Soybean Nursery, at the Isabela Substation, Isabela, Puerto Rico. F2 seeds were planted on germination paper for scoring root fluorescence. Fluorescence was observed by irradiating roots with ultraviolet light (Delannay and Palmer, 1982). After scoring, F2 seedlings were transfered to a growth chamber, leaf material was harvested, and DNA was isolated. F2 plants were single-plant threshed, and F2 seeds were planted in Puerto Rico to generate the F3 generation. F3 seeds were planted on germination paper for scoring root fluorescence to determine F2 genotypes (*Fr1 Fr1*, *Fr1 fr1*, *fr1 fr1*).

DNA extraction and bulk DNA preparation

DNA isolation was conducted as described by Keim et al. (1988). Equal quantities of DNA were combined from each of 10 homozygous F2 *Fr1 Fr1* plants and from each of 10 homozygous F2 *fr1 fr1* plants to obtain two DNA bulks.

SSR/BSA (Bulked Segregation Analyses)

For SSR/BSA analyses, PCR amplifications were carried out in a total volume of 20 μ l containing 60 ng of soybean genomic DNA, 1.5 mM Mg²⁺, 0.3 μ M of sense and antisense primers, 200 μ M of dNTPs, 1X PCR buffer, and 2.5 Units of Taq DNA

polymerase. Cycling consisted of 30 sec. at 94°C, 30 sec. at 47°C, and 30 sec. at 68°C for 40 cycles on a Perkin-Elmer 960 thermal cycler. PCR products were run on 2.5% Metaphor (FMC) agarose gel in TBE (0.089 M Tris-borate, 0.089 M boric acid, 0.002M EDTA) buffer with ethidium bromide incorporated into the gel. Initial screening was performed on samples of *Fr1 Fr1* (msMOS), *fr1 fr1* (Minsoy), pooled DNA from 10 *Fr1 Fr1* (pool *Fr1*) genotypes and pooled DNA from 10 *fr1 fr1* (pool *fr1*) genotypes.

Linkage analysis

The segregation ratios of *Fr1* and each molecular marker in the F2 population were tested for goodness of fit to a 1:2:1 genotypic ratio by Chi-square test. After finding that three SSRs tested showed skewed segregation ratios, six more SSR markers (Satt137, Satt247, Satt046, Sat_044, Satt326, Satt001) from linkage group K were chosen to investigate segregation ratios further. Three (Satt137, Satt046, Satt326) out of six markers showed polymorphisms and were analyzed further.

The Mapmaker program (Lander et al., 1987) was used to construct a linkage map by using F2 segregation data. A logarithm of odds ratio (LOD) score of 3 was used as the lower limit for accepting linkage between two markers. Distances between markers were calculated in centiMorgans derived with the Kosambi function (Kosambi, 1944).

Results

The root fluorescence test on the F3 progenies, derived from 80 F2 plants, yielded 14 homozygous *Fr1 Fr1*, 42 segregating and 24 homozygous *fr1 fr1* families (Table 1). This segregation fit the expected ratio of 1: 2 :1 (χ^2 = 2.7). Ten homozygous *Fr1 Fr1* and 10 homozygous *fr1 fr1* F2 plants then were selected for preparation of the two DNA bulks. Sixty-five SSR primers were screened for polymorphisms against the two bulks and the parental lines, msMOS and Minsoy. Primers for loci that are polymorphic and linked to the gene detected clear differences between the bulks (Fig. 1). In contrast, unlinked loci appeared heterozygous with approximately equal band intensities in each bulk. SSR analyses of positive primers with the individual genotypes from the F2 population were performed. Polymorphic markers were screened against the 80 F2 DNAs including those used for bulk preparation. SSR markers segregated codominantly in the F2 population, and all six SSR markers that tested on linkage group K consistently gave distorted segregation ratios. Only those markers that are on linkage group K are shown in Table 1.

In total, 65 SSR markers distributed on the 23 linkage groups of the soybean molecular genetic map (Cregan et al., in review) were tested with DNA from *Fr1 Fr1* (msMOS) parent; *fr1 fr1* (Minsoy) parent, a pool of 10 *Fr1 Fr1* genotypes (pool *Fr1*), and a pool of 10 *fr1 fr1* genotypes (pool *fr1*) (Fig. 1). Of these, 4 (6%) did not produce any amplification product and were not analyzed further. The pool size of 10 genotypes for BSA analyses was determined on the basis of detection limit, desired interval of the genome to be covered (Giovannoni et al., 1991; Michelmore

et al., 1991), and our population size. Six of the remaining 65 SSRs detected polymorphisms between pooled *Fr1* and *fr1* DNAs. These polymorphisms were

Table 1. Segregation of the *Fr1* (root fluorescence) locus, and six SSR markers in an F2 soybean population from msMOS x Minsoy. Five SSRs (Satt055, Satt337, Satt046, Sat_044 and Satt326) linked to *Fr1*; Satt137 did not link to *Fr1* locus.

Trait or markers	No. of F2 plants	Оb <u>АА-</u>	serve HH	d No. 	X ² (1:2:1)
Satt137	78	13	40	25	3.75
Satt055	80	12	42	26	4.10*
Satt337	80	12	41	27	5.67*
Satt046	79	10	41	28	8.30**
Fr1	80	14	42	24	2.70
Sat_044	80	13	43	24	3.70
Satt326	78	14	43	21	2.07

- genotypes: AA = msMOS; HH = heterozygous; BB = Minsoy

*, ** significant deviation from 1:2:1 ratio at 5% and 1% levels, respectively

repeated to verify reproducibility. Primers for these six SSRs were used to amplify DNA from each of the 80 F2 progeny. All six markers tested showed skewed segregation ratios, three of them were statistically significant skewed (Table 1). In all cases fewer msMOS gametes were transmitted than expected. Because three SSRs showed statistically significant distorted segregation ratios, these three loci have an inconsistant sequence with soybean genetic map. But the segregation ratios for two markers flanking *Fr1* locus were Sat_044 and Satt337 were not

significant skewed. The sequence of the two loci agreed with soybean molecular genetic map. The two markers flanking *Fr1* locus were Sat_044 and Satt337. The fragment amplified by Sat_044 in the *Fr1 Fr1* bulk and *Fr1 Fr1* parent, was present in all 14 *Fr1* plants and was not present in any *fr1* individuals. The fragment amplified in the *fr1* bulk and *fr1* parent was present in all 24 homozygous *fr1 fr1* plants. For Satt337, the fragment amplified in the *Fr1 Fr1* bulk and the *Fr1 Fr1* parent was present in 13 of 14 plants scored as *Fr1 Fr1* and was present in three of 24 plants scored as *fr1 fr1*. The fragment amplified in the *fr1 fr1* bulk and the *fr1 fr1* parent was present in 23 of 24 plants scored as *fr1 fr1*. Segregation analysis with 80 F2 progenies determined that these two SSRs (Sat_044 and Satt337) were linked to the *Fr1* locus (Fig. 2) with LOD scores of 30 and 16, respectively. The closest linkage (0.6 cM) was found with SSR marker Sat_044. The SSR profiles of some of the individuals amplified with Sat_044 primers are shown in Fig. 3. The two SSR markers flanking the *Fr1* locus are on linkage group K in USDA/ARS/ISU map (Cregan et al., in review).

Discussion

Mapping genes with molecular markers can be laborious and costly. One of the most time-consuming aspects of mapping, the screening of the entire mapping population with every probe or primer to be tested, can be eliminated by the application of bulked segregant analysis (Michelmore et al., 1991). Bulked segregant analysis simultaneously provides information on polymorphisms between

the parents and possible linkage between a marker and a targeted gene. This process can reduce cost by several-fold, particularly when used with PCR-based techniques such as SSR and RAPD. Bulked segregant analysis combined with RAPD also has been used to detect markers linked to many traits including disease resistance genes (Mouzeyar et al., 1995; Yaghoobi et al., 1995), a male-sterile gene in rice (Zhang et al., 1994), and a fertility restoration gene in rapeseed (Delourme et al., 1994). To our knowledge, this is the first report on using bulked segregant analysis with SSR for molecular mapping in plants. SSR/BSA efficiently identified markers linked to the gene of interest, and allowed their rapid placement on a genetic map.

In this study, the combination of SSR markers and bulked segregant analysis proved to be faster and less expensive than using RFLPs to find markers flanking the *Fr*1 locus. We tested 61 SSR polymorphic markers with pools of DNA from 10 *Fr1 Fr1* and 10 *fr1 fr1* genotypes and found that the *Fr1* locus mapped to linkage group K of the USDA/ARS/ISU map, and was flanked by two SSR markers, Satt337 and Sat_044. This identification is a contribution toward the construction of a comprehensive genetic map of soybean.

Segregation distortion has been reported in wide crosses of rice (Nakagahra, 1986, Maekawa et al., 1981; Maekawa and Kita, 1985; Lin et al., 1992), maize (Rashid and Peterson, 1992), and soybean (Honeycutt et al., 1988, Honeycutt et al., 1990). Many instances of segregation distortion have been reported through studies of isozymes (Ishikawa et al., 1987a, b; Wu et al., 1988) and RFLP alleles

(McCouch et al., 1988; Saito et al., 1991). The mechanisms of segregation distortion are not well understood. The segregation ratio may be affected by gametophytic factor or the abortion of male or female gemetes. Studies by Nakagahra (1972, 1986) localized gametophyte gene loci on chromosome 3 based upon a clear locus that was responsible for the partial or total elimination of gametes carrying one of the alleles at that locus.

There were consistently skewed segregations within an interval on linkage group K (Table 1). Based on Chi-square analysis of SSR segregation data, Chi-square values peak in the interval between Satt046 and Satt337 (Fig. 4). This suggests the presence of a gametophytic factor (Gonella and Peterson, 1975; Rashid and Peterson, 1992) in the interval affecting transmission of the msMOS gametes. The tighter the linkage between a marker locus and the gametophytic factor gene, the more extream the segregation distortion is expected.

Development of the classical genetic map has proceeded slowly in soybean because of the difficulty in performing crosses and generating large numbers of hybrid seed, the lack of detailed cytogenetic markers, and low genetic variation in the germplasm (Keim et al., 1989). To exploit fully the potential of a molecular genetic map, it is essential to integrate molecular and conventional markers into one linkage map. Integration of the maps can also be pursued by screening nearisogenic lines (NIL) (Young et al., 1988). According to Shoemaker and Specht (1995) about half of the 19 soybean classic linkage groups have been associated with their corresponding molecular genetic linkage groups. But classical linkage

group 12 had not been associated with any of the molecular genetic linkage groups. *Fr1* is known to reside on classical linkage group 12 (Griffin et al., 1989). Our results have shown that the *Fr1* locus is located on molecular genetic linkage group K. Therefore, classical linkage group 12 is now integrated into molecular genetic linkage group K.

Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge Drs. David Grant and Arla Bush for helpful discussions during the course of this project, and Drs. David Grant, John Imsande, and Joane Labate for critically reviewing the manuscript.



Fig. 1. SSR markers detecting polymorphisms between DNA bulks of genotypes Fr1 Fr1 and fr1 fr1. The first two lanes contain parental DNA from msMOS (Fr1 Fr1) and Minsoy (fr1 fr1). The third lane contains bulked DNA from homozygous Fr1 Fr1 individuals, and the fourth lane contains bulked DNA from homozygous fr1 fr1 individuals.



Fig. 2. Position of the *Fr1* locus on molecular genetic linkage group of soybean. A Apart of the soybean genetic group K showing the linkage map around the *Fr1* locus obtained from analysis of 80 F2 plants derived from the cross between msMOS (*Fr1 Fr1*) and Minsoy (*fr1 fr1*). B. Alinkage map of linkage group K constructed from the *Glycine max* x *G. soja* population (Shoemaker et al., 1997). Linkage group K extends beyond hash marks.



Fig. 3. SSR profiles of some of the F2 individual genotypes of the pools with Sat_044, * indicates recombinants. P1 = parent1 (msMOS), P2 = parent2 (Minsoy).



Fig. 4. Effect of map distance (cM) from Satt046 locus on segregation ratios (chi-square)

References

- Akkaya MS, Shoemaker RC, Specht JE, Bhgowat AA, Cregan PB (1995) Integration of simple sequence repeat DNA markers into a soybean linkage map. Crop Sci 35: 1439-1445.
- Cregan PB, Jarvik T, Bush AL, Shoemaker RC, Lark KG, Hahler AL, VanToai TT, Lohnes DG, Chung J, Specht JE An integrated genetic linkage map of the soybean. Crop Sci (in review).
- Delannay X, Palmer RG (1982) Four genes controlling root fluorescence in soybean. Crop Sci 22: 278-281.
- Delourme R, Bouchereau A, Hubert N, Renard M, Landry BS (1994) Identification of RAPD markers linked to a fertility restore gene for the *Ogura* radish cytoplasmic male sterility of rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). Theor Appl Genet 88: 741-748.
- Devine TE, Weisemann JM, Matthews BF (1993) Linkage of the *Fr2* locus controlling soybean root fluorescence and four loci detected by RFLP markers. Theor Appl Genet 85: 921-925.
- Giovannoni JJ, Wing RA, Ganal MW, Tanksley SD (1991) Isolation of molecular markers from specific chromosomal intervals using DNA pools from existing mapping populations. Nucl Acids Res 19: 6553-6558.
- Gonella J, Peterson PA (1975) Gametophytic factor (*ga 10*) on chromosome 5 distal to A2. Maize Genet Coop Newsl 4: 71-73.
- Griffin JD, Broich SL, Delannay X, Palmer RG (1989) The loci *Fr1* and *Ep* define soybean linkage group 12. Crop Sci 29: 80-82.

- Honeycutt RJ. Hedges BR, Palmer RG (1988) Aberrant segregation of a variegated mutant in soybean. Soybean Genet Newsl 15: 163-167.
- Honeycutt RJ, Newhouse KE, Palmer RG (1990) Inheritance and linkage studies of a variegated leaf mutant in soybean. J Heredity 81: 123-126.
- Ishikawa R, Sato TI, Morishima H (1987a) Abnormal segregation of isozyme genes in the Indica x Japonica crosses of the common rice. Jpn J Breed 37: 188-189.
- Ishikawa R, Kinoshita T, Morishima H (1987b) Trisomic analysis of genes for isozymes: location of Cat-1, Acp-1 and Pox-2 on chromosomes. Rice Genet Newsl 4: 75-76.
- Keim P, Olson TC, Shoemaker RC (1988) A rapid protocol for isolating soybean DNA. Soybean Genet Newslett 15: 150-152.
- Keim P, Shoemaker RC, Palmer RG (1989) Restriction fragment length polymorphism diversity in soybean. Theor Appl Genet 77: 786-792.
- Kosambi DD (1944) The estimation of map distance from recombination values. Ann Eugen 12: 172-175.
- Lander ES, Green P, Abrahamson J, Barlow A, Daly MJ, Lincoln SE, Newburg L (1987) MAPMAKER: an interactive computer program for constructing genetic linkage maps of experimental and natural populations. Genomics 1: 174-181.
- Lin SY, Ikehashi H, Yanagihara S, Kawashima A (1992) Segregation distortion via male gametes in hybrids between Indica and Japonica or wide-compatibility varieties of rice (*Oryza sativa* L). Theor Appl Genet 84: 812-818.

- Maekawa M, Kita F (1985) New gametophyte genes located in the third linkage group (chromosome 3) of rice. Jpn J Breed 35: 225-31.
- Maekawa M, Kinoshita T, Takahashi M (1981) Genetical studies on the rice plant. LXXVI. A new gametophyte gene in the second linkage group of rice. Jpn Fac Agric Hokkaido Univ 60: 107-114.
- McCouch SR, Kochert G, Yu ZH, Wang ZY, Khush GS, Coffman WR, Tanksley SD (1988) Molecuar mapping of rice chromosomes. Theor Appl Genet 76: 815-829.
- Michelmore RW, Paran I, Kesseli RW (1991) Identification of markers linked to disease-resistance genes by bulked segregation analysis: a rapid method to detect markers in specific geomic regions by using segregating populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88: 9828-9832.
- Mouzeyar S, Roeckel-Drevet P, Gentzbittel L, Philippon J, Tourvieille De Labrouhe D, Vear F, Nicolas P (1995) RFLP and RAPD mapping of the sunflower *Pl1* locus for resistance to *Plasmopara halstedii* race1. Theor Appl Genet 91: 733-737.
- Nakagahra M (1986) Genographic distribution of gametophyte genes in wide crosses of rice cultivars. In: Rice genetics. IRRI, Manila, Philippines, pp 73-82.
- Nakagahra M (1972) Genetic mechanism of the distorted segregation of marker genes belonging to the eleventh linkage group in cultivated rice. Jpn J Breed 22: 232-238.
- Palmer RG, Chen XF, Assignment of the *Fr*3 locus to soybean linkage group 9. J Hered (accepted).

- Palmer RG, Hedges BR (1993) Linkage map of soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr] (2n = 40). In: Genetic Maps, (O'Brien S. J. ed.). New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; p. 6.136-6.148.
- Rashid A, Peterson PA (1992) The RSS system of unidirectional crossincompatibility in maize: I. Genetics. J Hered 83: 130-134.
- Roth EF, Weber G, Lark KG (1982) Use of isoporpyl-N (3-chlorophenyl) carbamate (CIPC) to produce partial haploids from suspension cultures of soybean (*Glycine max*). Plant Cell Rep 1: 205-208.
- Saito A, Shimosaka E, Hayano Y, Saito K, Matuura S, Yano M (1991) Molecular mapping on chromosome 3 of rice. Jpn J Breed 41: 158-159.
- Sawada S, Palmer RG (1987) Genetic analyses of nonfluorescent root mutants induced by mutagenesis in soybean. Crop Sci 27:62-65.
- Shoemaker RC, Specht JE (1995) Integration of the soybean molecular and classical genetic linkage groups. Crop Sci 35: 436-446.
- Tautz D (1989) Hypervariability of simple sequences as a general source for polymorphic DNA markers. Nucl Acids Res 17: 6463-6471.
- Weber JK, May PE (1989) Abundant class of human DNA polymorphisms which can be typed using the polymerase chain reaction. Am J Human Genet 44: 388-397.
- Wu KS, Glaszmann JC, Khush GS (1988) Chromosomal locations of ten isozyme loci in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) through trisomic analysis. Biochem Genet 26: 303-320.

- Yaghoobi J, Kaloshian I, Wen Y, Williamson VM (1995) Mapping a new nematode resistance locus in *Lycopersicon peruvianum*. Theor Appl Genet 91: 457-464.
- Young ND, Zamir D, Ganal MW, Tanksley SD (1988) Use of isogenic lines and simultaneous probing to identify DNA markers tightly linked to the Tm-2a gene in tomato. Genetics 120: 579-585.
- Zhang OF, Shen BZ, Dai XK, Mei MH, Saghai Maroof MA, Li ZB (1994) Using bulked extremes and recessive class to map genes for photoperiod-sensitive genic male sterility in rice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91: 8675-8679.
CHAPTER 6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

I have demonstrated that novel mutant is a nuclear male sterile and is inherited as a single-recessive gene. No differences in female or male gamete transmission of the recessive allele were observed between reciprocal cross-pollinations in the F1 or F2 generations. This mutant is not allelic to any previously identified soybean genic male-sterile mutants: *ms1, ms2, ms3, ms4, ms5*, or *ms6*. No linkage was detected between the male-sterile gene and flower color (*W1 locus*), or between the male-sterile gene and pubescence color (*T1 locus*).

Developmental studies and enzyme extraction analyses showed that there was no β -1,3-glucanase (callase) activity in male-sterile anthers, and this suggests that the biological mechanism of male sterility is the retention of callose walls, which normally are degraded around tetrads at the late tetrad stage. The tapetum from male-sterile anthers also showed abnormalities at the tetrad and later stages, which were expressed by an unusual formation of vacuoles, and by accumulation of densely staining material.

In the second manuscript of this dissertation, the male-sterile gene was mapped on linkage group D1b of the USDA/ARS/ISU soybean molecular genetic map. An F2 population of 111 individuals constructed from a cross between the mutant msMOS (ms ms) and the cultivar Minsoy (MS MS) was used for the mapping project. Two hundred and seventy probes, including 219 RFLP and 51 SSRs were evaluated. Of these, 102 RFLPs and 31 SSR probes detected polymorphisms. The

F2 population was screened for segregation of these polymorphic molecular markers. Analyses revealed that the male-sterile locus was flanked by Satt157 and Satt412 on linkage group D1b. This is a contribution toward the construction of a comprehensive genetic map of soybean. The availability of linked DNA markers will facilitate the genetic analysis of this male-sterile gene in relation to soybean breeding programs, and will be a starting point for the isolation of the ms gene by map-based cloning.

In the third manuscript of this dissertation, 12 classes of β -1,3-glucanase genes were cloned, analyzed, and mapped. Oligonucleotide primers designed for conserved sequences from the coding region of β -1,3-glucanase genes from a number of different species were used to amplify related β -1,3-glucanase genes from soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]. Sequencing and cross hybridization of amplified products indicated that at least 12 classes of β -1,3-glucanase genes exist in soybean. Northern blot analyses performed on total RNA from root, leaf, flower bud, stem, and hypocotyl, using different classes of β -1,3-glucanases as probes, indicated organ specific mRNA accumulation patterns. Members of these classes were mapped to 34 loci on 5 different linkage groups using an F2 population of 56 individuals previously characterized. We found that β -1,3-glucanase genes are broadly distributed in the genome, some of them are clustered within multiple loci. Two pathways seem to be involved in the evolution of the gene families: duplications of large chromosomal domains followed by extensive gene duplication and divergence; and retrotransposition and duplication of individual β -1,3-glucanase

genes. These features suggest that the expression patterns of β -1,3-glucanase genes may be correlated with their levels of sequence divergence and their chromosomal locations. Phylogenetic analysis and expression studies indicated that SoyGlu7 may be the candidate gene involved in male sterility in the mutant.

In the fourth manuscript of this dissertation, the Fr1 locus was mapped by bulked segregant analysis using the same F2 mapping population as the ms mapping. The reason we mapped this gene was mainly as follows: it segregated in the F2 population constructed for ms mapping; and soybean root fluorescence is an very important marker in genetic linkage studies and in the characterization of germplasm diversity. Pooled DNA extracts from 10 homozygous Fr1 Fr1 and 10 fr1 fr1 F2 plants, derived from a msMOS (Fr1 Fr1) x Minsoy (fr1 fr1) cross, were analyzed using 61 SSR markers. Five SSRs produced repeatable polymorphisms between paired bulks. Linkage with the Fr1 locus then was tested using these five SSR primers and DNA from 80 individual F2 plants. Linkage of SSR loci with the Fr1 locus was verified by using the F2 plants. The five SSR markers and Fr1 are on linkage group K of the USDA/ARS/ISU molecular genetic map, markers flanking Fr1 are Satt337 (11 cM) and Sat_044 (0.6). More importantly, Fr1 was previously mapped on linkage group 12 of the classical genetic map, thus, classical genetic linkage group 12 has been correlated to linkage group K of the molecular genetic map.

140

APPENDIX

Application for

United States Letters Patent

of

Wei Jin Harry T. Horner Reid G. Palmer Randy C. Shoemaker

for

Soybean Glucanases,

Compounds Which Encode Therefor and Related Methods

The second s

Soybean Glucanases,

Compounds Which Encode Therefor and Related Methods

BACKGROUND OF THE INVENTION

The present inventors recently characterized a genic male-sterile mutant of soybean: 83(6) Am. J. Bot. 42, abstract 121 (1996); Jin et al., 10 Sex Plant Reprod. 13 (1997). Microscopic analysis of the mutant showed the callose encasement of the microspores was retained at an inappropriate developmental stage. The persistent callose encasement resulted in no release, and subsequent degeneration of the microspores. Other results in these publications showed that callase, the enzyme which is responsible for digestion of the callose wall, was inactive. The reason for the inactivity was not elucidated at that time.

Other publications by the present inventors identified the callase as a β -1,3-glucanase. Abstract P14. Genetics Society of Canada (June 1997); 114(3) Plant Physiology 172, abstract 842 (June 1997); 84(6) Am. J. Bot. 63, abstract 182 (June 1997).

Soybean β -1,3 glucanases have been cloned in the past. For example, US Patent Number 5.477,001 discloses cloned β -1,3- glucanases from soybean. The gene products are implicated in disease resistance. No disclosure of the involvement of β -1,3- glucanases as a callase is described in the patent. Non-soybean glucanases, such as those described in US Patent 5,554,743 describe β -1,3-glucanases involved in cell wall polysaccharide degradation.

A search of the National Institutes of Health BLAST database disclosed a line of soybean "*Glycine max* cv. Century 84" with cloned β -1,3-glucanases. None of the sequences found were identical to the presently-claimed sequences. The following is a table of the results of the search:

SEQ ID NO	CLOSEST HOMOLOGY	REFERENCE
1	85% (soybean glucanase)	US Patent 5477001, Seq 8:
		same as WO9413790. Seq 15
2	98% (sovbean endoglucanase)	none available
3	91% (Century 84)	26 Crop Science 199 (1986)
4	97% (soybean glucanase)	US Patent 5477001, Seq 8;
		same as WO9413790, Seq 15
5	76% (Century 84)	26 Crop Science 199 (1986)
6	91% (Century 84)	26 Crop Science 199 (1986)
7	54% (unknown)	US Patent 5614395, Seq 13;
		same as WO9413790. Seq 15
8	85% (soybean glucanase)	US Patent 5477001, Seq Id 8:
		same as WO9413790, Seq 15
9	75% (Century 84)	26 Crop Science 199 (1986)
10	97% (Century 84)	26 Crop Science 199 (1986)
11	76% (Century 84)	26 Crop Science 199 (1986)
12	96% (soybean glucanase)	US Patent 5477001, Seq Id 8;
		same as WO9413790, Seq 15

The 5,477,001 patent does not disclose or suggest the present invention, because the sequences described herein are not disclosed. Moreover, the emphasis in the 5,477,001 patent is the use of a particular soybean glucanase to resist plant diseases. In certain aspects of the present invention, the focus is on the elimination of active soybean glucanases; the 5,477,001 patent therefore teaches away from those aspects of the present invention. Century 84 is a line of soybean which was released jointly by the Ohio Agricultural Research and Development Center, The Ohio State University and the USDA which contained over-expressed glucanase for the purpose of disease resistance. Registration Number 188, 26 *Crop Science* 199 (1989).

Citation of the above documents is not intended as an admission that any of the foregoing is pertinent prior art. For example, in some instances above, the publication was less than one year before the filing date of this patent application. All statements as to the date or representation as to the contents of these documents is based on subjective characterization of information available to the applicant at the time of filing, and does not constitute an admission as to the accuracy of the dates or contents of these documents.

SUMMARY OF THE INVENTION

It is therefore an object of the present invention to provide sequences useful to engineer male-sterile soybean lines.

It is a further object to provide methods to engineer male-sterile soybean lines.

It is yet another object to provide male-sterile soybean seeds.

It is yet another object to provide male-sterile soybean plants.

In all of the above embodiments, it is an object to provide seed mixes with male-sterile and female-fertile seeds.

It is also an object of the invention to provide materials such as vectors for genetic engineering male-sterile soybean lines.

It is an additional object to provide a method to improve seed germination using the materials herein disclosed.

Lastly, it is therefore an object of the present invention to provide sequences useful to engineer disease-resistant soybean lines.

Definitions:

For the purposes of the present application, the following terms have the following meanings. All other terms have the meaning as generally recognized in the art.

"Knockout construct" means a DNA sequence which has been altered via any known means, for example, deletion, insertion, point mutation or rearrangement, so as to alter the function of the naturally-occurring gene product, but not so as to alter the ability of the DNA sequence to recombine with the naturally-occurring sequence.

"Knockout mutants" are cells, embryos or plants in which a naturally-occurring β -1.3-glucanase gene has been replaced through genetic engineering with a knockout construct, so as to result in a male-sterile phenotype.

DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE INVENTION

The present invention provides twelve different sequences for soybean β -1.3 glucanases and the proteins for which they encode. The DNA sequences are as follows:

Seq	
ID	SEQUENCE
No	
1	CGGGATCCGGGGTGTGTTACGGCATGATGGGCGACAATCTACCACCGGCAAATGAAGTTGTAAGTCTTTACAAA
	TCCAACGACATAATGAGAATGAGAATCTATAATCCTGATCAAGCTGCTTTACAAGCACTGGGAAATTCGGGCAT
	. TGAGCTTATTCTTGGGGTGCTCCACCAAGACCTTCAAGGCCTTGCCACCAATGCTAGCACTGCTCAACAATGGG
	TGCAAAGTAACGTGTTGAACTTTTGGCCTAGTGTCAAAATCAAGCACGTGGTAGTTGGCAACGAAATCAATC
	GTGGGAAGCTCTTCTGAGTTTGCCCAATATGTTCTACCTGCAATCCAAAACATATACCAAGCTATAAGAGCTCA
	AGGCCTTCAAGATCTAATCAAGGTTACAACAGCTATTGACATGACCCTGTTAGGAAACTCCTACCCCCCATCAC
	AAAGCTACTTCAGGACTGATGTGAGATCATACTTAGACCCCATAATTGGGTACTTGGTATATGCAAATGCACCT
	TTACTAGCCAATGTGTTGCCTTATTTTAGTTACTCCAATAACCCGATTGACATATCACTTTCCTATGCTCTTT
	TAACTCAACAAATGTTGTGGTTTGGGATGGTCAATATGGGTACCAAAATTTGTTTG
	TGCATGTTGCAATTGATAACACAGGGATTGGTCATGTGGAGGTTGTTGTATCCGAGAGAGGTTGGCCGAATTCC
	G
2	CGGGATCCGGCGTGTGTTATGGAAGACTTGGCAACAACTTACCAACCCCTCAAGAAGTTGTGGCCCTCTACAAT
	CAAGCCAACATTCGCAGGATGCGAATCTACGGTCCAAGCCCAGAAGTCCTCGAAGCACTAAGAGGTTCCAACAT
	TGAGCTTTTGCTAGACATTCCAAATGACAACCTCAGAAACCTAGCATCTAGCCAAGACAATGCAAACAAA
	TGCAAGACAACATCAAAAACTATGCCAACAATGTCAGATTCAGATACGTTTCAGTGGGAAATGAAGTGAAACCC
	GAACACTCATTTGCACAATTTCTAGTGCCTGCATTGGAAAACATTCAGAGGGCCATTTCTAATGCTGGCCTTGG
	AAACCAAGTAAAAGTTTCCACTGCCATTGATACTGGTGCCTTGGCAGAATCATTCCCACCATCAAAGGGTTCCT
	TCAAATCTGATTATAGAGGAGCATATCTTGATGGTGTCATCAGATTTCTAGTGAACAATAATGCCCCATTAAT
	GGTTAATGTGTACTCTTACTTCGCTTACACTGCAAACCCTAAGGACATTAGTCTTGACTATGCACTTTTTAGGT
	CTCCTTCGGTGGTAGTGCAAGATGGTTCACTTGGTTACCGTAACCTCTTTGATGCTTCGGTTGATGCTGTTTAT
	GCTGCATTGGAGAAAGCAGGAGGAGGGTCATTGAACATAGTTGTGTCTGAGTGAG

3	CGGGATCCGGAGTTTGCTATGGAGTACTCGGTAATAATCTACCATCAAGGCAAGAAGTTGTGGACTTGTATAAA
	ACAAATGGGATAGGTAGAATGCGTATATACTATCCAGATGAAGAAGCGCTCCAAGCCCTTAGAGGTTCAGGCAT
	TGAGTTGATTATGGACGTGGCTAAGGAAACCCTTCAATCAA
	ATAAGTATGTTACAGCCTACTCGCAAGACGTCAATTTCAAGTACATCGCTGTTGGAAATGAAATTCACCCCAAT
	ACCAATGAGGCACAGTACATTCTATCTGCCATGACCAACATTCAGAATGCAATTTCATCAGCCAATTTACAAAT
	CAAGGTGTCAACAGCAATAGACTCTACTTTCATTGCTCCGCCCTCCTATCCACCCAATGATGCTGTTTTCACTA
	GCGATGCAGAGCCATATGTAAAACCCATAATAGACTTCCTAGTGAGAAATGAGGCGCCACTTCTTGCCAATGTG
	TACCCTTACTTTGCTTATGCGAATGATCAACAAAACAGTATTCCTCTTGCCTATGCTCTTTTTACCCAACAAGG
	AAACAACGACGCTGGGTACCAAAACCTCTTCGATGCTATGTTGGATTCAATATACGCTGCAGTGGAGAAAGTGG
	GAGCATCCAATTTGCAGATAGTGGTTTCTGAATCTGGTTGGCCGAATTCCG
4	CGGGATCCGG GGTATGTTAT GGCATGCTGG GCAACAATCT ACCATCAGCA AACGAAGTTA
	TAGGTCTTTA TAGATCAAAT AACATAAGGA GAATGAGACT CTATGATCCT AATCAAGCTG
	CTCTAGAAGC ACTTAGAAAT TCTGGCATTG AACTCATTCT TGGGGTGCCA AACTCTGACC
	TTCAAGGCCT TGCCACCAAT CCTGACACTT CTCGTCAATG GGTGCAAAAA AACGTGTTGA
	ACTTTTGGCC TAGTGTCAAA ATCAAGTACG TGGCAGTTGG AAATGAACTG AGTCCCGTTG
	GACGCTCTTC TTCGGTAGCC CAATATGTTC TACCTGCCAT CCAAAATGTA TACCAAGCAA
	TAAGAGCTCA AGGCCTTCAT GATCAAATCA AGGTTTCAAC ATCTATTGAC ATGACCCTAA
	TAGGAAACTC TTTCCCTCCA CCGCAAGGTT CCTTCAGGGG TGATGTGTGA TCATACCTAG
	ATCCCATAAT TGGGTACTTG GTATATGCAA ATGCACCATT ACTAGTCAAT GTGTACCCTT
	ATTTTAGTTA CACTGGTAAC CCCCGTGACA TATCACTTCC CTATGCTCTT TTCACAGCAC
	CAAATGTTGT GGTATGGGAT GGTCAATATG GGTACCAAAA TTTGTTTGAT GCTATGTTGG
	ATTCAGTACA TGCAGCCATT GATAACACTA AGATTGGTTA TGTGGAGGTT GTTGTATCCG
	AAAGCGGATG GA
5	CGGGCATCCGGTGTCTGTTACGGAGGAAATGGAAACAATCTACCAACAAAGCAAGC
	ATCAAACAGAATAGGCAAAATCCGTTTATACTATCCAGACGAAGGAGTCCTTCAAGCCCTCAGAGGTTCAAACA
	TAGAGGTGATCCTCGGTGTCCCTAATGACCAACTTCAATCTCTCACCAACGCTGGAGCTGCCACAAATTGGGTC
	AACAAGTACGTGAAAGCATACTCACAAAACGTGAAATTCAAGTACATTGCAGTTGGTAACGAAATTCACCCTGG
	TGACTCTTTAGCAGGGTCTGTACTTCCAGCACTTGAAACCATTCAGAAAGCAATTTCTGCCGCCAATTTACAAG
	GCCAAATGAAGGTGTCAACAGCAATAGACACCACTTTACTTGGCAACTCTTACCCACCAAAAGATGGCGTTTTC
	AGCAGTAGTGCAAGTTCATACATAAGACCAATTGTAAACTTTTTAGCAAGAAATGGAGCCCCACTTCTCGCAAA
	CGTGTACCCTTACTTCGCCTATGTTAACAACCAACAAAGCACTGGTCTTGACTATGCCTTGTTTACTAAACATG
	GTAACAACGAGGTTGGGTACCAAAACCTGTTTGATGCAT
	TGTTGGATTCTCTATACGCTGCTCTTGAGAAAGTAGGGGGCACCAAATGTGAAGGTTGTTGTGTCTGAAAGAGGT
	TGGCCGAATTCCG

6	CGGGATCCGGGAGTATGTTACGGGAGTACTCGGTAATAATCTACCATCAAGGCAAGAAGTTGTGGACTTGTATA
	AAACAAATGGGATAGGTAGAATGCGTATATACTATCCAGATGAAGAAGCACTCCAAGCCCTTAGAGGTTCAGGC
	ATTGAGTTGATTATGGACGTGGCTAAGGAAACCCTTCAGTCAATGACAGACCCCAATGCTGCTACAGATTGGGT
	CAATAAGTATGTTACAGCCTACTCGCAAGACGTCAATTTCAAGTACATCGCTGTTGGAAATGAAATTCACCCCA
	ATACCAATGAGGCACAGTACATTCTATCTGCCATGACCAACATTCAGAATGCAATTTCATCAGCCAATTTACAA
	ATCAAGGTGTCAACAGCAATAGACTCTACTTTCATTGCTCCGCCCTCCTATCCACCCAATGATGCTGTTTTCAC
	TAGCGATGCAGAGCCATATGTAAAACCCATAATAGACTTCCTAGTGAGAAATGAGGCGCCACTTCTTGCCAA
	TGTGTACCCTTACTTTGCTTATGCGAATGATCAACAAAACAGTATTCCTCTTGCCTATGCTCTTTATACCCAAC
	AAGGAAACAACGACGCTGGGTACCAAAACCTCTTCGATGCTATGTTGGATTCAATATACGCTGCAGTGGAGAAA
	GTGGGAGCATCCCAATTTGCAGATAGTGGTTTCTGAAAGAGATGGCCGAATTCCG
7	CGGGATCCGAGTTTGTTATGGAAGAAGTGCTGATGACCTCCCTACACCTGACAAGGTGGCACAGTTGGTTCAAC
	TTCATAAAATCAAATATGTCAGGATTTATGATTCTAATATACAGGTTCTGAAGGCCTTTGCAAACACTGGAATT
	GAGCTTATGATTGGGGTTCCAAATTCGGACTTGCTTTCATTCTCTCAGTTCCAATCTAATGCAGACTCTTGGCT
	GAAAAACAGCGTGCTTCCTTACTATCCGGCTACAAAGATCGCATACATCACTGTCGGCGCCGAAGTCACTGAGA
	GTCCTAACAATGCATCTTCATTTGTAGTGCCTGCCATGACCAATGTGCTTACAGCACTCAAGAAACTTGGGCTG
	CACAAAAAGATTAAAGTTTCCAGCACCCATTCCCTTGGGGTTTTGTCGCGATCCTTCCCGCCTTCTGCTGGGGC
	TTTCAATAGCAGCCATGCACATTTCCTGAAGCCAATGCTAGAATTTCTTGCTGAAAATCAGTCACCTTTTATGA
	TTGATATATATCCTTATTATGCCCACCGTGATTCCCGGAGTAAAGTGTCTTTAGACTATGCCCTGTTTGATGCA
	TCCTCTGAAGTAATTGATCCAAACACAGGCTTGCTGTACACAAACATGTTTGATGCCCAGATTGATGCTATTTA
	CTTTGCACTGATGGCCTTGGACTTCAGAACAATTAAGGTCATGGTCACTGAGTGCGGATGGCCGAATTCCG
8	CGGGATCCGGGGTGTGTTACGGCATGATGGGCGACAATCTACCACCGGCAAATGAAGTTGTAAGTCTTTACAAA
	TCCAACGACATAATGAGAATGAGAATCTATAATCCTGATCAAGCTGCTTTACAAGCACTGGGAATTTCGGGCAT
	TGAGCTTATTCTTGGGGTGCTCCACCAAGACCTTCAAGGCCTTGCCACCAATGCTAGCACTGCTCAACAATGGG
	TGCAAAGTAACGTGTTGAACTTTTGGCCTAGTGTCAAAATCAAGCACGTGGTAGTTGGCAACGAAATCAATC
	GTGGGAAGCTCTTCTGAGTTTGCCCAATATGTTCTACCTGCAATCCAAAACATATACCAAGCTATAAGAGCTCA
	AGGCCTTCAAGATCTAATCAAGGTTACAACAGCTATTGACATGACCCTGTTAGGAAACTCCTACCCCCCATCAC
	AAAGCTACTTCAGGACTGATGTGAGATCATACTTAGACCCCATAATTGGGTACTTGGTATATGCAAATGCACCT
	TTACTAGCCAATGTGTTGCCTTATTTTAGTTACTCCGATAACCCGATTGACATATCACTTTCCTATGCTCTTTT
	TAACTCAACAAATGTTGTGGTTTGGGATGGTCAATATGGGTACCAAAATTTGTTTG
	TGCATGTTGCAATTGATAACACAGGGATTGGTTATGTGGAGGTTGTTGTATCCGAATGGGGTTGGCCGAATTCC
	G

9	CGGGATCCGGGGTTTGTTACGGAGGAAAAGGAAACAACCTACCAAAAATGCAAGCAGTGGTGGATTTATACAAA
	TCAAACCGAATTGACAAAATCCGTTTATACCATCCAGACGAAGGAGCCCTTCAAGCCCTCAGAGGTTCAAACAT
	AGAGGTGGTCCTCGGTGTCCCTAATGACCAACTTCAATCTCTCATCAATGTTGCAAATGCCACAAATTGGGTCA
	ACAAGTACGTGAAAGCATACTCACAAAACGTGAAATTCAAGTACATTGCAGTCGGTAACGAATTCTTTAGCAGG
	GTCTGTACTTCCAGCACTTGAAAACATTCAGAACGCAACTTCTGCCGCCAATTTACAAGGCCAAATGAAGGTGT
	CAACAGCAATAGACACCACTTTACTTGGCAACTCTTACCCACCAAAAGATGGCGTTTTCAGCAGTAGTGCAAGT
	TCATACATAAGACCAATTGTAAACTTTTGAGCTAGAAATGGAGCTCCACTTCTCGCAAACGTGTACCCTTACTT
	CGCCTATGTTAACGACCAACAAAGCATTAGTCTCGACTATGCCTTGTTTACTGAACATGGTAACAACGAGGCTG
	GGTACCAAAACCTGTTTGATGCATTGTTGGATTCTCTATACGCTGCTCTTGAGAAAGTAGGGGCACCCAATGTG
	ACGGTTGTTGTGTCTGAAACGGGCTGGCCG
10	CGGGATCCGGTGTTTGTTATGGAGTGATTGGTGATAATCTACCATCAAGGCAAGAAGTTGTGGACTTATATAAA
	ACAAATGGCATTGGTAGAATGCGTATATACTACCCAGATGAAGAAGCACTCCAAGCCCTTAGAGGTTCAGGCAT
	TGAGTTGATTATGGACGTGGCTAAGGAAACCCTTCAATCATTGACAGACTCCAATGCTGCTACAGATTGGGTCA
	ATAAATATGTTACACCTTACTCGCAAGACGTCAATTTCAAGTACATCGCTGTTGGAAATGAAATTCATCCCAAT
	ACCAATGAGGCACAATATATTCTATCTGCCATGACCAACATTCAGAATGCAATTTCATCAGCAAATTTACAAAT
	TAAGGTGTCAACAGCTATAGACTCTACTTTGATTACTAACTCTTACCCTCCCAATGATGGCGTTTTCACTAGCG
	ATGCGGAGCCATACATAAAAACCCATAATCAACTTCCTAGTGAGCAATGGGGGCCCCAATTCTTGCCAACGTGTA
	CCCTTACTTTGCTTATGCAAATGATCAAAGCATTCCTCTTGCCTATGCTCTTTTACCCAACAAGGAAACAACG
	ACGTTGGGTACCAAAACCTCTTTGATGCTATGTTGGATTCAATATATGCTGCTTTGGAGAAAGTGGGAGCGTCC
	AATTTGCAGATAGTGGTTTCTGAGTGAGGATGGCCGAATTCCG
11	CGGGATCCGGTGTGTGTTACGGAGGAAATGGAAACAATCTACCAACAAAGCAAGC
	TCAAACAGAATAGGCAAAATCCGTTTATACTATCCAGACGAAGGAGTCCTTCAAGCCCTCAGAGGTTCAAACAT
	AGAGGTGATCCTCGGTGTCCCTAATGACCAACTTCATTCTCTCACCAACGCTGGAGCTGCCACAAATTGGGTCA
	ACAAGTACGTGAAAGCATACTCACAAAACGTGAAATTCAAGTACATTGCAGTTGGTAACGAAATTCACCCTGGT
	GACTCTTTAGCAGGGTCTGTACTTCCAGCACTTGAAAACATTCAGAAAGCAATTTCTGCCGCCAATTTACAAGG
	CCAAATGAAGGTGTCAACAGCAATAGACACCACTTTACTTGGCAACTCTTACCCACCAAAAGATGGCGTTTTCA
	GCAGTAGTGCAAGTTCATACATAAGACCAATTGTAAACTTTTTAGCAAGAAATGGAGCCCCACTTCTCGCAA
	ACGTGTACCCTTACTTCGCCTATGTTAACAACCAACAAAGCATTGGTCTTGACTATGCCTTGTTTACTAAACAT
	GGTAACAACGAGGTTG5GTACCAAAACCTGTTTGATGCATTGCTGGATTCCCTATACGCTGCTCTTGAGAAAGT
	AGGGGCACCAAATGTGAAGGTTGTTGTGTCTGAGTGCGGATGGCCGAATTCCG

į.

12	CGGAATTCGGCCATCCACTTTCGGATACAACCACCTCCACATAACCAATCTTAGTGTTATCAATGGCTGCATGT
	ACTGAATCCAACATAGCATCAAACAAATTTTGGTACCCATATTGACCATCCCATACCACAACATTTGGTGCTGT
	GAAAAGAGCATAGGGAAGTGATATGTCACGGGGGTTACCAGTGTAACTAAAATAAGGGTACACATTGACTAGTA
	ATGGTGCATTTGCATATACCAAGTACCCAATTATGGGATCTATGTATG
	TGCGATGGAGGGAAAGATTTCCTATTAGGGTCATGTCAATATATGTTGAAACCTTGATTTGATCNTGAAGGCCT
	TGAGCTCTTATTGCTTGGTATACATTTTGGATGGCAGGTAGAACATATTGGGCTACCGAAGAAGAGCCTCCAAC
	GGGACTCACTTCATTTCCAACTGCCACGTACTTGATTTTGACACTAGGCCAGAAGTTCTACACGTTTTTTGCA
	CCCATTGACGAGAAGTGTCAGGATTGGTGGCAAGGCCTTGAAGGTCAGAGTTTGGCACCCCAAGAATGAGTTCA
	ATGCCAGAATTTCTAAGTGCTTCTAGAGCAGCTTGATTAGGATCATAGAGTCTCATTCTCTTTATGTTATTTGA
	TCTATAAAGACCTATAACATCGTTTGCTGACGGTAGATTGTTGCCCAGCATGCCGTA

Vectors which comprise the above sequences are within the scope of the present invention, as are plants transformed with the above sequences. Vectors may be obtained from various commercial sources, including Clontech Laboratories, Inc. (Palo Alto, CA), Stratagene (La Jolla, CA), Invitrogen (Carlsbad, CA), New England Biolabs (Beverly, MA) and Promega (Madison, WI).

Preferred vectors are those which are capable of transferring the sequences disclosed herein into plant cells or plant parts.

Methods to inhibit plant diseases, including use of a compound herein disclosed, according to the procedures described in US 5,477,001, which patent is expressly incorporated by reference, are also part of the present invention.

Moreover, the most commercially significant use of the present invention is in the construction of "knockout mutants" using the above sequences, or known soybean sequences, for design and construction of male-sterile mutants. In other words, the present invention is informative to those skilled in the art as to their usefulness in making the naturally-occuring gene inactive. For example, the above sequences can be mutated by any means, i.e., deletion, insertion, point mutation, rearrangement, etc, so long as the mutated version retains the ability to recombine. The mutated version of the gene is then introduced into cells of a preferred soybean line via routine methods (ie. biolistic processes, lambda phage transformation, etc.). Male-sterile mutants of the preferred line would then be selected and propagated. These "knockout" mutant embryos, seeds and plants are within the scope of the present invention, as are the knockout constructs, ie. sequences and vectors.

In particular, sequences near the active site of enzyme function, and the site itself, would be preferred targets. For example, the codons for amino acid residues 240 through 250 would be a preferred knockout, but most preferred would be a construct wherein the codons encoding 245 through 248 were deleted.

For example, the following seeds, embryos or plants transformed with knockout constructs are considered within the present invention: soybean, maize, beet, tobacco, wheat, barley, poppy, rape, sunflower, alfalfa, sorghum, rose, carnation, gerbera, carrot, tomato, lettuce, chicory, pepper, melon and cabbage. Particularly preferred are: soybean, tobacco and maize. However, any seed, embryo or plant which gives rise to a plant which has a callose encasement of the microspores is within the scope of the present invention. Of course, those in the art recognize that any seed, embryo or plant transformed with knockout constructs which are useful for producing plants for biomass are within the scope of the present invention.

Transformation of cells with the compounds of the present invention can be accomplished according to known procedures. For example, infective, vectorcontaining bacterial strains (such as Agrobacterium rhizogenes and Agrobacterium tumefaciens) may be used for transformation. Zambryski, 43 Ann. Rev. Pl. Physiol. Pl. Mol. Biol. 465 (1992). The following procedures are also well-known: Pollen-tube transformation [Zhon-xun et al., 6 Plant Molec. Bio. 165 (1988)]; direct transformation of germinating seeds [Toepfer et al., 1 Plant Cell 133 (1989)]; polyethylene glycol or electroporation tranformation [Christou et al., 84 Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 3662 (1987)]; and biolistic processes [Yang & Cristou, Particle Bombardment Technology for Gene Transfer (1994)]. The transformed cells are also within the scope of the present invention.

The transformed cells may be induced to form transformed plants via organogenesis or embryogenesis, according to the procedures of Dixon *Plant Cell Culture: A Practical Approach* (IRL Press, Oxford 1987).

Therefore, also provided are methods for constructing sequences with the ability to knockout the above sequences, comprising one of the following techniques: inserting a foreign piece of DNA into one of the disclosed sequences; deleting a piece of DNA from one of the disclosed sequences; or creating a mutation such that the ß-1,3-glucanase activity is eliminated.

Also provided are antisense constructs and methods to inhibit mRNA transcripts of the disclosed sequences, so as to either eliminate or reduce the amount of gene product. The procedures for antisense inhibition for mRNA are described in US Patent 5.554,743, which patent is expressly incorporated by reference into this application.

Also provided in the present invention are methods to improve seed germination, comprising expressing or overexpressing the B-1,3-glucanase(s) described herein, and using the glucanases to digest the callose wall of mature seeds [i.e., *Cucumis* Speices; Yim and Bradford, 114(3) Plant Physiology 289, abstract 1506 (1997)]. The seeds can then be germinated according to traditional methods. Overexpression can be as skill of the art, in particular, according to the procedures described in US Patent 5,477.001.

Lastly, the present invention includes methods to alter the naturally-occurring expression pattern of the β -1.3-glucanase genes so as to either delay or prematurely digest the callose wall. In other words, in a non-male-sterile plant, a glucanase gene is expressed (and the callose encasement digested) at a critical point in microsporogenesis called "the late tetrad stage." If the genes which digest the callose encasement are not active at the late tetrad stage, or if they are active before the late tetrad stage, the potential for pollen formation is lost. In the instance where the β -1,3- glucanase genes are expressed earlier than the late tetrad stage, the microspores would be too immature. In the case where the β -1,3-glucanase genes are expressed later than the late tetrad stage, the microspores would be arrested in development.

Since disease resistance is one characteristic conferred to a plant by the expression of β -1,3-glucanase, an ideal method would be to activate the sequences disclosed herein (or other glucanase sequences), and have the gene constitutively expressed thereafter. However, another embodiment of this invention is to alter the expression pattern so that the β -1,3-glucanase genes turn on later than the late tetrad stage. Constitutive expression thereafter may also be engineered. A preferred method in this regard is alteration of the regulatory regions of SEQ ID NO 7 so as to affect the expression of a β -1,3-glucanase either earlier or later than the late tetrad stage.

In particular, in order to practice the altered expression pattern aspect of the present invention, one would have to construct a vector which provided for either an early or late promoter in conjunction with the present sequences. For instance, the following promoters would be useful in early expression of the present sequences:

Ogs4B (Tsuchiya et al., 36 Plant Cell Physiology 487 (1994) TA29 (Koltunow et al., 2 Plant Cell 1201 (1990) A3 & A9 (Paul et al., 19 Plant Molecular Biology 611 (1992)

In order to then constitutively express the sequences described above, the construct optionally contains, for example, a 35S promoter.

Therefore, the present invention provides methods to express the B-1,3glucanase genes described herein in a plant which has a callose encasement of microspores, at a time other than the late tetrad stage, comprising growing a plant transformed with a vector which allows expression at a time other than the late tetrad stage of a sequence selected from the group consisting of: SEQ ID NO 1; SEQ ID NO 2; SEQ ID NO 3; SEQ ID NO 4; SEQ ID NO 5; SEQ ID NO 6; SEQ ID NO 7; SEQ ID NO 8; SEQ ID NO 9; SEQ ID NO 10; SEQ ID NO 11 and SEQ ID NO 12.

A method as above, wherein the β -1,3-glucanase genes are then consititutively expressed is preferred.

Transformation of plants with these sequences would be according to known procedures as described above. Plants can be grown according to known procedures.

In addition, there are provided male-sterile soybean seeds, embryos and plants comprising a knockout construct of a soybean β -1,3-glucanase gene, in particular, soybean seeds, embryos and plant wherein the soybean β -1,3-glucanase gene knocked out is SEQ ID NO 7 are provided.

Examples

Example 1: Nucleic Acid Manipulations

Plant tissues for nucleic acid isolation were collected from the soybean cultivar Minsoy (PI 27890) grown in the greenhouse or growth chamber. Material for RNA extraction was immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80%C until used. Soybean genomic DNA was extracted from freeze-dried young leaves, following the protocol by Keim *et al.*, 15 *Soybean Genet. Newsl.* 150 (1988). Total DNA (10 &g) was digested and subjected to Southern blotting as described by Sambrook *et al.*, *Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual* (Cold Spring Harbor 1989). Total RNA was extracted using guanidinum isothiocyanate extraction according to Chamczynski & Sacchi, 162 *Anal. Biochem.* 156 (1987). electrophoresed on formaldehyde-agarose gels, and blotted onto Zeta Probe Nylon membrane (Biorad) as described by Sambrook *et al.* (above). Filters were prehybridized 3 hours at 65%C in 5x SSC, 2% SDS, 5x Denhardt's solution. 0.1 mg/ml herring sperm DNA. Hybridization was carried out overnight at 65%C with 2x SSC+0.4% SDS and 1x SSC+0.4% SDS at 60%C before exposure for autoradiography.

Example 2: PCR Amplification, Cloning and Sequence Analysis

Coding region segments encoding β -1.3-glucanase were amplified from soybean genomic DNA and flower bud cDNA using primers that matched conserved sequences within the B-1.3-glucanases of other species as described by Simmons, 13 Critical Rev. Plant Sci. 325 (1994). To obtain cDNA, mRNA was prepared from flower buds, the mRNA was incubated with 5 &M random hexamers, 1 mM each of dATP, dCTP, dGTP and dTTP and 2 U/&I RNase inhibitor (Promega) in 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3), 50 M KCl, 2.5 M MgCl² for 30 min at 37%C, and then for a further 45 minutes at 37%C following the addition of 20 U/&I superscript reverse transcriptase (BRL). After heating at 65%C for 3 minutes, cDNA prepared from 0.1 &g of mRNA was used in the PCR experiments. Each 25 &l PCR contained 60 ng of soybean genomic DNA or 20 ng of flower cDNA. 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.3), 50 mM KCl. 3 mM MgCl², 200 &M (each dATP, dCTP, dGTP, and dTTP, 2.5 U of Tag polymerase (BRL Life Technology), and 2 &M (each) PCR primer. PCR amplifications were performed according to the following schedule: 96%C for 1 minute, 44%C for 1 minute, 72%C for 1 minute for 4 cycles, followed by 94%C for 1 minute, 55%C for 1 minute, 72%C for 1 minute for 30 cvcles. The 5° primer was 5'-CGCGGNGTNTGYTAYGG-3': the 3' primer was 5'-CGCGGCCANCCNSWYTC-3' (where N = A, C, G, T; R = A, G; Y = C, T; S =

C, G and W = A, T). The regions used correspond to amino acids 37-41 and 276-282 according to Simmons (see above). An aliquot of each PCR product was analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis. A 700 bp fragment was cut from the gel and subjected to another round of PCR using identical conditions. Aliquots of these PCR products were digested with restriction enzymes recognixing 4 bp sites and the digestion products were compared with undigested DNA on agarose gels. The PCR products were cloned into the pGEM-T vector (Promega) and about 280 clones were tested by dot blot analysis (Sambrook et al, see above) to determine if they cross-hybridized with one another.

Clones were sequenced using Applied Biosystems Model 337 PRISM automated sequencer. DNA sequence analysis was carried out with the DNAsis (Hitachi), GCG (University of Wisconsin Genetics Computer Group, Madison) sequence analysis packages. Alignment of sequences was done using CLUSTAL W according to Thompson *et al.*, 22 *Nucl. Acids Res.* 4673 (1994).

Example 3: Expression Patterns of Glucanases

In order to study gene-specific glucanase expression patterns, the presence of mRNAs corresponding to each sequence disclosed herein was analyzed by RNA blot analyses using the gene-specific probes. The expression levels of all classes were quite low in young leaves. SEQ ID NOs 2, 4, 7 and 12 were highly expressed in young roots and hypocotyls. SEQ ID NO 7 was also expressed in the pod and flower bud. The mRNA transcripts of all β-1,3-glucanase genes were shown to be about 1.2 kb. mRNA from SEQ ID Nos 1, 3, 8 and 9 was undetectable, suggesting that these genes are either unexpressed, expressed at low level, or inducible.

Although the present invention has been fully described herein. it is to be noted that various changes and modifications are apparent to those skilled in the art. Such changes and modifications are to be understood as included within the scope of the present invention as defined by the appended claims.

ABSTRACT OF THE DISCLOSURE

The present invention provides 12 different sequences for soybean β -1,3glucanases and the proteins for which they encode. Also provided are methods for the utilization of knockout mutants of the sequences which are useful for engineering genic male-sterile plants. Other methods and materials related to these sequences are also provided.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project could not have been done without all kinds of help. Many people not listed here helped me in a variety of ways during the course of the project. I thank them for their interest, talents, and time.

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my advisors, Dr. Harry Horner and Dr. Reid Palmer for their guidance throughout the course of this project. They are tireless and giving individuals. They have constantly encouraged me to do my very best work. They were willing to give me an opportunity to prove myself, and for that I will always be grateful. I am especially appreciative of their willingness to share their experience, professional or otherwise, in an effort to prepare me for a career in science.

The success of this project is directly attributable to the contributions of Dr. Randy Shoemaker who allowed me to work in his excellent facility, and for his guidance during the course of this project.

I am grateful to the members of my Ph.D. dissertation committee, Drs. Jim Colbert, Nels Lersten, and Randy Shoemaker for their giving freely of their time and lab facilities, and for their valuable advice and review of my research and dissertation.

I am fortunate to have been a member of the Department of Botany and the IPPM Program. The many friendships and associations I have developed have made this an enjoyable place to live and work. I am grateful to the USDA and Midwest Oilseeds Inc., Adel, IA for financial support.

I thank individuals who contributed materials for this study: Dr. Lee Hadwiger, Washington State University, for PIG 312 cDNA clone from pea; Dr. Yoji Takeuchi, Hokkaido University (Japan) for PEG 488 cDNA clone from soybean; Dr. Alan Smith, University of Minnesota, for Tag1 cDNA clone and antibody for β-1,3-glucanase; and Dr. Sean Coughlan, Pioneer Hi-Bred Intl. for the soybean flower cDNA library.

Thanks also go to all the members in the labs of Drs. Horner, Palmer, and Shoemaker, for their support and friendship that I have greatly appreciated. I thank Drs. Vladimir Kanazin, Dave Grant, Arla Bush, Laura Marek, and John Imsande for helpful discussions. I thank Dr. Kim Lewers for help with β-1,3-glucanases mapping, Randy Small and Tosak Seelanan for help with the phylogenetic analysis, research specialists, Terry Olson, Clay Baldwin, Dr. Bruce Wagner, Tracy Le, and Cindy Clark, who helped me solve a lot of technical problems. I would also like to thank all of the fellow graduate students in the labs. They made the long hours in the labs a lot of fun. Special thanks go to Jerry Dunn and undergraduate worker Ivy Andersen who helped me with the greenhouse and growth chamber work.

To my husband, Patrick, my daughter, Jane, my mother-in-law and mother; I am very grateful for the love and support that they have shared over the years.